EDGAROnline

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LTD

FORM 20-F

(Annual and Transition Report (foreign private issuer))

Filed 04/12/12 for the Period Ending 12/31/11

Telephone  86-21-61959595
CIK 0001483994
Symbol HTHT
SIC Code 7011 - Hotels and Motels
Industry  Hotels & Motels
Sector  Services
Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2012, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 20-F
(Mark One)
REGISTRATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OR (g) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
OR
X ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

SHELL COMPANY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of event requiring this shell company report

Commission file number: 001-34656

China Lodging Group, Limited

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its chagt)

Not Applicable

(Translation of Registrant’s name into English)

CAYMAN ISLANDS

(Jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

No. 2266 Honggiao Road
Changning District
Shanghai 200336

People’s Republic of China
(86) 21 6195-2011

(Address of principal executive offices)

Min (Jenny) Zhang
Chief Financial Officer
Telephone: +86-21-6195-9596
E-mail: zhangmin@htinns.com
Facsimile: +86-21-6195-9597
No. 2266 Honggiao Road
Changning District
Shanghai 200336
People’s Republic of China

(Name, Telephone, E-mail and/or Facsimile number ahAddress of Company Contact Person)

Securities registered or to be registered pursteafection 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Ordinary Shares, par value US$0.0001 per ordinarylsare The NASDAQ Global Select Market*

* Not for trading, but only in connection with thetlng on the NASDAQ Global Select Market of Ameridaepositary Shares represent
such Ordinary Share

Securities registered or to be registered pursuartb Section 12(g) of the Act: Non



Securities for which there is a reporting obligatim pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act: None

Indicate the number of outstanding shares of e&tiedssuer’s classes of capital or common stac&fdahe close of the period covered
by the annual report. 242,604,223 Ordinary Shares.

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a walbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405c08#turities
Act. " Yes x No

If this report is an annual or transition repamtjicate by check mark if the registrant is not regflito file reports pursuant to Section 13
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 193¥es © No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pasti9s. Yesx No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsto Rule 405 of Regulation Seuring the preceding 12 months (or for such srgrerioc
that the registrant was required to submit and posh files). Yesx No ©

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRinle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer’ Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer”
Indicate by check mark which basis of accountirgrégistrant has used to prepare the financiarsetts included in this filing:

U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards ased Other
X by the International Accounting Standards Bo¢"

If “Other” has been checked in response to theiptesvquestion, indicate by check mark which finahstatement item the registrant has
elected to follow. Item 17" Item 18~

If this is an annual report, indicate by check matether the registrant is a shell company (aséddfin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act). Yes " No x




Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWAR-LOOKING STATEMENTS
CERTAIN CONVENTIONS
PART |
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADRIS
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETAE
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATIONM
3.A. Selected Financial Da
3.B. Capitalization and Indebtedne
3.C. Reason for the Offer and Use of Proce
3.D. Risk Factor:
ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPAN
4.A. History and Development of the Comps
4.B. Business Overvie'
4.C. Organizational Structu
4.D. Property, Plants and Equipmi
ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMEN’
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPE!
5.A. Operating Resull
5.B. Liquidity and Capital Resourc
5.C. Research and Development, Patents and Licegtse
5.D. Trend Informatiot
5.E. OftBalance Sheet Arrangemel
5.F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligati
5.G. Safe Harbc
ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOY
6.A. Directors and Senior Managem:
6.B. Compensatio
6.C. Board Practice
6.D. Employee:
6.E. Share Ownersh
ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACT
7.A. Major Shareholder
7.B. Related Party Transactic
7.C. Interests of Experts and Cour
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
8.A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financfatimation
8.B. Significant Change
ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTIN(
9.A. Offering and Listing Detall
9.B. Plan of Distributior
9.C. Markets
9.D. Selling Shareholde
9.E. Dilution
9.F. Expenses of the Iss
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
10.A. Share Capit:
10.B. Memorandum and Articles of Associat
10.C. Material Contract
10.D. Exchange Contro
10.E. Taxatior
10.F. Dividends and Paying Agel

)
QD
mmmwwwwwpl—\LQ



Table of Contents

10.G. Statement by Expe!
10.H. Documents on Disple
10.1. Subsidiary Informatio
ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MERIRISK
ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECLHS
12.A. Debt Securitie
12.B. Warrants and Righ
12.C. Other Securitie
12.D. American Depositary Shat
PART Il
ITEM 13.DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENC
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITYLBERS AND USE OF PROCEEI
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURI
ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPER
ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS
ITEM 16C.PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVIC
ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT DM EES
ITEM 16E.PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER ANDLMTED PURCHASER
ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANS CERTIFYING ACCOUNTAN
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANC
PART IlI
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ITEM 19. EXHIBITS
EX-8.1
EX-12.1
EX-12.2
EX-13.1
EX-23.2

8Q
80
80
80
81
81
81
81

83
83
83
83
84
84
84
85
85
85
85
85

85
85



Table of Contents

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 20-F contains forwamking statements that are based on our managenbatiess and assumptions and on
information currently available to us. These staets relate to future events or to our future faiahperformance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factor$ ithay cause our or our industry’s actual resutteels of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from anyfa results, levels of activity, performance dniagements expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statateénclude, but are not limited to, statementsu&bo

* our anticipated growth strategies, including depilg new hotels at desirable locations in a tineglyg cos-effective mannet
» our future business development, results of opmratand financial conditiol

» expected changes in our revenues and certain cegpense item

» our ability to attract customers and leverage oand; anc

» trends and competition in the lodging indus

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terms such as “may,” “could,” “will,”feuld,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “pmict,” “potential,” “future,” “is/are likely to,” ‘project” or “continue” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology. These stam¢srare only predictions. You should not placeuenetliance on forward-looking
statements because they involve known and unknisks, uncertainties and other factors, which arspoime cases, beyond our control and
which could materially affect results. Factors thmaty cause actual results to differ materially fraumrent expectations include, among other
things, those listed under “Item 3. Key InformatienD. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annupbre If one or more of these risks or
uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assunmiprove to be incorrect, actual events or resuétg vary significantly from those implied or
projected by the forward-looking statements. Nevind-looking statement is a guarantee of futuréoperance.

The forward-looking statements made in this anneabrt relate only to events or information ashef tlate on which the statements are
made in this annual report. We undertake no olitigab update any forwarlkboking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the da
on which the statements are made or to reflecbticerrence of unanticipated events.

CERTAIN CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, all translations frors.Wollars to RMB in this annual report were matla rate of US$1.00 to RMB6.2939,
the exchange rate as set forth in the H.10 stzdistelease of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board @emker 30, 2011. No representation is made
that the RMB amounts referred to herein could Haaen or could be converted into U.S. dollars at@aricular rate or at all. On April 6, 20:
the exchange rate was US$1.00 to RMB6.3052. Anyrejigncies in any table between totals and surtieeamounts listed are due to
rounding.

Unless otherwise indicated, in this annual report,
 “ ADRs” are to the American depositary receipts that méagesece our ADSs
« “ ADSs” are to our American depositary shares, each repiegefour ordinary share

* “China” or the “PRC" are to the People’Republic of China, excluding, for purposes of tinual report, Hong Kong, Macau
Taiwan;

* “ Ordinary share¢ are to our ordinary shares, par value US$0.0005Ipane;
1
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» “ Series A preferred shar” are to our Series A convertible preferred sharasyplue US$0.0001 per share, all of which w
converted into an equal number of ordinary sharédarch 2010 upon the completion of our initial paloffering;

» “ Series B preferred sharésare to our Series B convertible redeemable preteshares, par value US$0.0001 per share, all of
which were converted into an equal number of omjiséiares in March 2010 upon the completion ofioitial public offering;

«  “RMB” and“ Renminb" are to the legal currency of Chir
+ “US$” and“ U.S. dollars” are to the legal currency of the United States;

“we,”" us,”" our company”“ our,” and “HanTing"” are to China Lodging Group, Limited, a Caymaratgls company, and its
predecessor entities and subsidial
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PART I

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
3.A. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statements of operatiatasand selected consolidated cash flow datdéyears ended December 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011 and the selected consolidated basdmesd data as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 avediéom our audited consolidated
financial statements included herein, which weeppred in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The selecteddidated statements of operations
data and selected consolidated cash flow datdnéoye¢ars ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 andldwtesl consolidated balance sheet data
as of December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 are defiiwadour audited consolidated financial statemémas have not been included herein and
were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Thecset! financial data set forth below should be iramnjunction with “Item 5. Operating
and Financial Review and Prospects” and the costestgld financial statements and the notes to thasensents included herein. The historical
results presented below are not necessarily iridecat financial results to be achieved in futuegipds.

Year Ended December 31
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands, except per share and per ADS data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Net revenue 235,30t 764,24¢ 1,260,19. 1,738,49. 2,249,559  357,42!
Operating costs and expenses (372,61¢ (917,90) (1,183,77) (1,482,18) (2,142,45) (340,40)
Income (loss) from operatiol (137,31() (153,657 76,414 256,30¢ 107,14¢ 17,02¢
Income (loss) before income tax (131,00) (156,46 69,43t 279,05¢ 142,95: 22,718
Net income (loss (113,739 (132,58 51,44¢ 221,79¢ 118,13¢ 18,77(
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncoritrglinterest (2,116) 3,57¢ 8,90: 6,04 3,30¢ 52E

Net income (loss) attributable to China Lodging GrpoLimited  (111,62) (136,167 42 ,54¢ 215,75 114,83: 18,24t
Net earnings (loss) per sha

Basic (2.85) (2.52) 0.2¢ 1.0t 0.4% 0.0¢

Diluted (2.85) (2.52) 0.2% 0.92 0.417 0.0¢
Net earnings (loss) per ADS(Z

Basic (11.4) (10.07%) 0.9t 4.1¢ 1.9C 0.3C

Diluted (11.4) (10.07%) 0.9: 3.6¢ 1.87 0.3C
Weighted average number of shares used in compnt

Basic 45,24¢ 54,07 57,56: 198,51° 241,92¢ 241,92t

Diluted 45,24¢ 54,07 183,63. 234,48: 246,18. 246,18:

Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Shar-based compensation expen 14,78t 4,81t 7,95% 13,11! 15,48 2,46(
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(2) Each ADS represents four ordinary sha
The following table presents a summary of our cdated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011:

As of December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (Us$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Cash and cash equivalel 173,63t 183,24t 270,58° 1,060,06 781,60: 124,18
Restricted cas 23,65( 5,597 50C 1,27t 1,50(C 23¢
Prepaid ren 39,93« 76,14¢ 69,61¢ 152,26" 228,087  36,23¢
Property and equipment, r 465,18¢ 957,400 1,028,26° 1,422,43. 2,095,79. 332,98
Total asset 836,04! 1,432,941 1,581,13. 3,044,08( 3,524,951 560,05¢
Accounts payabl 83,77¢ 182,80: 141,57 283,20: 417,60  66,35!
Long-term debt — 27,50( 80,00( — — —

Deferred ren 46,08 138,20° 174,77! 237,42° 329,77:  52,39¢
Deferred revenu 7,114 32,14¢ 74,76 117,04 209,84t 33,34
Total liabilities 293,06: 665,37¢ 678,87! 918,77( 1,269,06 201,63
Mezzanine equit 437,82¢ 796,80: 796,80: — — —

Total equity (deficit) 105,15 (29,247  105,45¢ 2,125,311 2,255,88. 358,42

The following table presents a summary of our cbdated statements of cash flow for the years eglesckmber 31, 2007, 2008, 2009,
2010 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Date

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (68,254  (13,73¢) 296,34 469,12¢  458,74( 72,881
Net cash used in investing activiti (284,019 (451,589) (256,02) (515,310 (734,57) (116,71)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 499,30° 482,47¢ 47,06: 845,83 13,83¢ 2,19¢

Exchange Rate Information

This annual report contains translations of RMB ante into U.S. dollars at specific rates solelytfag convenience of the reader. For all
dates and periods through December 31, 2008, ceiownsrof Renminbi into U.S. dollars are based emibon buying rate in The City of New
York for cable transfers of Renminbi as certified €ustoms purposes by the Federal Reserve BaNkwfYork. For January 1, 2009 and all
later dates and periods, the exchange rate reféhetexchange rate as set forth in the H.10 statiselease of the Federal Reserve Board.
Unless otherwise indicated, conversions of RMB 1dt8. dollars in this annual report are based erettthange rate on December 30, 2011.
We make no representation that any RMB or U.Sadalimounts could have been, or could be, converted).S. dollars or RMB, as the case
may be, at any particular rate, or at all. The Rj@@ernment imposes control over its foreign curyenrgserves in part through direct regulation
of the conversion of RMB into foreign exchange #émwugh restrictions on foreign trade. On Aprik812, the daily exchange rate reported by
the Federal Reserve Board was RMB6.3052 to US$1.00.

The following table sets forth information concemiexchange rates between the RMB and the U.Srdol the periods indicated. Th
rates are provided solely for your convenienceanednhot necessarily the exchange rates that weingbid annual report or will use in the
preparation of our periodic reports or any othésrimation to be provided to you.
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Noon Buying Rate

Average
Period Period End (1) Low High
(RMB per US$1.00)
2007 7.294¢ 7.605¢ 7.817: 7.294¢
2008 6.822¢ 6.947 7.294¢ 6.780(
2009 6.825¢ 6.8307 6.847( 6.817¢
2010 6.600( 6.769¢ 6.833( 6.600(
2011 6.293¢ 6.447¢ 6.636¢ 6.293¢
October 6.354" 6.371( 6.382¢ 6.353¢
Novembet 6.376¢ 6.356¢ 6.383¢ 6.340(
Decembe 6.293¢ 6.348: 6.373: 6.293¢
2012
January 6.308( 6.311¢ 6.333( 6.294(
February 6.293¢ 6.299; 6.312( 6.293¢
March 6.297¢ 6.312¢ 6.331¢ 6.297¢
April (through April 6, 2012 6.305. 6.302: 6.312: 6.297*

(1) Averages for a period are calculated by udirgaverage of the exchange rates at the end ofneawth during the period. Monthly
averages are calculated by using the average afdiherates during the relevant peri

3.B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable.

3.C. Reason for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

3.D. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
Our operating results are subject to conditions @dting the lodging industry in general.
Our operating results are subject to conditionggffy affecting the lodging industry, which incled
» changes and volatility in national, regional ancelceconomic conditions in Chin

» the attractiveness of our hotels to customers camability to maintain and increase sales to exgstustomers and attract n
customers

» adverse weather conditions, natural disastersaweker’ fears of exposure to contagious diseases and souiest;
» changes in travel patterns or in the desirabilftparticular locations

* increases in operating costs and expenses du#atian and other factor:

* local market conditions such as an oversupply 10§ eduction in demand for, hotel roor

» the quality and performance of managers and otigta/ees of our hotel:

» the possibility that leased properties may be suligechallenges as to their compliance with thevent government regulatior
and

* maintenance and infringement of our intellectualperty.
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Changes in any of these conditions could adveisfédget our occupancy rates, average daily rategevehues generated per available
room, or RevPAR, or otherwise adversely affectresults of operations and financial condition.

Our business is sensitive to Chinese and globalrexrnic conditions. A severe or prolonged downturntire Chinese or global economy
could materially and adversely affect our revenuesd results of operations.

Our business and operations are primarily bas€hina and domestic business and leisure travestorers account for a significant
majority of our revenues. Accordingly, our finadaiasults have been, and we expect will continueetpaffected by developments in the PRC
economy and travel industry. In 2008, China wasaéd by the disruptions to financial markets dbsdrbelow, and, although the Chinese
economy began recovering in 2010 and has remaélatively stable since then, it is uncertain wheteh recovery will continue. A
prolonged slowdown in the Chinese economy couldemnsumer confidence which could result in chatgeonsumer spending patterns
travel and lodging-related products and services.

The global financial markets experienced signiftadiaruptions in 2008 and the United States, Euapkother economies went into
recession. The recovery from the lows of 2008 &@D2vas uneven and it is facing new challenge$ydirg the escalation of the European
sovereign debt crisis since 2011. It is uncleartivrethe European sovereign debt crisis will be@oed and what effects it may have. The
considerable uncertainty over the long-term effetthe expansionary monetary and fiscal policies have been adopted by the central banks
and financial authorities of some of the world’adeng economies, including China’s. There have bé&sn concerns over unrest in the Middle
East and Africa, which have resulted in highempoites and significant market volatility, and otiee possibility of a war involving Iran. There
have also been concerns about the economic efféioe @arthquake, tsunami and nuclear crisis imdafconomic conditions in China are
sensitive to global economic conditions.

Any prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or globalrexoy may have a negative impact on our businessl|tseof operations and
financial condition, and continued turbulence ia thternational markets may adversely affect oilitglo access the capital markets to meet
liquidity needs.

The lodging industry in China is competitive, anfiwe are unable to compete successfully, our fine@condition and results of
operations may be harmed.

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentéd. a limited service hotel chain we believe thataempete primarily based on
location, room rates, brand recognition, qualitacommodations, geographic coverage, servicetguednge of services, guest amenities and
the convenience of the central reservation sys@mprimarily compete with other limited service élothains as well as various stand-alone
lodging facilities in each of the markets in whigh operate. Our main competitors include Home ldimgiang Inn, 7 Days Inn, various
regional hotel chains and stand-alone limited serhiotels, and certain international brands su@uger 8 and Holiday Inn Express. We also
compete with one-, two- and three-star hotels, @®ffier rooms with amenities comparable to mantho§e hotels. In some lower tier cities,
we may also face competition from certain fatar hotels and boutique hotels whose price coalddmparable to our HanTing Seasons Hc
New and existing competitors may offer more contjetirates, greater convenience, services or aiasrtt superior facilities, which cou
attract customers away from our hotels and resudtdecrease in occupancy and average daily @tesif hotels. Competitors may also outbid
us for new leased-and-operated hotel conversien,giegotiate better terms for potential franchised-managed hotels or offer better terms to
our existing franchised-amtanaged hotel owners, thereby slowing our antiegbatice of expansion. Any of these factors may havedvers
effect on our competitive position, results of ggiems and financial condition.

Our financial and operating performance may be adsely affected by epidemics, adverse weather caooaht natural disasters and other
catastrophes.

Our financial and operating performance may be el affected by epidemics, adverse weather ciomdit natural disasters and other
catastrophes, particularly in locations where werafe a large number of hotels.

6
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Our business could be materially and adverselyctdteby the outbreak of swine influenza, avianuiefiza, severe acute respiratory
syndrome, or SARS, or other epidemics. In 20056241 2011, there were reports on the occurrerfcagan influenza in various parts of
China, including a few confirmed human cases amdde In April 2009, reports surfaced regardinguonces of swine influenza and fears of
a global pandemic. Cases of swine influenza weeg toonfirmed in numerous countries, including Ghémd other parts of Asia. In early 2003,
several economies in Asia, including China, wefecéd by the outbreak of SARS. During May and Join2003, many businesses in China
were closed by the PRC government to prevent traasson of SARS. Any prolonged recurrence of suaftagious disease or other adverse
public health developments in China may have a nahignd adverse effect on our business operatlemsexample, if any of our employees
customers is suspected of having contracted anagimus disease while he or she has worked ordtayeur hotels, we may under certain
circumstances be required to quarantine our empktieat are affected and the affected areas gfreanises. Losses caused by epidemics,
adverse weather conditions, natural disasters #ret oatastrophes, including earthquakes or typ$icame either uninsurable or too expensive
to justify insuring against in China. In the evantuninsured loss or a loss in excess of insuneitlioccurs, we could lose all or a portion of
capital we have invested in a hotel, as well asatiteipated future revenues from the hotel. Int ¢heent, we might nevertheless remain
obligated for any financial commitments relatedhe hotel.

Similarly, war (including the potential of war)rterist activity (including threats of terroristtagty), social unrest and heightened travel
security measures instituted in response, travata@ accidents, as well as geopolitical unceryaémid international conflict, will affect travel
and may in turn have a material adverse effectwrbasiness and results of operations. In additienmay not be adequately prepared in
contingency planning or recovery capability in tiela to a major incident or crisis, and as a result operational continuity may be adversely
and materially affected and our reputation may drerfed.

Seasonality of our business and special events eeyse fluctuations in our revenues, cause our ADScp to decline, and adversely
affect our profitability

The lodging industry is subject to fluctuationg@venues due to seasonality and special eventssédsonality of our business may ce
fluctuations in our quarterly operating resultsnémlly, the first quarter, in which both the Newa¥ and Spring Festival holidays fall,
accounts for a lower percentage of our annual neegithan other quarters of the year. We typicadlyeha lower RevPAR in the fourth quarter,
as compared to the second and third quarters,adieglticed travel activities in the winter. Speeiants that attract large numbers of people to
travel may also cause fluctuations in our operatasylts. For example, Expo 2010 Shanghai ChintheoBhanghai Expo, drove strong derr
and led to increased occupancy rates and averédlgeatas for our hotels in Shanghai from May Iotober 31, 2010 and contributed to our
revenue increase from 2009 to 2010. However, #feeShanghai Expo’s closing on October 31, 201®d#mand for our hotels in Shanghai
for the period from November 2010 to February 2@&% lower than the comparable periods of prior y.€Bnerefore, you should not rely on
our operating or financial results for prior pesags an indication of our results in any futuréqeerAs our revenues may vary from quarter to
quarter, our business is difficult to predict anal quarterly results could fall below investor egtaions, which could cause our ADS price to
decline. Furthermore, the ramp-up process of ourmatels can be delayed during the low season,winiay negatively affect our revenues
and profitability.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our future prospects and results of opéoas.

Our operations commenced, through Powerhill Holglibignited, or Powerhill, with mid-scale limited s&e hotels and commercial
property development and management in 2005, angegan migrating to our current business of opegadnd managing a multi-brand
limited service hotel chain in 2007. See “ltemrfotmation on the Company — A. History and Develemtnof the Company.” Accordingly,
you should consider our future prospects in lighthe risks and challenges encountered by a comwéhya limited operating history. The
risks and challenges include:

» the uncertainties associated with our ability tatawe our growth while trying to achieve and maintour profitability;
e preserving our competitive position in the limitgetvice hotel segment of the lodging industry inn@h
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» offering innovative products to attract recurringlanew customer:

* implementing our strategy and modifying it from &no time to respond effectively to competition @h@nges in custom
preferences and neet

» increasing awareness of our brand and products@mihuing to develop customer loyalty; &
e attracting, training, retaining and motivating dfiatl personnel

If we are unsuccessful in addressing any of this&s pr challenges, our business may be mateaaltiyadversely affected.

Our new leased-and-operated hotels typically in@ignificant pre-opening expenses during their dewpinent stages and generate
relatively low revenues during their ramp-up stageghich may have a significant negative impact oardinancial performance.

The operation of each of our leased-and-operateal foes through three stages: development, ramgridpnature operations. During
the development stage, leased-and-operated hatetsaly incur pre-opening expenses ranging fropr@pmately RMBO0.5 to RMB3.0
million per hotel. During the ramp-up stage, whiea éccupancy rate is relatively low, revenues getedrby these hotels may be insufficient to
cover their operating costs, which are relativéted in nature. As a result, these newly openesdéasnd-operated hotels may not achieve
profitability during the ramp-up stage. As we caog to expand our leased-and-operated hotel porttbe significant pre-opening expenses
incurred during the development stage and theivelgtiow revenues during the ramp-up stage ofrewly opened leased-and-operated hotels
may have a significant negative impact on our faialnperformance.

A significant portion of our costs and expenses nraynain constant even if our revenues decline, whigould adversely affect our net
margins and results of operations.

A significant portion of our operating costs, indilng rent and depreciation and amortization, isdixAccordingly, a decrease in reven
could result in a disproportionately higher decesiasour earnings because our operating costsxpehees are unlikely to decrease
proportionately. For example, the New Year and@pFestival holiday periods generally account ftoveer portion of our annual revenues
than other periods, but our expenses do not vasyga#ficantly with changes in occupancy and revenas we need to continue to pay rent and
to make regular repairs and maintenance. Thereboregcosts and expenses may remain constant even ievenues decline, which would
adversely affect our net margins and results ofatns.

We may not be able to manage our planned growthjclilcould adversely affect our operating results.

Our hotel chain has been growing rapidly since egem migrating to our current business of operadimgj managing a multi-brand
limited service hotel chain in 2007. We increasedinumber of our hotels in operation in China fr@@rhotels as of January 1, 2007 to 639
hotels as of December 31, 2011, and we intendrtirage to develop and operate additional hotetiiffierent geographic locations in China.
This expansion has placed, and will continue teg@laubstantial demands on our managerial, opegdtitechnological and other resources.
Our planned expansion will also require us to n@mthe consistency of our products and the quafitgur services to ensure that our business
does not suffer as a result of any deviations, hdredctual or perceived. In order to manage angatpur growth, we must continue to
improve our existing operational, administrativel aachnological systems and our financial and mameagt controls, and recruit, train and
retain qualified hotel management personnel as agetither administrative and sales and marketirgppeel, particularly as we expand into
new markets. We cannot assure you that we willdbe @ effectively and efficiently manage the grbwf our operations, recruit and retain
qualified personnel and integrate new hotels intoaperations. Any failure to effectively and eféiotly manage our expansion may materially
and adversely affect our ability to capitalize @wrbusiness opportunities, which in turn may haweagerial adverse effect on our results of
operations.
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Expansion into new geographic markets may preggertating and marketing challenges that are difefirem those we currently
encounter in our existing markets. Our expansidhiwiexisting markets may cannibalize our existiogels in those markets and, as a result,
negatively affect our overall results of operatio@sr inability to anticipate the changing dematidd expanding operations will impose on
management and information and operational systenmyr failure to quickly adapt our systems anocpdures to the new markets, could
result in losses of revenues and increases in sggasr otherwise harm our results of operationdiaadcial condition. Expansion through the
introduction of new hotel products or brands mapadresent operating and marketing challenges eT¢eer be no assurance that any new |
products or brands we introduce will be well ree€ivy our customers and become profitable, aricb#iomes profitable, it will be done in a
timely fashion. If a new product or brand is noflweceived by our customers, we may not be ablgetterate sufficient revenue to offset the
costs and expenses, and our overall financial pagiace and condition may be adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully identify, secame develop in a timely fashion additional hotelgperties under the leased-and-
operated model.

We plan to open more hotels to further grow ouiiless. Under our lease-angerate model, we may not be successful in identfanc
leasing additional hotel properties at desirabbtafions and on commercially reasonable terms all.&tVe may also incur costs in connection
with evaluating hotel properties and negotiatinthvaroperty owners, including properties that we subsequently unable to lease. In addition,
we may not be able to develop additional hotel prtgs on a timely basis due to construction oulegry delays. If we fail to successfully
identify, secure or develop in a timely fashion iéiddal hotel properties, our ability to execute guowth strategy could be impaired and our
business and prospects may be materially and alyefiected.

We may not be able to successfully compete for ftsise-andmanagement agreements and, as a result, we mayeaible to achieve ol
planned growth.

Our growth strategy includes expanding throughdhésing. We believe that our ability to compete flanchise-and-management
agreements primarily depends on our brand recagn&nd reputation, the results of our overall opena in general and the success of the
hotels that we currently franchise. Other compatifactors for franchise-and-management agreennecitsle marketing support, capacity of
the central reservation channel and the abilitygerate hotels cost-effectively. The terms of agwy franchise-and-management agreements
that we obtain also depend on the terms that ampetitors offer for those agreements. In additibthe availability of suitable locations for
new properties decreases, or governmental plaroriogher local regulations change, the supply abble properties for our franchise-and-
manage model could be diminished. If the hotelsweafranchise perform less successfully than tlidsrir competitors or if we are unable to
offer terms as favorable as those offered by oorpmtitors, we may not be able to compete effegtif@l new franchise agreements. As a
result, we may not be able to achieve our planmedity and our business and results of operationstreanaterially and adversely affected.

Future acquisitions may have an adverse effect arr ability to manage our business and harm our rdtsuof operations and financial
condition.

If we are presented with appropriate opportunities may acquire businesses or assets. Future dgmmgsvould expose us to potential
risks, including risks associated with unforeseehidden liabilities, risks that acquired hoteldlwbt achieve anticipated performance levels,
diversion of management attention and resources &nor existing business, difficulty in integratitige acquired businesses with our existing
operational infrastructure, and inability to genersufficient revenues to offset the costs and esge of acquisitions. In addition, following
completion of an acquisition, our management asdues may be diverted from their core businetigitées due to the integration process,
which diversion may harm the effective manageméuo business. Furthermore, it may not be possibbechieve the expected level of
benefits after integration and the actual costdifvdring such benefits may exceed the anticipated. Any difficulties encountered in the
acquisition and integration process may have aeraéveffect on our ability to manage our busineskherm our results of operations and
financial condition.
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Our legal right to lease certain properties coul@ lshallenged by property owners or other third gasg or subject to government
regulation.

We do not hold any land use rights with respethéoland on which our hotels are located nor dows any of the hotel properties we
operate. Instead, a substantial part of our busimexiel relies on leases with third parties whioezibwn or lease the properties from the
ultimate property owner. We also grant franchigelsdtel operators who may or may not own the hoiaberties. We cannot assure you that
the land use rights and other property rights wétipect to properties we currently lease or frasecfor our existing hotels will not be
challenged. For example, as of December 31, 2Qdrllessors failed to provide the property ownerstggificates and/or the land use rights
certificates for 86 properties that we lease fartoatel operations. While we have performed our diligence to verify the rights of our lessors
to lease such properties, we cannot assure yowtiaights under those leases will not be chakehgy other parties including government
authorities.

Under PRC laws, all lease agreements are requirbd tegistered with the local housing bureau. @/ftie majority of our standard lease
agreements require the lessors to make such @gstr most of our leases have not been registessedquired, which may expose both our
lessors and us to potential monetary fines. Sonmaiofights under the unregistered leases mayb@subordinated to the rights of other
interested third parties. In addition, in sevenstances where our immediate lessors are not tineat owners of hotel properties, no consents
or permits were obtained from the owners, the pnynhgase holders or competent government authsyisie applicable, for the subleases of the
hotel properties to us, which could potentiallyatidate our leases or result in the renegotiatiosuch leases that leads to terms less favorable
to us. Some of the properties we lease from thintigs were also subject to mortgages at the tadetases were signed. Where consent to the
lease was not obtained from the mortgage holdsudh circumstances, the lease may not be bindingeotransferee of the property if the
mortgage holder forecloses on the mortgage andfeathe property. Moreover, we cannot assure gratithe property ownership or leasehold
in connection with our franchised-and-managed Batéll not be subject to similar third-party chaltges.

Any challenge to our legal rights to the propertissd for our hotel operations, if successful, daupair the development or operations
of our hotels in such properties. We are also stibgethe risk of potential disputes with propestyners or third parties who otherwise have
rights to or interests in our hotel properties. tsdisputes, whether resolved in our favor or nay mivert management’s attention, harm our
reputation or otherwise disrupt our business.

Any failure to comply with land- and propertielated PRC laws and regulations may negativelyegtfour ability to operate our hotels a
we may suffer significant losses as a result.

Our lessors are required to comply with variouslteand property-related laws and regulations tdkEnthem to lease effective titles of
their properties for our hotel use. For examplepprties used for hotel operations and the undegliand should be approved for commercial
use purposes by competent government authoritiesddition, before any properties located on stateed land with allocated or leased land
use rights or on land owned by collective orgamiret may be leased to third parties, lessors shalotiain appropriate approvals from the
competent government authorities. As of DecembeR@11, the lessors of approximately half of oue@xred lease agreements did not obtain
the required governmental approvals. Such failuag subject the lessors or us to monetary finesl@rgenalties and may lead to the
invalidation or termination of our leases by congm¢tgovernment authorities, and therefore may adWeaffect our ability to operate our
leased-and-operated hotels. While many of our tedsave agreed to indemnify us against our losssdting from their failure to obtain the
required approvals, we cannot assure you that Wéevable to successfully enforce such indemniificaobligations against our lessors. As a
result, we may suffer significant losses resulfirmgn our lessors’ failure to obtain required appaisvto the extent that we could not be fully
indemnified by our lessors.

Our success could be adversely affected by theguardnce of our franchised-and-managed hotels.

Our success could be adversely affected by thepeahce of our franchised-and-managed hotels, whh we have lesser control
compared to our leased-and-operated hotels. Aeoédber 31, 2011, we franchised and managed appaidy 46.2% of our hotels, and we
plan to further increase the number of franchisedHmanaged hotels to increase our national presar@kina. Our franchisees may not be
able to develop hotel properties on a timely bagisch could adversely affect our growth strateggl anay impact our ability to collect fees
from them on a timely basis. Furthermore, giver tha franchisees are typically responsible forabsts of developing and operating the
hotels, including renovating the hotels to our dtads, and all of the operating expenses, thetgudliour franchised-and-managed hotel
operations may be diminished by factors beyondcoutrol and franchisees may not successfully opdratels in a manner consistent with our
standards and requirements. While we ultimatelytaka action to terminate franchisees that do aotply with the terms of our franchise-and-
management agreements, we may not be able tofidprblems and make timely responses and, asuét,rear image and reputation may
suffer, which may have a material adverse effeadunresults of operations.
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If we are unable to access funds to maintain ourtbls’ condition and appearance, or if our franchiss fail to make investments
necessary to maintain or improve their properti¢ise attractiveness of our hotels and our reputatioauld suffer and our hotel
occupancy rates may decline.

In order to maintain our hotels’ condition and agua@ce, ongoing renovations and other leaseholtbvements, including periodic
replacement of furniture, fixtures and equipmerg,r@quired. In particular, we franchise and manageerties leased or owned by franchisees
under the terms of franchise-and-management agraspseibstantially all of which require our frarsdges to comply with standards that are
essential to maintaining the relevant product iritg@nd our reputation. We depend on our franasde comply with these requirements by
maintaining and improving properties through inwastts, including investments in furniture, fixtyramenities and personnel.

Such investments and expenditures require ongaingdifig and, to the extent we or our franchiseesaifund these expenditures from
our existing cash or cash flow generated from djers, we or our franchisees must borrow or ragggtal through financing. We or our
franchisees may not be able to access capital anfilamchisees may be unwilling to spend avail@algital when necessary, even if require:
the terms of our franchise-and management agresiriémte or our franchisees fail to make investrsergcessary to maintain or improve the
properties, our hotel’s attractiveness and reputatould suffer, we could lose market share tocomnpetitors and our hotel occupancy rates
and RevPAR may decline.

We have incurred losses in the past and may inasdes in the future.

We incurred net losses attributable to our compEriyMB111.6 million and RMB136.2 million in 2007 @r2008, respectively. Althou¢
we had net income attributable to our company ofBRL5 million, RMB215.8 and RMB114.8 million in 2802010 and 2011, respectively,
as we expect our costs to increase as we continegpand our business and operations, we may losses in the future. We cannot assure
you that we will achieve or sustain profitability the future

Our leases could be terminated early, we may noabke to renew our existing leases on commerciagsonable terms and our rents
could increase substantially in the future, whictoald materially and adversely affect our operatians

The lease agreements between our lessors andiaallyprovide, among other things, that the leasmdd be terminated under certain
legal or factual conditions. We may not be ablgdoerate revenues out of such leases and mayddditional costs in restoring such
properties. Furthermore, we may have to pay loasdsiamages and incur other liabilities to ouraustrs due to our default under our
contracts and we may not be able to operate in gragierties. As a result, our business, resultgpefations and financial condition could be
materially and adversely affected.

We plan to retain the operation of our leased-goelated hotels upon lease expiration through figwel of existing lease or
(i) execution of a franchise-and-management agezewith the lessor. We cannot assure you, howévet we will be able to retain our hotel
operation on satisfactory terms, or at all. In ijgatar, we may experience an increase in our raptents and cost of revenues in connection
with renegotiating our leases. If we fail to retair hotel operation on satisfactory terms uposdezxpiration, our profit generated from the
hotel operation may decrease in the future. If veeusmable to pass the increased costs on to otomoass through room rate increases, our
operating margins and earnings could decrease @nsults of operations could be materially andeaskly affected.
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Interruption or failure of our information systemgould impair our ability to effectively provide owgervices, which could damage our
reputation.

Our ability to provide consistent and high-qualirvices and to monitor our operations on a rea-tbasis throughout our hotel chain
depends on the continued operation of our inforomat2chnology systems, including our web propergnagement, central reservation and
customer relationship management systems. Cergéairade to or failure of our systems could interaytinventory management, affect the
manner of our services in terms of efficiency, ¢stenicy and quality, and reduce our customer satiisi.

Our technology platform plays a central role in management of inventory, revenues, loyalty progasch franchisees. We also rely on
our website, call center and mobile applicatiofetmlitate customer reservations. Our systems remalnerable to damage or interruption as a
result of power loss, telecommunications failumerations relying on the system such as reservatid billing will have to be conducted off-
line or manually, and computer viruses, fires, dispearthquakes, interruptions in access to olifreed numbers, hacking or other attempts to
harm our systems, and other similar events. Sonoeiro§ystems are not fully redundant, and our tisascovery planning does not accoun
all possible scenarios. Furthermore, our systerdgechnologies, including our website and databem@d contain undetected errors or “bugs”
that could adversely affect their performance,ard become outdated and we may not be able tacemr introduce upgraded systems as
quickly as our competitors or within budgeted cdstssuch upgrades. If we experience system faslusar quality of services, customer
satisfaction, and operational efficiency could beesely harmed, which could also adversely affeictreputation. In addition, our systems and
technologies may become outdated and we may nalbleeto replace or introduce upgraded systemsiaklgas our competitors or within
budgeted costs for such upgrades. Steps we takeragmse the reliability and redundancy of ourexyst may be costly, which could reduce our
operating margin, and there can be no assurante/ltizever increased reliability may be achievatlpractice would justify the costs
incurred.

Failure to maintain the integrity of internal or catomer data could result in harm to our reputatiar subject us to costs, liabilities, fines
or lawsuits.

Our business involves collecting and retainingdarglumes of internal and customer data, includireglit card numbers and other
personal information as our various informatiorhteaogy systems enter, process, summarize andtrepeit data. We also maintain
information about various aspects of our businggsations as well as our employees. The integrity@otection of our customer, employee
and company data is critical to our business. @stamers and employees expect that we will adelyyattetect their personal information, &
the regulations applicable to security and privaey becoming increasingly important in China. Aftthless, fraudulent or unlawful use of
customer, employee or company data could harmeputation or result in remedial and other costdiilities, fines or lawsuits.

If the value of our brand or image diminishes, ibald have a material and adverse effect on our mess and results of operations.

We offer multiple hotel products that are desigtetarget distinct groups of customers. Our comthsuccess in maintaining and
enhancing our brand and image depends, to a latgateon our ability to satisfy customer needdlyher developing and maintaining our
innovative and distinctive products and maintainiogsistent quality of services across our hotalrghas well as our ability to respond to
competitive pressures. If we are unable to do sBopocupancy rates may decline, which could in adwersely affect our results of operations.
Our business may also be adversely affected ipabtic image or reputation were to be diminishedh®/operations of any of our hotels,
whether due to unsatisfactory service, accidentglwrwise. If the value of our products or imagjdiminished or if our products do not
continue to be attractive to customers, our busiaesl results of operations may be materially aivémsely affected.
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Failure to protect our trademarks and other intetiual property rights could have a negative impact our brand and adversely affect
our business.

The success of our business depends in part uparpatinued ability to use our brands, trade naamestrademarks to increase brand
awareness and to further develop our products.uhlaethorized reproduction of our trademarks coirdirdsh the value of our brand and its
market acceptance, competitive advantages or gdottwaddition, our proprietary information systemhich has not been patented,
copyrighted or otherwise registered as our intéli@icproperty, and our operational system, which lien copyrighted, are key components of
our competitive advantage and our growth strategythermore, we may be subject to claims that we liafringed the intellectual property
rights of others.

Monitoring and preventing the unauthorized usewfiotellectual property is difficult. The measuses take to protect our brands, trade
names, trademarks and other intellectual propéhts may not be adequate to prevent their unaizémbuuse by third parties. Furthermore, the
application of laws governing intellectual properityhts in China and abroad is evolving and conitlve substantial risks to us. In particular,
the laws and enforcement procedures in the PR@rarertain and do not protect intellectual propedits to the same extent as do the laws
and enforcement procedures in the United State®tnent developed countries. If we are unable taadtely protect our brands, trade names,
trademarks and other intellectual property rigivs,may lose these rights and our business mayrsuterially.

If we are not able to retain, hire and train qualéd managerial and other employees, our businesg/ha materially and adversely
affected.

Our managerial and other employees manage ourshentell interact with our customers on a daily basigy are critical to maintaining
the quality and consistency of our services as agbhur established brands and reputation. In ger@mployee turnover, especially those in
lower-level positions, is relatively high in thedlging industry. As a result, it is important fortosretain as well as attract qualified managerial
and other employees who are experienced in lodgirgher consumeservice industries. There is a limited supply aftsgualified individual
in some of the cities in China where we have opamratand other cities into which we intend to exghdn addition, we need to hire and train
qualified managerial and other employees on a tirhakis to keep pace with our rapid growth whileéntzaning consistent quality of services
across our hotels in various geographic locatigvs.must also provide continuous training to our aggrial and other employees so that they
have up-to-date knowledge of various aspects ohotel operations and can meet our demand for digiiity services. If we fail to do so, the
quality of our services may decrease, which in,toray have a material and adverse effect on owymts and our business.

Our current employment practices may be adverseatpacted under the labor contract law of the PRC.

The PRC National PeopkCongress promulgated a labor contract law whéttaime effective on January 1, 2008. The labor aohtaw
imposes requirements concerning, among othergxbeution of written contracts between employedsemployees, the time limits for
probationary periods, and the length of fixed-temmployment contracts. Due to its limited historg aime lack of clear implementation rules, it
is uncertain how this labor contract law will impacr current employment practices. We cannot asgou that our employment practices do
not, or will not, violate this labor contract laiffwe are subject to severe penalties or incuriigant legal fees in connection with labor law
disputes or investigations, our business, finarsmaldition and results of operations may be adleeféected. In addition, a significant numt
of our employees are contracted through a thirdygarman resources company, which is responsilblmémaging, among others, payrolls,
social insurance contributions and local residgueynits of these employees. We may not be ablertirwe this practice under this labor
contract law, which would increase our human resggiadministration expenses. We may also be higitlyjéiable under this labor contract
law if the human resources company fails to pay ®rmployees their wages and other benefits.

Failure to retain our management team could harm obusiness.

We place substantial reliance on the experiencdtenihstitutional knowledge of members of our eatrmanagement team. Mr. Qi Ji,
our founder, executive chairman and chief execuiffieer, and other members of the management taanparticularly important to our future
success due to their substantial experiences giigdand other consumer- service industries. Fmdintable replacements for Mr. Qi Ji and
other members of our management team could beudliffiand competition for such personnel of siméaperience is intense. The loss of the
services of one or more members of our manageraant tiue to their departures or otherwise coulddrindr ability to effectively manage ¢
business and implement our growth strategies.
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We are subject to various franchise, hotel industopnstruction, hygiene, safety and environmentais and regulations that may subje
us to liability.

Our business is subject to various compliance qedational requirements under PRC laws. For exann@ere required to obtain the
approval from, and file initial and annual repoxith, the PRC Ministry of Commerce, or the MOCgtngage in the hotel franchising business.
In addition, each of our hotels is required to abtaspecial industry license issued by the locdllio security bureau, and to comply with
license requirements and laws and regulations nggpect to construction permit, fire preventiorblpuarea hygiene, food hygiene, public
safety and environmental protection. See “Iternfbrimation on the Company — B. Business OvervieviRegulation —Regulations on Hot
Operation.”Furthermore, new regulations may be adopted irfittuge to increase our compliance efforts at sigaiit costs. Some of our hot
are not in full compliance with all of the applitalvequirements. Such failure to comply with apglile construction permit, environmental,
health and safety laws and regulations relateditdasiness and hotel operation may subject ustengially significant monetary damages
fines or the suspension of operations and developawivities of our company or related hotels.

Our limited insurance coverage may expose us teéss which may have a material adverse effect onreputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We carry all mandatory and certain optional comiiaéiosurance, including property, constructionigadhparty liability and public
liability insurance for our leased-and-operatecchoperations. We also require our lessors ancthigees to purchase customary insurance
policies. Although we are able to require our filiaees to obtain the requisite insurance covetagagh our franchisees management, we
cannot guarantee that our lessors will adheredh sequirements. In particular, there are inherisks of accidents or injuries in hotels. One or
more accidents or injuries at any of our hoteldad@uaversely affect our safety reputation amondaruers and potential customers, decrease
our overall occupancy rates and increase our @ystsquiring us to take additional measures to nakesafety precautions even more visible
and effective. In the future, we may be unablestterv our insurance policies or obtain new insurgadieies without increases in cost or
decreases in coverage levels. We may also encadistartes with insurance providers regarding paysmehclaims that we believe are cove
under our policies. Furthermore, if we are helBlisfor amounts and claims exceeding the limitswfinsurance coverage or outside the scope
of our insurance coverage, our reputation, busjriemncial condition and results of operations rbaymaterially and adversely affected.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal control over financial reporting, we may not kable to accurately report our financi:
results or prevent fraud.

We are subject to reporting obligations under th®.decurities laws. The Securities and Exchangerssion, or the SEC, as required
by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002he Sarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requirirenyepublic company to include in its
annual report a management report on such compangimal control over financial reporting contaigimanagement’s assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over finaheigporting. In addition, an independent registgralblic accounting firm must attest to and
report on the effectiveness of such company'’s fatiecontrol over financial reporting except where tompany is a non-accelerated filer. We
currently are an accelerated filer.

Our management has concluded that our internata@amter financial reporting was effective as ofdember 31, 2011. See “Iltem 15.
Controls and Procedures.” Our independent regidteublic accounting firm has issued an attestatport as of December 31, 2011. See
“Iltem 15. Controls and Procedures—Attestation Repbthe Registered Public Accounting Firm.” Howeviéwe fail to maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting in thedte, our management and our independent regisperalic accounting firm may not be able to
conclude that we have effective internal contrarfinancial reporting. This could in turn resultthe loss of investor confidence in the
reliability of our financial statements and negalyvimpact the trading price of our ADSs. Furthereyave have incurred and anticipate that we
will continue to incur considerable costs, managariene and other resources in an effort to comtittucomply with Section 404 and other
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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We, our directors, management and employees maguigect to certain risks related to legal proceeglinfiled by or against us, and
adverse results may harm our business.

We cannot predict with certainty the cost of deérbke cost of prosecution or the ultimate outcoffridigation and other proceedings
filed by or against us, our directors, managemesenaployees, including remedies or damage awardaedverse results in such litigation and
other proceedings may harm our business or repuatafiuch litigation and other proceedings may idellbut are not limited to, actions rela
to intellectual property, commercial arrangemeatsployment, norcompetition and labor law, fiduciary duties, pefsanjury, death, proper
damage or other harm resulting from acts or omisshy individuals or entities outside of our cohtiacluding franchisees and third-party
property owners. In the case of intellectual prophtigation and proceedings, adverse outcomesdcimglude the cancellation, invalidation or
other loss of material intellectual property rightsed in our business and injunctions prohibitingwse of business processes or technology
that is subject to third- party patents or othéndtiparty intellectual property rights.

We generally are not liable for the willful actiookour franchisees and property owners; howeberetis no assurance that we would be
insulated from liability in all cases.

We may be liable for improper use or appropriatiohpersonal information provided by members of ddanTing Club.

PRC laws do not prohibit us from collecting andlgniag the personal information of our HanTing Clmembers and we require our
members to provide certain personal informationgaevhen they register their membership. We haventaommercially reasonable measures
to keep the personal information safe and haveeamphted a privacy policy regarding the use of safdrmation. However, we cannot assure
you that individuals with access to personal infation will abide by our privacy policy or that thersonal information will not b
appropriated by third parties, such as hackersghvitiay result in the inappropriate use or reledseich information and could lead to
potential lawsuits from members of our HanTing Céurdl liability to us for not protecting their pensd information.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policaif¢he PRC government could have a material adveeffect on the overall economic
growth of China, which could adversely affect ouusiness.

We conduct substantially all of our business openatin China. As the lodging industry is highlynsiive to business and personal
discretionary spending levels, it tends to dectineng general economic downturns. Accordingly, msults of operations, financial condition
and prospects are subject to a significant degreedanomic developments in China. China’s econoiffigrd from the economies of most
developed countries in many respects, including véspect to the amount and degree of governmealviement, level of development,
growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allimreof resources. While the PRC economy has egpeed significant growth in the past 30
years, growth has been uneven across differerdmegind among various economic sectors of Chine PRC government has implemen
various measures to encourage economic developamemjuide the allocation of resources. While sofrthese measures benefit the overall
PRC economy, they may also have a negative effeasoFor example, our results of operations amahftial condition may be adversely
affected by government control over capital invesits or changes in environmental, health, labdaxregulations that are applicable to us.

The PRC government also exercises significant obotrer China’s economic growth through the allawabf resources, controlling
payment of foreign currency-denominated obligatiaesting monetary policy and providing preferdrti@atment to particular industries or
companies. Certain measures adopted by the PRCrgogat, such as changes of the People’s Bank afeCbr the PBOC's statutory deposit
reserve ratio and lending guideline imposed on cercial banks, may restrict loans to certain indestrThese actions, as well as future ac
and policies of the PRC government, could mategrifect our liquidity and access to capital and aility to operate our business.
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Inflation in China may disrupt our business and havan adverse effect on our financial condition amésults of operations.

The Chinese economy has experienced rapid expatwgjether with rising rates of inflation and incsgey salary. The salary increase
could potentially increase discretionary spendindravel, but general inflation may also erode dégble incomes and consumer spending.
Furthermore, certain components of our operatirgiscancluding personnel, food, laundry, consunshbled property development and
renovation costs, may increase as a result of@ease in the cost of materials and labor resuftmmg general inflation. However, we cannot
guarantee that we can pass increased costs tavarstthrough room rate increases. This could adiyenmsipact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Uncertainties with respect to the Chinese legaltsys could limit the legal protections available trs and our investors and have a
material adverse effect on our business and resolft®perations.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system basedimitten statutes. Unlike in common law system&meourt decisions may be cited
for reference but have limited precedential vaiiace the PRC legal system continues to rapidlyveythe interpretations of many laws,
regulations and rules are not always uniform arfdreement of these laws, regulations and ruleshreguncertainties, which may limit legal
protections available to us. For example, we maaetia resort to administrative and court proceesliogenforce the legal protection that we
enjoy either by law or contract. However, since PRithinistrative and court authorities have sigaificdiscretion in interpreting and
implementing statutory and contractual terms, iy i@ more difficult than in more developed legadtsyns to evaluate the outcome of
administrative and court proceedings and the lef/idgal protection we enjoy. These uncertainti@y impede our ability to enforce the
contracts we have entered into. In addition, sudtettainties, including the inability to enforcer@ontracts, could materially and adversely
affect our business and operations. Accordinglycamnot predict the effect of future developmentthe PRC legal system, including the
promulgation of new laws, changes to existing lawthe interpretation or enforcement thereof, ergheemption of local regulations by
national laws. These uncertainties could limitldgal protections available to us and other foréigyestors, including you. In addition, any
litigation in China may be protracted and resukifstantial costs and diversion of our resourodsn@anagement attention.

Rapid urbanization and changes in zoning and urbalanning in China may cause, for our leased-and-opted hotels, cause our leased
properties to be demolished, removed or otherwiected and, for our franchised-and-managed hotetsir franchise-and-management
agreements with franchisees to terminate

China is undergoing a rapid urbanization process,zoning requirements and other governmental ntesdeth respect to urban
planning of a particular area may change from tionééme. When there is a change in zoning requirgmer other governmental mandates
respect to the areas where our hotels are locdte@dffected hotels may need to be demolishedmoved. We have experienced such
demolition and relocation in the past and we magoeanter additional demolition and relocation casebe future. For example, in 2011 we
were obligated to demolish one leased-and-opetaita] due to local government zoning requirements as a result, wrote off property and
equipment of RMB2.4 million, and recognized a gafiRMBO0.1 million, net of reimbursement of RMBZ2.5llon. In addition, as of
December 31, 2011, we were notified by local gorent authorities that we may have to demolish thdzbtional leased-and-operated hotels
due to local zoning requirements. Our franchise-arashagement agreements typically provide thatefftanchised-and-managed hotels are
demolished, the franchise-and-management agreemvéhtsrminate. In 2011, we were obligated to déistoone franchised-and-managed
hotel due to local government zoning requiremeams.cannot assure you that similar demolitions, teation of franchise-and-management
agreements or interruptions of our hotel operatauesto zoning or other local regulations will watur in the future. Any such further
demolition and relocation could cause us to logmany locations for our hotels and we may not ble &b achieve comparable operation res
following the relocations. While we may be reimtddor such demolition and relocation, we cannstiesyou that the reimbursement, as
determined by the relevant government authoritiéls be sufficient to cover our direct and indirdosses. Accordingly, our business, results of
operations and financial condition could be adJgraffected.
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Governmental control of currency conversion may linour ability to pay dividends in foreign currenes to our shareholders and
therefore adversely affect the value of your invesit.

The PRC government imposes controls on the coiiiéstiof RMB into foreign currencies and, in cdrtaases, the remittance of
currency out of China. See “ltem 4. Informationtba Company — B. Business Overview — Regulation egiations on Foreign Currency
Exchange” for discussions of the principal reguolasi and rules governing foreign currency exchangeghina. We receive substantially all of
our revenues in RMB. For most capital account itespgroval from appropriate government authorisegquired where RMB is to be
converted into foreign currency and remitted ouChfna to pay capital expenses such as the repayhbank loans denominated in foreign
currencies. The PRC government may also at itsetisn restrict access in the future to foreigrrencies for current account transactions. If
the foreign exchange control system prevents us fibtaining sufficient foreign currency to satisfyr currency demands, we may not be able
to pay dividends in foreign currencies to our shaléers, including holders of our ADSs, which woaltiversely affect the value of your
investment.

Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi may havenaaterial adverse effect on your investment.

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. doHao and other currencies is affected by, amongrdtiings, changes in China’s
political and economic conditions and China’s fgreexchange policies.

Our revenues and costs are mostly denominateaiRémminbi, and a significant portion of our fineh@ssets are also denominated in
the Renminbi. We rely substantially on dividendglfa us by our operating subsidiaries in Chinay Aignificant depreciation of the Renmii
against the U.S. dollar may have a material advefifeet on our revenues, and the value of, anddariglends payable on, our ADSs and
ordinary shares. If we decide to convert our Retiriimto U.S. dollars for the purpose of making pays for dividends on our ordinary shares
or for other business purposes, depreciation oRér@minbi against the U.S. dollar would reducelt®. dollar amount available to us. On the
other hand, to the extent that we need to convest tbllars into Renminbi for our operations, appton of the Renminbi against the U.S.
dollar would have an adverse effect on the Rennantmunt we receive from the conversion. See “ltdmQuantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Exchangs’Rfior discussions of our exposure to foreign enay risks. In summary, fluctuation in
the value of the Renminbi in either direction cohfiye a material adverse effect on the value otoorpany and the value of your investment.

Our failure to obtain the prior approval of the Cha Securities Regulatory Commission, or the CSR@, dur initial public offering and
the listing and trading of our ADSs of the NASDAQI@al Select Market could have a material advers$teet on our business, operating
results, reputation and trading price of our ADSeecent regulations also establish more complex dares for acquisitions conducted
by foreign investors which could make it more dfilt to pursue growth through acquisitions.

In 20086, six PRC regulatory agencies jointly addgteeRegulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domdstiterprises by Foreign
Investors, or the New M&A Rule. See “ltem 4. Information tire Company — B. Business Overview — Regulation egiiations on
Overseas Listing.” While the application of the NM&A Rule remains unclear, we believe, based oratihdce of our PRC counsel, that
CSRC approval is not required in the context ofiaitial public offering because we established BRC subsidiaries by means of direct
investment other than by merger or acquisitionarhdstic companies, and we started to operate ainédss in the PRC through foreign
invested enterprises before September 8, 200&ftbetive date of the New M&A Rule. However, we nahassure you that the relevant PRC
government agency, including the CSRC, would reébhetsame conclusion as our PRC counsel. If the C&Rither PRC regulatory body
subsequently determines that CSRC’s approval waasresd for our initial public offering, we may fasanctions by the CSRC or other PRC
regulatory agencies, which could have a materiates® effect on our business, financial conditiesults of operations, reputation and
prospects, as well as the trading price of our ADSs

Certain recently enacted PRC laws and regulatgund) as the New M&A Rule and tReiles of Ministry of Commerce on Implemente
of Security Review System of Mergers and Acquisitidd Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investasthe MOC Security Review Rule, wh
was promulgated by the MOC in August 2011 and beceffective on September 1, 2011, also establiadddional procedures and
requirements that could make mergers and acquisitiy foreign investors more time-consuming andpmler

17



Table of Contents

The New M&A Rule requires, among other things, tiha MOC be notified prior to any change-of-contrahsaction in which a foreign
investor acquires control of a PRC domestic entsgr a foreign company with substantial PRC ayang, if certain thresholds under the
Provisions on Thresholds for Prior Notification @bncentrations of Undertaking, issued by the State Council on August 3, 2008ewe
triggered. The MOC Security Review Rule requirgspag other things, that any acquisition by fordigrestors of PRC companies engagin
military related or certain other industries tha arucial to national security be subject to sigueview before consummation of such
acquisition.

In the future, we may grow our business in parabguiring complementary businesses. Complying thi¢hrequirements of these
regulations to complete such transactions coultinbe-consuming, and any required approval processesding obtaining approval from the
MOC, may delay or inhibit our ability to completech transactions, which could affect our abilityetgpand our business or maintain our
market share.

Recent PRC regulations relating to the establishrhehoffshore special purpose companies by PRCdests may subject our PRC
resident shareholders to personal liability and linour ability to inject capital into our PRC subdiaries, limit our PRC subsidiaries’
ability to distribute profits to us, or otherwisedsersely affect us.

In October 2005, the State Administration of Foneltxchange, or the SAFE, promulgated itatice on Relevant Issues Concerning
Foreign Exchange Control on Domestic Resic’ Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Investment Tugbh Offshore Special Purpose
Vehicles, or Circular 75. SAFE later issued a series oflanpentation guidance, including the most red¢atice of SAFE on Printing and
Distributing the Implementing Rules for the Adntitsison of Foreign Exchange in Furraising and Round-trip Investment Activities of
Domestic Residents Conducted via Offshore Speaigdd3e Companie, or Circular 19, which came into effect on July2011. There
regulations require PRC residents who use assetguity interests in their PRC entities as camitaitributions to establish offshore companies
or inject assets or equity interests in their PR@lties into offshore companies to register witbdbSAFE branches. See “Iltem 4. Information
on the Company — B. Business Overview — RegulatioRegulations on Offshore Financinfgt discussions of the registration requirems
and the relevant penalties.

We attempt to comply, and attempt to ensure thasbareholders and beneficial owners of our shatesare subject to these rules
comply, with the relevant requirements. We canmovigle any assurance that our shareholders andibi@hewners of our shares who are
PRC residents have complied or will comply with teguirements imposed by Circular 75 or other eglatiles either. Any failure by any of
our shareholders and beneficial owners of our shate are PRC domestic residents to comply witkvaait requirements under this regula
could subject us to fines or sanctions imposechbyRRC government, including restrictions on olevant subsidiary’s ability to pay
dividends or make distributions to us and our gbib increase our investment in China.

We rely principally on dividends and other distribans on equity paid by our subsidiaries to fundyanash and financing requirements
we may have, and any limitation on the ability ofiosubsidiaries to make payments to us could hawaaterial adverse effect on our
ability to conduct our business.

We are a holding company, and we rely principaltydovidends from our subsidiaries in China for oash requirements, including any
debt we may incur. Current PRC regulations permitsubsidiaries to pay dividends to us only outhefr accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting stalsdand regulations. In addition, each of our glibgsies in China are required to set aside
a certain amount of its aftéax profits each year, if any, to fund certainstiaty reserves. These reserves are not distriteitebtash dividenc
As of December 31, 2011, a total of RMB26.9 milliwas not distributable in the form of dividendaugdue to these PRC regulations.
Furthermore, if our subsidiaries in China incurtdat their own behalf in the future, the instrunsegoverning the debt may restrict their ab
to pay dividends or make other payments to us.ifidegility of our subsidiaries to distribute divid#shor other payments to us could materially
and adversely limit our ability to grow, make intreents or acquisitions that could be beneficiaduo businesses, pay dividends, or otherwise
fund and conduct our business.
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We may be subject to fines and legal sanctions isgabby SAFE or other Chinese government authoritéasl our ability to further grant
shares or share options to, and to adopt additioshhre incentive plans for, our directors and empées may be restricted if we or the
participants of our share incentive plans fail tamply with PRC regulations relating to employee sés or share options granted by
offshore special purpose companies or offshoredidtcompanies to PRC participants.

In February 2012, the SAFE issued Nhatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgbdontrol on Domestic Individuals
Participating in the Stock Incentive Plan of An @®eaas Listed Compatr, or Circular 7, which requires PRC individual peigants of stock
incentive plans to register with the SAFE and tmpty with a series of other requirements. See “lterinformation on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulation — Regulations orekgpr Currency ExchangeWe are an offshore listed company and as a resulind th
participants of our share incentive plans who &€ Ritizens or foreigners having lived within tleritory of the PRC successively for at least
one year, or, collectively, the PRC participants, subject to Circular 7. We are in the processoafipleting the foreign exchange registration
procedures and undertaking other requirements dicpto Circular 7. If we or the PRC participanfoar share incentive plans fail to comply
with Circular 7, we or the PRC participants of share incentive plans may be subject to finestwerdegal sanctions imposed by SAFE or
other PRC government authorities and our abilitfutther grant shares or share options under aareshcentive plans to, and to adopt
additional share incentive plans for, our directamg employees may be restricted. Such events enwiersely affect our business operations.

It is unclear whether we will be considered as a ®@Resident enterprise’under the new EIT law, and depending on the detenation of
our PRC “resident enterprise” status, dividends gab us by our PRC subsidiaries may be subject RCPwithholding tax, we may be
subject to 25% PRC income tax on our worldwide ino®, and holders of our ADSs or ordinary shares nisg/ subject to PRC withholdir
tax on dividends paid by us and gains realized bait transfer of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

In 2007, the PRC National People’s Congress pabsdthterprise Income Tax Layand the PRC State Council subsequently issued the
Implementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdime Law. The Enterprise Income Tax Law and its ImpleméntaRegulations, or the ne
EIT Law, provides that enterprises establishedidetsf China whose “de facto management bodiestaara@ted in China are considered
“resident enterprises.” Currently, there are naied rules or precedents governing the procedamdsspecific criteria for determiningde
factomanagement body” and it is still unclear if the PR& authorities would determine that we shouldlassified as a PRC “resident
enterprise.”

Under the new EIT Law, dividends paid to us by suipsidiaries in China may be subject to a 10% witliihg tax if we are considered a
“non-resident enterprise.” If we are treated afR&President enterprisewe will be subject to PRC income tax on our worldevincome at tr
25% uniform tax rate, which could have an impacbaneffective tax rate and an adverse effect ametiincome and results of operations,
although dividends distributed from our PRC sulzsids to us could be exempt from the PRC divideitdhelding tax, since such income is
exempted under the new EIT Law to a PRC residenpient. If we are required under the new EIT Lawpay income tax on any dividends we
receive from our subsidiaries, our income tax espsmwill increase and the amount of dividendsnyf, ave may pay to our shareholders and
ADS holders may be materially and adversely afficie addition, dividends we pay with respect to ADSs or ordinary shares and the gains
realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordinahyares may be considered as income derived fronce®within the PRC and be subject to
PRC withholding tax.

Furthermore, if we are considered as a PRC “resiglgterprise” and dividends we pay with respedupADSs or ordinary shares and
the gains realized from the transfer of our ADSsmlinary shares are considered income derived founces within the PRC by relevant
competent PRC tax authorities, such gains earnesbbsesident individuals may also be subject to RREGholding tax. See “ltem 10.
Additional Information — E. Taxation — PRC Taxatibn
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The audit report included in this annual report wasepared by auditors who are not inspected by Fublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board and, as such, you are deprivedha benefits of such inspection.

Our independent registered public accounting finat issues the audit reports included in our anregdrts filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, as auditocermpanies that are traded publicly in the Unitezté®t and a firm registered with the Un
States Public Company Accounting Oversight Boardhe PCAOB, is required by the laws of the Uni&tdtes to undergo regular inspections
by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the lamgsprofessional standards of the United Statesalse our auditors are located in the
Peoples’ Republic of China, a jurisdiction where BCAOB is currently unable to conduct inspectiwitiout the approval of the Chinese
authorities, our auditors are not currently inspddiy the PCAOB.

Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has catelt outside China have identified deficienciethimse firms’ audit procedures and
quality control procedures, which may be addressegart of the inspection process to improve futwrdit quality. The lack of PCAOB
inspections in China prevents the PCAOB from regylkevaluating our auditor’s audits and its quatiyntrol procedures. As a result, investors
may be deprived of the benefits of PCAOB inspe&ion

The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspectiorisiaditors in China makes it more difficult to ewate the effectiveness of our
auditor’s audit procedures and quality control prhres as compared to auditors outside of Chintaatkeasubject to PCAOB inspections. As a
result, investors may lose confidence in our reggbfinancial information and procedures and thdityuaf our financial statements.

Risks Relating to Our ADSs and Our Trading Market
The market price for our ADSs has been and may douaé to be volatile.

The market price for our ADSs has been volatile laasiranged from a low of US$12.53 to a high of 25%5 on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market in 2011. The market price is subjeaetide fluctuations in response to various fagtorsluding the following:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartenberating results

» changes in financial estimates by securities rebeanalysts

» conditions in the travel and lodging industri

» changes in the economic performance or market tiahsof other lodging companie

e announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsgdacquisitions, strategic partnerships, joimtuees or capital commitment

» addition or departure of key personr

« fluctuations of exchange rates between the RMBLAIR] dollar or other foreign currencie

» potential litigation or administrative investigats

» release of loc-up or other transfer restrictions on our outstagdiDSs or ordinary shares or sales of additionaS&Panc

* general economic or political conditions in Chi

In addition, the securities market has from timénee experienced significant price and volumetilations that are not related to the

operating performance of particular companies.éxample, as a result of the worldwide financiasistiglobal stock markets have experier
extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volgtihas had a significant effect on the marketgsiof securities issued by many companies
for reasons which may not be directly related &rtbperating performance, including but not lirdite events such as tax-loss selling, mutual

fund redemptions, hedge fund redemptions and maadis. These market fluctuations may also matgraid adversely affect the market p
of our ADSs.
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We may need additional capital, and the sale of gidthal ADSs or other equity securities could resuh additional dilution to our
shareholders and the incurrence of additional indelness could increase our debt service obligations

We intend to primarily rely on our current cash aagh equivalents and anticipated cash flow froeratpons will be sufficient to meet
our anticipated cash needs for the foreseeablegfuile may, however, require additional cash ressudue to future developments, including
expansion through leased-and-operated hotels gnohesstments or acquisitions we may decide toymrirf these resources are insufficient to
satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek tadeitional equity or debt securities or obtain @dérfacility. The sale of additional equity and
equity-linked securities could result in additioddution to our shareholders. The incurrence dkistedness would result in increased debt
service obligations and could result in operatind inancing covenants that would restrict our atiens. We cannot assure you that financing
will be available in amounts or on terms acceptables, if at all.

Future sales or issuances, or perceived future sabe issuances, of substantial amounts of our ordig shares or ADSs could adversely
affect the price of our ADSs.

If our existing shareholders sell, or are perceiagdihtending to sell, substantial amounts of edimary shares or ADSs, including those
issued upon the exercise of our outstanding stptikres, the market price of our ADSs could fallcBsales, or perceived potential sales, by
our existing shareholders might make it more diftiéor us to issue new equity or equity-relatedwséies in the future at a time and place we
deem appropriate. Shares held by our existing Bbéters may be sold in the public market in therfeitsubject to the restrictions contained in
Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Actthadpplicable lock-up agreements. If any exishgreholder or shareholders sell a
substantial amount of ordinary shares after thératipn of the lock-up period, the prevailing markeice for our ADSs could be adversely
affected.

In addition, certain of our shareholders or theinsferees and assignees will have the right teecas to register the sale of their shares
under the Securities Act upon the occurrence dhitecircumstances. Registration of these shardsruhe Securities Act would result in these
shares becoming freely tradable without restrictioder the Securities Act immediately upon theaifeness of the registration. Sales of tt
registered shares in the public market could ctheserice of our ADSs to decline.

As our founder and co-founders collectively holdcantrolling interest in us, they have significanhfluence over our management and
their interests may not be aligned with our inteteor the interests of our other shareholders.

As of April 1, 2012, our founder, Mr. Qi Ji, whoa$so our executive chairman and chief executifieer, and our co-founders,
Ms. Tongtong Zhao and Mr. John Jiong Wu, beneficialvn approximately 32.7%, 15.0% and 4.0%, redpelgt, of our outstanding ordinary
shares on an as-converted basis. See “ltem 7. N&j@areholders.” The interests of these sharehotdaysconflict with the interests of our
other shareholders. Our founder and co-founders bmnificant influence over us, including on medteelating to mergers, consolidations and
the sale of all or substantially all of our assetsction of directors and other significant cogieractions. This concentration of ownership may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in contrakpfvhich could deprive our shareholders of arodpipity to receive a premium for their
shares as part of a sale of us or of our assetesn@id reduce the price of our ADSs. These actinay be taken even if they are opposed b
other shareholders, including holders of our ADSs.

ADS holders may not have the same voting rightgtze holders of our ordinary shares and may not reevoting materials in time to be
able to exercise their right to vote.

Except as described in the deposit agreement, tsotdeur ADSs may not be able to exercise votights attaching to the shares
evidenced by our ADSs on an individual basis. Hadd our ADSs appoint the depositary or its noraiae their representative to exercise the
voting rights attaching to the shares represenyettidd ADSs. ADS holders may not receive voting malke in time to instruct the depositary to
vote, and it is possible that they may not haveothigortunity to exercise a right to vote.
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ADS holders may not be able to participate in righdfferings and may experience dilution of his, her its holdings as a result.

We may from time to time distribute rights to otaseholders, including rights to acquire our seé®gi Under the deposit agreement for
the ADSs, the depositary will not offer those rigtd ADS holders unless both the rights and thestiyithg securities to be distributed to ADS
holders are either registered under the SecuAtt®f 1933, as amended, or exempt from registnatioder the Securities Act with respect to
all holders of ADSs. We are under no obligatiofiilea registration statement with respect to amghsrights or underlying securities or to
endeavor to cause such a registration stateméuat tieclared effective. In addition, we may not ble ¢ take advantage of any exemptions
from registration under the Securities Act. Accagly, holders of our ADSs may be unable to partitggn our rights offerings and may
experience dilution in their holdings as a result.

ADS holders may be subject to limitations on traesbf their ADSs.

Our ADSs are transferable on the books of the degszgsHowever, the depositary may close its transboks at any time or from time
time when it deems expedient in connection withgedormance of its duties. In addition, the defawgimay refuse to deliver, transfer or
register transfers of ADSs generally when our bamkthe books of the depositary are closed, onwtiae if we or the depositary deem it
advisable to do so because of any requirementiobleof any government or governmental body, orasrahy provision of the deposit
agreement, or for any other reason.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted tadave will, rely on exemptions from certain NASDA€rporate governance standards
applicable to U.S. issuers, including the requiremeegarding the implementation of a nominations monittee. This may afford less
protection to holders of our ordinary shares and AB.

The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules in general requireetiscompanies to have, among other things, a ndimitsacommittee consisting
solely of independent directors. As a foreign pieviasuer, we are permitted to, and we will, folloeme country corporate governance
practices instead of certain requirements of th&RAQ Marketplace Rules, including, among others,ithplementation of a nominations
committee. The corporate governance practice irhoare country, the Cayman Islands, does not retjudrémplementation of a nominations
committee. We currently intend to rely upon thevaint home country exemption in lieu of the nomoret committee. As a result, the level of
independent oversight over management of our coynpery afford less protection to holders of our nedy shares and ADSs.

Our articles of association contain anti-takeoverqvisions that could have a material adverse effeatthe rights of holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs.

Our amended and restated articles of associatiotaicoprovisions limiting the ability of others é@quire control of our company or
cause us to enter into changeeofatrol transactions. These provisions could hheeeffect of depriving our shareholders of oppdties to sel
their shares at a premium over prevailing markigegrby discouraging third parties from seekinghtain control of our company in a tender
offer or similar transaction.

For example, our board of directors has the authosiithout further action by our shareholdersisgue preferred shares in one or more
series and to fix their designations, powers, pegfees, privileges, and relative participatingjaml or special rights and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions, including dividend hitg, conversion rights, voting rights, terms ofergbtion and liquidation preferences, any or all
of which may be greater than the rights assocmitdour ordinary shares, in the form of ADSs dnartvise. Preferred shares could be issued
quickly with terms calculated to delay or preverhange in control of our company or make remo¥ah@nagement more difficult. If our
board of directors decides to issue preferred sh#ne price of our ADSs may decline and the votind other rights of the holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs may be materially andraéiyeaffected.
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You may face difficulties in protecting your intesés, and your ability to protect your rights throbghe U.S. federal courts may be
limited, because we are incorporated under Caymalahds law, conduct substantially all of our opeias in China and the majority of
our officers reside outside the United States.

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, andudrslibstantially all of our operations in Chineotigh our wholly owned subsidiar
in China. Most of our officers reside outside theitdld States and some or all of the assets of thexsons are located outside of the United
States. As a result, it may be difficult or impdsifor you to bring an action against us or agdimsse individuals in the Cayman Islands or in
China in the event that you believe that your sdidve been infringed under the securities lawgh@rwise. Even if you are successful in
bringing an action of this kind outside the Caynelands or China, the laws of the Cayman Islandsdrihe PRC may render you unable to
effect service of process upon, or to enforce giueht against our assets or the assets of outaliseend officers. There is no statutory
recognition in the Cayman Islands of judgments iolethin the United States, although the courthef@ayman Islands will generally
recognize and enforce a non-penal judgment ofedarcourt of competent jurisdiction without retiwa the merits. A judgment of a court of
another jurisdiction may be reciprocally recognine@nforced if the jurisdiction has a treaty w@thina or if judgments of the PRC courts h
been recognized before in that jurisdiction, sutjethe satisfaction of other requirements. Howe@hina does not have treaties providing for
the reciprocal enforcement of judgments of couiite dapan, the United Kingdom, the United Statesranst other Western countries.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our memonandnd articles of association and by the Compdrags(2011 Revision) and the
common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights ofedmalders to take legal action against our direcéord us, actions by minority shareholc
and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directtwsus under Cayman Islands law are to a largenegverned by the common law of the
Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islésxderived in part from comparatively limited jicidl precedent in the Cayman Islands
as well as from English common law, which has pasie, but not binding, authority on a court in @e&yman Islands. The rights of our
shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilitieswfdirectors under Cayman Islands law are notessly established as they would be under
statutes or judicial precedents in the United Stdteparticular, the Cayman Islands has a lessldped body of securities laws as compared to
the United States, and provides significantly [@sgection to investors. In addition, Cayman Isndmpanies may not have standing to
initiate a shareholder derivative action beforefdueral courts of the United States.

As a result of all of the above, our public shatdbs may have more difficulty in protecting thigiterests through actions against our
management, directors or major shareholders thardraiareholders of a corporation incorporatedjuriadiction in the United States.

The level of investor interest and trading in ourDSs could be affected by the lack of coverage yustes research analysts and the
lack of investor materials in the Chinese language.

We are currently only listed in the U.S. Investaterest in us may not be as strong as in U.S. coiepar PRC companies that are listed
in the PRC both because we may not be adequategyex by securities research analyst reports acalise of the lack of investor materials
the Chinese language. The lack of coverage cowdtively impact investor interest and the levetratling in our ADSs. The interest of both
existing and prospective PRC-based investors t &t trade in our ADSs may be impacted by the ¢ddkvestor materials in the Chinese
language and the time difference between New Yotkthe PRC. As a result, the liquidity of our AD&sl the valuation multiples may be
lower than if we were listed on a PRC stock excleang

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
4.A. History and Development of the Company

Powerhill was incorporated in accordance with #wed of the British Virgin Islands in December 20880 commenced operation with
mid-scale limited service hotels and commerciapprty development and management in 2005. Powedrllucted its operations through
three wholly owned subsidiaries in the PRC, nans#ignghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, Ltd.,larghai HanTing, HanTing
Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., LtdHanTing Xingkong, and Lishan Property (Suzhou) Ctd,, or Suzhou Property. In
August 2006, Suzhou Property transferred its eqotrests in three leased-and-operated hotelbaoghai HanTing in exchange for Shanghai
HanTing’s equity interest in Shanghai Shuyu Cad, Livhich was primarily engaged in the businessuiiFleasing and managing real estate
properties in technology parks.
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China Lodging Group, Limited, or China Lodging, wasorporated in the Cayman Islands in January 200February 2007, Powerhill
transferred all of its ownership interests in HargTKingkong and Shanghai HanTing to China Lodgmegxchange for preferred shares of
China Lodging. After such exchange, each of Hanmgkong and Shanghai HanTing became a wholly aswbsidiary of China Lodging.
In addition, in February 2007, Powerhill and itbsidiary, Suzhou Property, were spun off in thenfaf a dividend distribution to the
shareholders.

In 2007, China Lodging began our current businésperating and managing a limited service hotelirchLimited service hotels do not
contain restaurants and all amenities are provigetthe staff at the front desk or housekeepin@0@7, we first launched our economy hotel
product,HanTing Express Hotelwhich targets knowledge workers and value-consctoavelers. In the same year, we introduced ods m
scale limited service hotel produttanTing Hotel, which was subsequently rebrandedasTing Seasons Hoteln 2008, we launched our
budget hotel producHanTing Hi Inn. In April 2007, China Lodging acquired Yiju (Shdrzg) Hotel Management Co., Ltd. from Crystal Wi
Investment Holdings Limited, a British Virgin Isldsicompany wholly owned by Mr. John Jiong Wu, damder of our company. In January
2008, China Lodging incorporated HanTing (Tianjijestment Consulting Co., Ltd. in China and ind@betr 2008, established China Lodging
Holdings (HK) Limited in Hong Kong, under which HEing Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. was subsequesgtgblished in China in
December 2008.

In March 2010, we completed our initial public offey. We issued and sold 10,350,000 ADSs, reprasgatl,400,000 of our ordinary
shares at a public offering price of US$12.25 pBISAOur ADSs have been listed on the NASDAQ Gl@&=lect Market since March 26,
2010. Our ordinary shares are not listed or pupticlded on any trading markets.

Our principal executive offices are located at R266 Honggiao Road, Changning District, Shangh@B26, People’s Republic of
China. Our telephone number at this address ig2866195-2011. Our registered office in the Caynsdands is located at the offices of
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, @r&@ayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Our agentdorise of process in the United
States is CT Corporation System, located at 11ht&igvenue, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10011.

Investors should contact us for any inquiries tigtothe address and telephone number of our prihekgutive offices. Our website is
http://www.htinns.com. The information containedaur website is not a part of this annual report.

4.B. Business Overview

We operate a leading and fast-growing limited servViotel chain in China with leased-and-operatetifeanchised-and-managed models.
Under the lease-and-operate model, we directlyaipdrotels typically located on leased propertigsler the franchise-anatanage model, w
manage franchised hotels and collect fees fronthigees. We apply a consistent standard and platfieross all of our hotels. As of
December 31, 2011, we had 344 leased-and-operatel$ 295 franchised-and-managed hotels, 93 leasédperated hotels and 185
franchised-and-managed hotels under development.

As of the date of this annual report, we offer éhinetel products that are designed to target disgroups of customers:

. HanTing Express Hott, our economy product which targets knowledge warkend valu-conscious traveler:

. HanTing Seasons Hot, our mic-scale limited service hotel product which targetd-level corporate managers and owr
of small and medium enterprist

. HanTing Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets bu-constrained traveler
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As a result of our customer-oriented approach, alebe that we have developed strong brand redograind a loyal customer base. In
2011, approximately 76% of our room nights werel golindividual and corporate members of HanTingbCur loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediiserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagmulti-brand limited service hotel chain in 20@ur total revenues grew from

RMB1,333.9 million in 2009 to RMB2,385.6 million 2011. We had net income attributable to our commdrRMB42.5 million, RMB215.8
million and RMB114.8 million in 2009, 2010 and 20Q1éspectively.

We have received many awards for our business meaface, including the “Best Budget Hotel” awardfir@€hina Tourism Gold List by
Travelermagazine in 2011, the “Best Economy Hotel Bran@loiha” award at the sixth China Hotel Starlight Adain 2011, the “Most
Competitive Franchisor Brand in China in 2011 Awdrdm the Twelfth China Commercial Real Estatedatment Promotion Conference in
2011, the “Innovative Star Golden Horse Award” frdtre Foundemagazine in 2011, the “Top 10 Corporate Hotel” alMfaom Hotels China
magazine in 2010, “Best Business Services” awameh fQunar.com in 2010 and “Best Hotel Product Dés@gvard from Air China in 2010.

Our Hotel Network

As of December 31, 2011, we operated 639 hotel®hcities in China. We have adopted a discipliregdrn-driven development model
aimed at achieving high growth and profitabilityuthotel network covers 150 cities in 30 provinaad municipalities across China. As of
December 31, 2011, we had an additional 278 hateler development.

The following table sets forth a summary of alboi hotels as of December 31, 2011.

Leased-and- Franchised-

Leased-and- Franchised- Operated and-Managed

Operated and- Managec Hotels Under Hotels Under
Hotels Hotels Development(1 Development(1
Shanghai and Beijing 88 78 13 23
Other cities 25€ 217 80 162
Total 344 29t 93 18t

(1) Include hotels for which we have entered intaling leases or franchise-and-management agresrbanthat have not yet commenced
operations

The following table sets forth the status of outefunder development as of December 31, 2011.

Pre-conversior Conversior
Period(1) Period(2) Total
Leased-and-operated hotels 23 70 93
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 70 11E 18t
Total 93 18¢ 278

(1) Includes hotels for which we have entered bitaling leases or franchise-and-management agrderenof which the property has not

been delivered by the respective lessors or prppevhers, as the case may be. The majority of thesss are expected to commence
operations by December 31, 20

(2) Includes hotels for which we have commenced/ersion activities but that have not yet commermeerations. The majority of these
hotels are expected to commence operations by3yriz012,
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Leased-and-operated hotels

As of December 31, 2011, we had 344 leased-anchtgzEhotels, accounting for approximately 53.8%wofhotels in operation. We
manage and operate each aspect of these hotelieandll of the accompanying expenses. We are megge for recruiting, training and
supervising the hotel managers and employees, gpdgineases and costs associated with construatidirenovation of these hotels, and
purchasing all supplies and other required equigmen

Our leased-and-operated hotels are located ondgmeperties. The terms of our leases typicallyeafiom ten to 15 years. Rent is
generally paid on a quarterly or biannual basisiariiked for the first three to five years of tlease term. We are thereafter typically subject to
a 3% to 5% increase every three to five years. @eeglly enjoy an initial two- to six-month reneé period. Our leases usually allow for
extensions by mutual agreement. In addition, ossdes are typically required to notify us in adwaifchey intend to sell or dispose of their
properties, in which case we have a right of fieftisal to purchase the properties on equivalentd@nd conditions. As of December 31, 2!
four of our leases will expire in 2012. One of thésur leases has been renewed and the otherateesibject to negotiation as of April 12,
2012.

The following table sets forth the number of owdes for hotels in operation and under developeheato expire in the periods indica
as of December 31, 2011.

Number of Lease

2012 4)
2013 4(2)
2014 3
2015 14
2016 12
2017-2019 63
202(-2022 137
2023 and onwar 20C
Total 437

(1) Includes one hotel whose lease has been renewadAgsil 12, 2012.
(2) Includes one hotel whose lease has been renewafdgsil 12, 2012.

Franchised-and-managed hotels

As of December 31, 2011, we had 295 franchisedraadaged hotels, accounting for approximately 4602%ur hotels in operation. O
franchisees either lease or own their hotel praggegtnd are required to invest in the renovatiotheifr properties according to our product
standards. We manage our franchised-and-managets laoid impose the same standards on all franchisgananaged hotels to ensure
product quality and consistency across our hotevork. We appoint and train hotel managers whaesponsible for hiring hotel staff and
managing daily operation. We also provide our frasees with services such as central reservatabes ssnd marketing support, quality
assurance inspections and other operational suppdrinformation. Our franchisees are responsiifi¢hfe costs of developing and operating
the hotels, including renovating the hotels to standards, and all of the operating expenses. \lie/behe franchise-and-manage model has
enabled us to quickly and effectively expand owggaphical coverage and market share in a lessatépiensive manner through leveraging
the local knowledge and relationships of our frasedbs.

Our franchise-and-management agreements typiaailyar an initial term of eight years. We colleee$ from our franchisees and do not
bear any loss or share any profit incurred or zedliby our franchisees. Our franchisees are géyeegluired to pay us a one-time franchise-
and-management fee ranging between RMB100,000 813R0,000. They are also responsible for all casid expenses related to hotel
construction and refurbishing. In general, we chagnonthly franchise-and-management fee of apprabely 5% of the gross revenues
generated by each franchised-and-managed hotehlSWeollect from franchisees a reservation fea per-room-night basis for using our
central reservation system and a membership ratistrfee to service customers who join our HanThgp loyalty program at the franchised-
and-managed hotels. Furthermore, we employ andistppatel managers for the franchised-and-manageeldrand charge the franchisees a
monthly fee for services we provide.

26



Table of Contents

Our hotel chain has grown rapidly since we begagrating to our current business of operating andagang a multi-brand limited
service hotel chain in 2007. The following tablésderth the number of hotels we operated as ofitites indicated.

As of December 31
200¢ 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

24 62 14F 17¢ 24 344
2 5 22 63 195 29t

26 67 167 23 436 63¢

Leased-and-operated hotels
Franchise-anc-managed hotel
Total

ol ol
(6] alla

Our Products

We began our current business of operating and giagna multi-brand limited service hotel chain @0Z. As of the date of this annual
report, we offer three hotel products that aregtesi to target distinct groups of customers:

. HanTing Express Hott, our economy product which targets knowledge warkend valu-conscious traveler:

. HanTing Seasons Hot, our mid-scale limited service hotel product whialgets mid-level corporate managers and owners
of small and medium enterprist

. HanTing Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets bu-constrained traveler

Our three hotel brands encompass the full scofiendéd service hotels. We believe that our muhidid strategy provides us with a
competitive advantage by (i) enabling us to opé&arger number of hotels in attractive markets,d@pturing a greater share of the spending of
customers whose lodging needs may change from iocctsoccasion or evolve over time, and (jii) pidimg us a greater benefit of economy
of scale through shared platforms.

HanTing Express Hotel

Launched in 200ManTing Express Hotés our economy hotel product with the value proposiof “Quality, Convenience and Value.”
These hotels are typically located in areas closeajor business and commercial districts, angdoed between RMB160 and RMB300 per
room night. TheHanTing Express Hoteéargets knowledge workers and value-conscious leeseThese hotels have lobbies with
complimentary wireless Internet access and laseteps, and a cafe serving breakfast and simpldsnBaoms are equipped with a
comfortable mattress, plush buckwheat and cottthows, shower facilities, two outlets for free bdbend Internet access, a working desk and
chair, and universal and uninterruptable power stsclAs of December 31, 2011, we had 5B$Ting Express Hoteia operation and an
additional 254anTing Express Hotelsnder development.

HanTing Seasons Hotel

HanTing Seasons Hotelsvhich were originally marketed under the nameélahTing Hotel, are typically located in city centers or
central business districts. Typically priced betw&MB250 and RMB400 per room night, these hotelgeiamid-level corporate managers and
owners of small and medium enterpriddanTing Seasons Hoteddfer rooms with a quality comparable to three- &nd-star hotels, but are
priced at much more competitive rates. In addittbese hotels offer complimentary wireless Inteaetess throughout the premises, spacious
lobbies with laser printers, meeting areas, andfe serving breakfast and simple meals. As of Déesr1, 2011, we had 22anTing Seasons
Hotelsin operation and an additional HanTing Seasons Hotalmder development.
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HanTing Hi Inn

Launched in late 2008JanTing Hi Innhotels are typically priced between RMB100 and RM8ber room night and target budget-
constrained travelers, such as new college graslaaig backpackers. These hotels offer compact redthsomfortable beds and shower
facilities and complimentary wireless Internet eacehroughout the premises, and provide an Inteafetand other facilities for guests to relax
and socialize. These hotels provide basic and deaommodations with consumables being offeredfatdable prices from vending machir
in the common areas. As of December 31, 2011, wie2B&lanTing Hi Innhotels in operation and an additionaH@nTing Hi Innhotels under
development.

Hotel Development

We prefer to lease the properties of the hoteleperate rather than acquire properties ourselgeswaing properties is typically much
more capital intensive. We also use the franchigkraanage model to expand our network in a lesataptensive manner. We have adopted
a systematic process with respect to the plannidgeaecution of new development projects. Our dgyakent department analyzes economic
data by city, field visit reports and market inigince information to identify target locationsgiach city and develop a three-year development
plan for new hotels on a regular basis. The plauisequently reviewed and approved by our invadto@mmittee. Once a property is
identified in the targeted location, staff in o@veélopment department analyzes the business terdfoemulates a proposal for the project. In
the case of a lease opportunity, the investmentaittee evaluates each proposed project based enasdactors, including the length of the
investment payback period, the rate of return enitlrestment, the amount of net cash flow projediaihg the operating period and the
impact on our existing hotels in the vicinity. Whevaluating potential franchising opportunitieg thvestment committee considers the
attractiveness of the location as well as additifeztors such as quality of the prospective frased and product consistency with HanTing
standards. Our investment committee weighs eaastment proposal carefully to ensure that we ctatifely expand our coverage while
concurrently improving our profitability.

The following is a description of our hotel develognt process.

Leased-and-operated hotels

We seek properties that are in central or highbeasible locations in economically more developgescin order to maximize the room
rates that we can charge. In addition, we typicsdigk properties that will accommodate hotels aio8060 rooms.

After identifying a proposed site, we conduct thayb due diligence and typically negotiate leasexoently with the lessors. All leas
and development plans are subject to the finalambrof our investment committee. Once a leaseesgeat has been executed, we then er
independent design firms and construction companieggin work on leasehold improvement. Our carcsibn management team works
closely with these firms on planning and architemitdesign. Our contracts with construction comepartypically contain warranties for quality
and requirements for timely completion of constiaet Contractors or suppliers are typically reqdite compensate us in the event of dela)
poor work quality. A majority of the constructioraterials and supplies used in the constructioruoihew hotels are purchased by us throu
centralized procurement system.

Franchised-and-managed hotels

We open franchised-and-managed hotels to suppleouemfeographical coverage or to deepen penetrafieristing markets.
Franchised-and-managed hotels provide us valugdgleating information in assessing the attractiverdsiew markets, and supplement our
coverage in areas where the potential franchisgesave access to attractive locations by levegaitieir own assets and local network. As is
the case with leased-and-operated hotels, we dbnlexak to establish franchised-and-managed hatelsr popular commercial and office
districts that tend to generate stronger demantidtgl accommodations. Franchised-and-managedshoigdt also meet certain specified
criteria in connection with the infrastructure bétbuilding, such as adequate water, electricitysawage systems.
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We typically source potential franchisees througitdvof-mouth referrals, applications submitted eis website and industry
conferences. Some of our franchisees operate $@ferar franchised-and-managed hotels. In genaralseek franchisees who share our
values and management philosophies.

We typically supervise the franchisees in desigrind renovating their properties pursuant to tmeesstandards required for our leased-
and-operated hotels, and provide assistance asedqWe also provide technical expertise and megthie franchisee to follow a pre-selected
list of qualified suppliers. In addition, we appbitotel managers and help train other hotel staéfrtsure that high quality and consistent se
is provided throughout all our hotels.

Hotel Management

Our management team has accumulated significamrexe with respect to the operation of limited/&e hotels. Building on this
experience, our management team has developedist rmberational platform for our nationwide opeyasi, implemented a rigorous budgeting
process, and utilized our information systems taitoo our hotel performance. We believe the systenritical in maximizing our revenues
and profitability. The following are some of theyjkeomponents of our hotel management system:

Budgeting. Our budget and analysis team prepares a detailedal cost and revenue budget for each of ouedeasd-operated
hotels, and an annual revenue budget for eachrdfanchised-and-managed hotels. The hotel budgatepared based on, among other
things, the historical operating performance ofheaatel, the performance of comparable hotels aodl Imarket conditions. We may
adjust the budget upon the occurrence of unexpentedts that significantly affect a specific haedperating performance. In addition,
our compensation scheme for managers in eachisatgkctly linked to its performance against tmewaal budget.

Pricing . Our room rates are determined using a centraigetem and are based on the historical operagrfgimance of each of
our hotels, including both leased-and-operatedfamthised-and-managed hotels, our competitorshroates and local market
conditions. We adjust room rates regularly basedeasonality and market demand. We also adjust raten for certain events, such as
the China Import and Export Fair held twice a yiegBuangzhou and the World Expo in Shanghai in 2016 believe our centralized
pricing system enhances our ability to adjust rgatas in a timely fashion with a goal of optimiziagerage daily rates and occupancy
levels across our network.

Monitoring . Through the use of our web-based property managesystem, we are able to monitor each hotel'sipaccy status,
average daily rates, RevPAR and other operating a@ata real-time basis. Real-time hotel operatifigrmation allows us to adjust our
sales efforts and other resources to rapidly cigstan changes in the market and to maximize dpeyafficiency.

Centralized cash managemer@ur leased-and-operated hotels deposit castoimtoentral account several times a week. We also
generally centralize all payments for expenditu@s:. franchised-and-managed hotels manage thdirssgsarately.

Centralized procurement syster®ur centralized procurement system has enabléd efficiently manage our operating costs,
especially with respect to supplies used in langgngjties. Given the scale of our hotel network andcentralized procurement system,
we have the purchasing power to secure favorahiest&om suppliers for all of our hotels.

Quality assurance We have developed an operating manual to whiclstadif closely adhere to ensure the consistendygamlity
of our customer experience. We conduct periodieriral quality checks of our hotels to ensure thataperating policies and procedures
are followed. We also engage “mystery guests” ftone to time to ensure that we are providing cdesisquality services. Furthermore,
we actively solicit customer feedbacks by condurtintbound call surveys and monitor customer messhit in hotel guestbooks as
well as comments posted our website and third-paetysites.
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Training . We view the quality and skill sets of our empleyas essential to our business and thus haveengueyee training on
of our top priorities. Our HanTing College, togethgth our regional management teams, offers stingct training programs for our hotel
managers, other hotel-based staff and corporéfe Guar hotel managers are required to attend eethveek intensive training program,
covering topics such as HanTing corporate cultig@n management, sales and marketing, customeacesehnotel operation standards
and financial and human resource management. Appately 80% of our hotel managers have receivaditrg completion certificates.
Our HanTing College also rolled out a new-hirertirag package in October 2009 to standardize theitigafor hotel-based staff across
our hotel chain. In addition, we provide our coderstaff with various training programs, such amagerial skills, office software skills
and corporate culture. In 2011, our hotel-baseffl atel corporate staff on average have receivedoxjppately 70 and 40 hours of
training, respectively.

Hotel Information Platform and Operational Systems

We have successfully developed and implementedhaanaed operating platform capable of supportingnationwide operations. This
operating platform enables us to increase theieffy of our operations and make timely decisiditne following is a description of our key
information and management systems.

Web property management system (Web-PNIB)y Web-PMS is a web-based, centralized apptingtiat integrates all the critical
operational information in our hotel network. Thisstem enables us to manage our room inventorgrwaisons and pricing for all of our hot
on a real-time basis. The system is designed tblene to enhance our profitability and competeevedfectively by integrating with our
central reservation system and customer relatipnsiinagement system. We believe our Web-PMS enablesanagement to more
effectively assess the performance of our hotela timely basis and to efficiently allocate res@srand effectively identify specific market
sales targets.

Central reservation systemiWe have a real-time central reservation systeailable 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Ouratent
reservation system allows reservations throughiptelthannels including our website, call centeird-party travel agents and online
reservation partners. The real-time inventory manant capability of the system improves the efficieof reservations, enhances customer
satisfaction and maximizes our profitability.

Customer relationship management (CRM) syst@ur integrated CRM system maintains informatibouwr HanTing Club members,
including reservation and consumption history aatigsn, points accumulated and redeemed, and preggayand balance. By closely tracking
and monitoring member information and behavior,areable to better serve the members of our loymtigram and offer targeted promotions
to enhance customer loyalty. The CRM system alsavalus to monitor the performance of our corpodient sales representatives.

Internet service system (HTOnlinepur Internet service system HTOnline consistswfwebsite (www.htinns.com), our mobile website
(m.htinns.com) and our mobile apps for smart phenesing iOS or Android systems. HTOnline provides HanTing Club members and the
general public with convenient, friendly and updigervices, including information and search sewior HanTing hotels, including location,
amenities and pricing, reservation services, mesgtijgregistration and management and member contynsenivices. Our mobile apps also
provide location based services, including seaethices for nearby HanTing hotels.

Sales and Marketing

Our marketing strategy is designed to enhance i@mcbrecognition and customer loyalty. Building alifferentiating the brand image of
each of our product offerings is critical to incsgay our brand recognition. We focus on targethmgdistinct guest segments that each of our
hotel products serves and adopting effective mangeheasures based on thorough analysis and appfice# data and analytics. In 2011, 96%
of our room nights were sold through our own salaforms and the remaining 4% of our room nightetigh intermediaries.
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We use our Web-PMS system to conduct pricing managéfor all of our hotels. We review our hotelgimg regularly and adjust room
rates as needed based on local market conditi@htharspecific location of each hotel, focusingmhaon two factors: (i) optimum occupancy
rate of the hotel and other HanTing hotels nearta/ (&) seasonal demand for the hotel.

A key component of our marketing efforts is the Hing Club, our loyalty program. We believe the HamgrClub loyalty program allov
us to build customer loyalty and conduct lower-ctartgeted marketing campaigns. A majority of indisal members of the HanTing Club pay
to enroll in the program. As of December 31, 20dr,HanTing Club had approximately 4.4 million imidiual members and approximately
173,000 corporate members. In 2011, approxima@¥s 6f our room nights were sold to our individuartTing Club members and
approximately 10% to our corporate members. Membgtise HanTing Club are provided with discountsroom rates, free breakfasts (for
gold and platinum members), more convenient chetipmcedures and other benefits. HanTing Club nemban also accumulate points
through stays in our hotels or by purchasing prtgland services provided at our hotels. These poart be redeemed for gifts or free night
our hotels. We also have joint promotional progravite leading financial institutions and airlinesrecruit new members of our loyalty
program. The HanTing Club includes three levelmembership: basic, gold and platinum. The one-timenbership fees we charge for the
basic and gold memberships are currently RMB28 @J8%nd RMB198 (US$31.5), respectively. Gold merships can be upgraded to
platinum memberships upon the satisfaction of aeanditions. The HanTing Club membership card ssnart card that enables elevator and
room access, easy check-in and express check-uigtsiinart card can also be used as pre-paid cardsfiotel purchases.

In addition to our HanTing Club program, we introdd our E-member program in 2010 to enhance owmdavareness and to expand
coverage of our customer loyalty scheme. Our E-negmban register on our website free of chargesaagrovided with discounts on room
rates for their on-line booking. They can also acglate points, which can be redeemed for gifts@e fhights in our hotels.

Our marketing activities also include Internet atigeng, press and sponsored activities held jpintth our corporate partners and
advertisements on travel and business magazines.

Competition

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentédsignificant majority of the room supply has cofrem stand-alone hotels. In recent
years limited service hotel chains emerged andrb&maonsolidate the market by converting standalwotels into members of their ho
chains. As a limited service hotel chain we belithat we compete primarily based on location, raatas, brand recognition, the quality of
accommodations, geographic coverage, service gueditge of services, guest amenities and the coenee of the central reservation system.
We face competition from other domestic and intéomal hotel operators in China. Our main competiiaclude Home Inns, Jinjiang Inn, 7
Days Inn, various regional hotel chains and stdodealimited service hotels, and certain internagidbrands such as Super 8 and Holiday Inn
Express. We also compete with one-, two- and tetaehotels, as we offer rooms with amenities camiga to many of those hotels. In some
lower tier cities, we may also face competitiomfroertain four-star hotels and boutique hotels wharice could be comparable to our
HanTing Seasons Hotels.

Intellectual Property

We regard our trademarks, copyrights, domain natrede secrets and other intellectual propertytsigis critical to our business. We
rely on a combination of copyright and trademark, leade secret protection and confidentiality agnents with our employees, lecturers,
business partners and others, to protect our éutieihl property rights.

As of December 31, 2011, we have registered 4&inadks and logos with the China Trademark Offidee frademarks and logos used
in our current hotels are under protection of #gistered trademarks and logos. An additional 83amark applications are under review by
the authority. We have also registered one tradeiagach of Singapore, Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kémgddition, we have registered 25
national and international top-level domain nanreduding www.htinns.com and www.hantinghotels.com.

Our intellectual property is subject to risks oéftrand other unauthorized use, and our abilifgradect our intellectual property from
unauthorized use is limited. In addition, we mayshbject to claims that we have infringed the Ietglial property rights of others. See “Item
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Rethte Our Business — Failure to protect our tradésiand other intellectual property
rights could have a negative impact on our brartlaatversely affect our business.”

31



Table of Contents

Insurance

We believe that our hotels are covered by adeqraggerty and liability insurance policies with cozge features and insured limits that
we believe are customary for similar companieshim@&. We also require our franchisees to carry adeqgproperty and liability insurance
policies. We carry property insurance that covhesassets that we own at our hotels. Although weire our franchisees to purchase
customary insurance policies, we cannot guarahggehey will adhere to such requirements. If weenteld liable for amounts and claims
exceeding the limits of our insurance coverageutside the scope of our insurance coverage, oundéss results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affectek “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors -isk& Related to Our Business — Our
limited insurance coverage may expose us to losggsh may have a material adverse effect on qoutegion, business, financial condition
and results of operations.”

Legal and Administrative Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we, owralars, management and employees are subjectitaljgeegal or administrative
proceedings. Although we cannot predict with cettathe ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigas and claims asserted against us, our
directors, management and employees, we do naveelhat any currently pending legal or administeaproceeding to which we, our
directors, management and employees are a patthiavie a material adverse effect on our businessmirtation. Seeltem 3. Key Informatiol
— D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Busines®\e- our directors, management and employees mauyliject to certain risks related to
legal proceedings filed by or against us, and avezsults may harm our business.”

Regulation

The hotel industry in China is subject to a nundfdaws and regulations, including laws and redatet relating specifically to hotel
operation and management and commercial franchiaggell as those relating to environmental antsamer protection. The principal
regulation governing foreign ownership of hotelibesses in the PRC is thereign Investment Industrial Guidance Catalogssued by the
National Development and Reform Commission and®R€E Ministry of Commerce, or the MOC, which was mesently updated ¢
December 24, 2011. Pursuant to this regulatiomethee no restrictions on foreign investment intith service hotel businesses in China aside
from business licenses and other permits that dvatgl must obtain. Relative to other industrie€hina, regulations governing the hotel
industry in China are still developing and evolvidg a result, most legislative actions have cdedisf general measures such as industry
standards, rules or circulars issued by differeinigtries rather than detailed legislations. ThEst®n summarizes the principal PRC regulat
currently relevant to our business and operations.

Regulations on Hotel Operation

In November 1987, the Ministry of Public Securggued théVleasures for the Control of Security in the Hotelustry, and in June
2004, the State Council promulgated Becision of the State Council on Establishing Adstiative License for the Administrative
Examination and Approval Items Really NecessarB@ &etaine.. Under these two regulations, anyone who applieperate a hotel is
subject to examination and approval by the loc#liptsecurity authority and must obtain a spedcidListry license. The Measures for the
Control of Security in the Hotel Industry imposetaé security control obligations on the operatéisr example, the hotel must examine the
identification card of any guest to whom accommiufeis provided and make an accurate registrafibe. hotel must also report to the local
public security authority if it discovers anyonelating the law or behaving suspiciously or an ffer wanted by the public security authority.
Pursuant to th&leasures for the Control of Security in the Hotelustry, hotels failing to obtain the special industnelise may be subject to
warnings or fines of up to RMB200. In addition, gwant to various local regulations, hotels failiagbtain the special industry license may be
subject to warnings, orders to suspend or ceag@oory business operations, confiscations of dlegpins or fines.
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In April 1987, the State Council promulgated Ehgblic Area Hygiene Administration Regulatipaccording to which, a hotel must obt
a public area hygiene license before opening feim®ass. Pursuant to this regulation, hotels faitongbtain a public area hygiene license may
be subject to the following administrative penaltilepending on the seriousness of their respeatitdties: (i) warnings; (ii) fines; or
(i) orders to suspend or cease continuing busioggrations. In March 2011, the Ministry of Hegdtbmulgated thémplementation Rules of
the Public Area Hygiene Administration Regulatj@atcording to which, starting from May 1, 2011tdd@perators shall establish hygiene
administration system and keep records of hygienei@stration. In February 2009, the Standing Cotteriof the National PeopeCongres
or the SCNPC, enacted tRRC Law on Food Safefyaccording to which any hotel that provides foagstobtain a food service license; any
food hygiene license which had been obtained poidune 1, 2009 will be replaced by the food serlimense once the food hygiene license
expires. To simplify licensing procedures, someesisuch as Nanjing, Chengdu and Xi'an have condktine public area hygiene license and
the food service license (or formerly food hygidinense) into one unified hygiene license. Purst@amhis law, hotels failing to obtain a food
service license (or formerly food hygiene licensg)y be subject to: (i) confiscation of illegal gaifood illegally produced for sale and tools,
facilities and raw materials used for illegal proton; or (ii) fines between RMB2,000 and RMB50,0Dthe value of food illegally produced
is less than RMB10,000 or fines equal to 500% 1@0%0 of the value of food if such value is equabtanore than RMB10,000.

The Fire Prevention Laywas amended by the SCNPC in October 2008, andrthasions on Supervision and Inspection on Fire
Prevention and Contr¢, promulgated by the Ministry of Public Securitydegffective as of May 1, 2009, require that pubkthering places
such as hotels submit a fire prevention design fapply for the completion acceptance of fireveraion facilities for their construction
projects and to pass a fire prevention safety ictspe by the local public security fire departmemhich is a prerequisite for opening business.
Pursuant to these regulations, hotels failing timiobapproval of fire prevention design plans dlirfg fire prevention safety inspections may be
subject to: (i) orders to suspend the construafgorojects, use or operation of business; andi(i§s between RMB30,000 and RMB300,000.

In January 2006, the State Council promulgatedribgulations for Administration of Entertainment &da. In March 2006, the Ministry
of Culture issued th€ircular on Carrying Out the Regulations for Adnsitration of Entertainment PlacedJnder these regulations, hotels that
provide entertainment facilities, such as discokadirooms, are required to obtain a license faegainment business operations.

On October 18, 2010, the General Administratio@a#lity Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine &tahdardization Administration
approved and issuetlassification and Accreditation for Star-rated Tisti Hotels(GB/T14308-2010), which became effective on Jandary
2011. On November 19, 2010, the National Tourisnidstration promulgated thenplementation Measures of Classification and
Accreditation for Ste-rated Tourist Hotels which became effective on January 1, 2011. Utitege regulations, all hotels with operations of
over one year are eligible to apply for a stam@tissessment. There are five ratings from ondcsfare stars for tourist hotels, assessed based
on the level of facilities, management standarakarality of service. A star rating, once granisdjalid for three years.

Regulations on Leasing

Under theLaw on Urban Real Estate Administratipromulgated by the SCNPC, which took effect asaofuary 1995 and was amended
in August 2007 and thadministrative Measures for Commodity House Leapmognulgated by the Ministry of Housing and Urbanatu
Construction, which took effect as of February @1 2, when leasing premises, the lessor and lesseequired to enter into a written lease
contract, prescribing such provisions as the lgatginm, use of the premises, rental and repaiilii@ls, and other rights and obligations of both
parties. Both lessor and lessee are also requirgd through registration procedures to recordehse with the real estate administration
department. Pursuant to these laws and regulatiotdsarious local regulations, if the lessor arsdée fail to go through the registration
procedures, both lessor and lessee may be subjéiees, and the leasing interest will be suborididdo an interested third party acting in good
faith.

In March 1999, the National People’s CongressChima legislature, passed tRRC Contract Law of which Chapter 13 governs lease
agreements. According to tiRRC Contract Law subject to consent of the lessor, the lesseesullgase the leased item to a third party.
Where the lessee subleases the lease item, tliegeastract between the lessee and the lessoiimemalid. The lessor is entitled to terminate
the contract if the lessee subleases the leasentdrout the consent of the lessor.
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In March 16, 2007, the National People’'s Congressed th®RC Property Law pursuant to which where a mortgagor leases the
mortgaged property before the mortgage contramigluded, the previously established leasingiceiathall not be affected; and where a
mortgagor leases the mortgaged property afterrémtion of the mortgage interest, the leasing @stiewill be subordinated to the registered
mortgage interest.

Regulations on Consumer Protection

In October 1993, the SCNPC promulgatedlthes on the Protection of the Rights and Intere$§tSansumers or the Consumer
Protection Law. Under the Consumer Protection Lalusiness operator providing a commodity or sertdaca consumer is subject to a
number of requirements, including the following:

* to ensure that commodities and services meet eitfaio safety requirement
» to disclose serious defects of a commodity or @iserand to adopt preventive measures against damagirrence
» to provide consumers with accurate information gniefrain from conducting false advertisit

e not to set unreasonable or unfair terms for conssimealleviate or release itself from civil liabjl for harming the legal rights and
interests of consumers by means of standard castrErculars, announcements, shop notices or otle@ns; an

* not to insult or slander consumers or to searchpénson of, or articles carried by, a consumepanfringe upon the person
freedom of a consume

Business operators may be subject to civil ligb#itfor failing to fulfill the obligations discusd@bove. These liabilities include restoring
the consumer’s reputation, eliminating the adveffects suffered by the consumer, and offering@oiagy and compensation for any losses
incurred. The following penalties may also be imggbapon business operators for the infraction es¢hobligations: issuance of a warning,
confiscation of any illegal income, imposition ofiee, an order to cease business operation, réieocaf its business license or imposition of
criminal liabilities under circumstances that gpedified in laws and statutory regulations.

In December 2003, the Supreme People’s Court in&Canacted thimterpretation of Some Issues Concerning the Appba of Law for
the Trial of Cases on Compensation for Personalrinj which further increases the liabilities of busis@perators engaged in the operation of
hotels, restaurants, or entertainment facilitied subjects such operators to compensatory ligslidr failing to fulfill their statutory
obligations to a reasonable extent or to guarathie@ersonal safety of others.

Regulations on Environmental Protection

In February 2012, the SCNPC issued the newly amtbae on Promoting Clean Productigrwhich regulates service enterprises such
as restaurants, entertainment establishments aatslamd requires them to use technologies angemarit that conserve energy and water,
serve other environmental protection purposesraddce or stop the use of consumer goods that westerces or pollute the environment.

According to theEnvironmental Protection Law of the People’s Reud China and the Environmental Impact Assesstawtof the
Peopl¢s Republic of Chingpromulgated by the SCNPC on December 26, 1989 atab@r 28, 2002, respectively, tRegulations Governing
Environmental Protection in Construction Projepromulgated by the State Council on November 29818nd th&Regulations Governing
Completion Acceptance of Environmental Protectro@onstruction Projectpromulgated by the Ministry of Environmental Prdiec on
December 27, 2001, hotels shall submit a RepoBEmrironmental Impact Assessment and an Applicdtigtter for Acceptance of
Environmental Protection Facilities in Constructi®mjects to competent environmental protectioheuities for approvals before commenc
the operation. Pursuant to tRavironmental Impact Assessment Law of the PeoBlefsiblic of China any hotel failing to obtain the approval
of an Environmental Impact Assessment may be oddereease construction and apply for the appraithin a specified time limit. If the
hotel still fails to obtain approval within the gjifged time limit, it may be subject to fines beteveRMB50,000 and RMB200,000, and the
person directly responsible for the project magbgject to certain administrative penalties. PurtstmtheRegulations Governing Completion
Acceptance of Environmental Protection in ConsinrcProjects, any hotel failing to obtain an Acceptance of Eammental Protection
Facilities in Construction Projects may be subjedines and an order to obtain approval withimpacified time limit.
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Regulations on Commercial Franchising

Franchise operations are subject to the supervamonadministration of the MOC, and its regionalmerparts. Such activities are
currently regulated by theegulations for Administration of Commercial Fraisihg , which was promulgated by the State Council on
February 6, 2007 and became effective on May 17 208eRegulations for Administration of Commercial Frarsithg were subsequently
supplemented by th&dministrative Measures for Archival Filing of Comarcial Franchises which was promulgated by the MOC on April 30,
2007 and became effective on May 1, 2007 and thdyreemendedAdministrative Measures for Information DisclosamfeCommercial
Franchises, which was promulgated by the MOC on February223,2 and became effective on April 1, 2012.

Under the above applicable regulations, a franchiagst have certain prerequisites including a neabwrsiness model, the capability to
provide long-term business guidance and trainimgices to franchisees and ownership of at leastagifoperated storefronts that have bee
operation for at least one year within China. Fhésars engaged in franchising activities withoutsfging the above requirements may be
subject to penalties such as forfeit of illegaldme and imposition of fines between RMB100,000 RMB500,000 and may be bulletined by
the MOC or its local counterparts. Franchise cas$rahall include certain required provisions, saslierms, termination rights and payments.

Franchisors are generally required to file franelisntracts with the MOC or its local counterpdr@lure to report franchising activities
may result in penalties such as fines up to RMBAQO, Such noncompliance may also be bulletinethérfirst quarter of every year,
franchisors are required to report to the MOC ®tdtal counterparts any franchise contracts tixegued, canceled, renewed or amended in
the previous year.

The term of a franchise contract shall be no lkaa three years unless otherwise agreed by fraaehig he franchisee is entitled to
terminate the franchise contract in his sole dismnewithin a set period of time upon signing oé thhanchise contract.

Pursuant to th&dministrative Measures for Information DisclosamfeCommercial Franchises30 days prior to the execution of
franchise contracts, franchisors are required ¢wide franchisees with copies of the franchise icmts$, as well as written true and accurate
basic information on matters including:

» the name, domiciles, legal representative, regidteapital, scope of business and basic informaétating to its commercial
franchising;

* Dasic information relating to the registered traddmlogo, patent, knc-how and business mod:

» the type, amount and method of payment of francieiee (including payment of deposit and the coadgiand method of refund of
deposit);

» the price and conditions for the franchisor to plewgoods, service and equipment to the franch

» the detailed plan, provision and implementatiomp&consistent services including operational gnizk, technical support and
business training provided to the franchis

» detailed measures for guiding and supervising piegation of the franchiso
* investment budget for all franchised hotels offtaechisee
» the current numbers, territory and operation evanaof the franchisees within Chin
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« asummary of accounting statements audited by esuating firm and a summary of audit reports fa fiievious two year:
» information on any lawsuit in which the franchi$@s been involved in the previous five yei

» basic information regarding whether the francheud its legal representative have any record oéri@tviolation; anc

» other information required to be disclosed by th@®/

In the event of failure to disclose or misreprea#an, the franchisee may terminate the franchisgract and the franchisor may be fined
up to RMB100,000. In addition, such noncomplianagy/roe bulletined.

According to the 2008landbook of Market Access of Foreign Investnpeoinulgated by the MOC in December 2008, if antexis
foreign-invested company wishes to operate a frigedh China, it must apply to its original exantioa and approval authority to expand its
business scope to include “engaging in commercidiies by way of franchise.”

Regulations on Trademarks

Both thePRC Trademark Lawdopted by the SCNPC in 1982 and revised in 20@tteimplementation Regulation of the PRC
Trademark Lavwadopted by the State Council in 2002 give protectiothe holders of registered trademarks and tnadees. The Trademark
Office under the State Administration for Indusaityd Commerce, or the SAIC, handles trademark ragjiss and grants a term of ten years to
registered trademarks. Trademark license agreemargsbe filed with the Trademark Office.

Regulations on Foreign Currency Exchange

The principal regulations governing foreign curngegchange in China are tRereign Exchange Administration Regulations
promulgated by the State Council, as amended omugtug 2008, or the Foreign Exchange Regulationsledthe Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the RMB is freely convertible for @nt account items, including the distribution ofidends, interest payments, trade and
servicerelated foreign exchange transactions, but notépital account items, such as direct investméwmas,s, repatriation of investments ¢
investments in securities outside of China, unleegrior approval of the State Administration of€gn Exchange, or the SAFE, is obtained
and prior registration with the SAFE is made.

On August 29, 2008, the SAFE promulgatedNudice on Perfecting Practices Concerning Foreigecliange Settlement Regarding the
Capital Contribution by Foreign-invested Enterpsser Circular 142, regulating the conversion bypeefgn-invested company of foreign
currency into RMB by restricting how the converfBIB may be used. Circular 142 requires that thésteged capital of a foreign-invested
enterprise settled in RMB converted from foreignrencies may only be used for purposes within thsress scope approved by the applic
governmental authority and may not be used fortggoavestments within the PRC. In addition, the Edtrengthened its oversight of the flow
and use of the registered capital of foreign-inegstnterprises settled in RMB converted from faraigrrencies. The use of such RMB capital
may not be changed without the SAFE’s approval,raag not in any case be used to repay RMB loateiproceeds of such loans have not
been used. Violations of Circular 142 will resultsevere penalties, such as heavy fines.

On December 25, 2006, the People’s Bank of Chisizeid theAdministration Measures on Individual Foreign Exoga Controland its
Implementation Rules were issued by the SAFE onalgrb, 2007, both of which became effective onr&aty 1, 2007. Under these
regulations, all foreign exchange matters involirethe employee stock ownership plan, stock oppiam and other similar plans, participated
by onshore individuals shall be transacted upomayah from the SAFE or its authorized branch. Obriaary 25, 2012, the SAFE promulgated
theNotice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgeaontrol on Domestic Individuals Participatingtime Stock Incentive Plan of An
Overseas Listed Companyr Circular 7, to replace tf@perating Procedures for Administration of Domestidividuals Participating in the
Employee Stock Option Plan or Stock Option PlaAroDverseas Listed Compa. Under Circular 7, the board members, supervisifieers
or other employees, including PRC citizens andifprers having lived within the territory of the PRGccessively for at least one year of a
PRC entity, who participate in stock incentive jglam equity compensation plans by an overseasqgiyltited company, or the PRC
participants, are required, through a PRC ageRRE subsidiaries of such overseas publicly-listadgany, to complete certain foreign
exchange registration procedures with respectagtiins upon the examination by, and approvahef SAFE. We and our PRC participants
who have been granted stock options are subjecirtailar 7. If our PRC participants who hold sugdtions or our PRC subsidiary fail to
comply with these regulations, such participants txeir PRC employer may be subject to fines agdllsanctions.
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Regulations on Share Capital

In October 2005, the SCNPC issued the newly ame@adedpany Law of the People’s Republic of Chimdich became effective on
January 1, 2006. In April 2006, the SAIC, the M@I& General Administration of Customs and the SAdiktly issued thémplementation
Opinions on Several Issues regarding the Laws &pple to the Administration of Approval and Regititn of Foreign-invested Companies
Pursuant to the above regulations, shareholdeadarkign-invested company are obligated to makefd timely contribution to the
registered capital of the foreign-invested compdihe shareholders can make their capital contobstin cash or in kind, including in the
forms of contributions of intellectual property g or land use rights that can be valued andisferable. Contribution to a foreign-invested
company'’s registered capital in cash must not &g tlkan 30% of the total registered capital ofctvapany. The shareholders may choose to
make the contributions either in a lump sum onstallments. If the shareholders choose to makedhgibutions in installments, the first
tranche of the contribution shall be no less tha¥ bf the total registered capital and shall bel pathin three months of the establishment of
the company and the remaining contribution shalb&ie within two years of the establishment of tbenpany. Shareholders who fail to make
contribution in accordance with the schedule magroered by the SAIC or its regional counterparinike contribution or reduce the
registered capital within a time limit and be subj® administrative fines. A company which proposereduce its registered capital shall
prepare a balance sheet and a list of assets.orhpany shall notify its creditors within 10 daysrfr the date of resolution on reduction of
registered capital and publish an announcemert®néwspapers within 30 days. The creditors mayimvB0 days from receipt of the notice
or within 45 days from the announcement date, rechie company to settle the debts or provide spmeding guarantee.

As of December 31, 2011, all the registered capitalur operating subsidiaries has been fully paidash, except for HanTing
Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., or Suzhou Technolegyose outstanding registered capital of US$20lkomremains unpaid and became
due on December 3, 2011. We submitted the apmicditr reducing the registered capital of Suzhochfelogy by US$20.0 million on
December 13, 2011, got approval on this applicatiofrebruary 7, 2012 and updated the businessskoehSuzhou Technology accordingly
on March 6, 2012.

Regulations on Dividend Distribution

The principal regulations governing distributionddfidends of foreign-invested enterprises incltiteForeign-invested Enterprise Law
promulgated by the SCNPC, as amended on Octob@080D, and thémplementation Rules of the Foreign-invested Emieed_awissued by
the State Council, as amended on April 12, 2001.

Under these laws and regulations, foreign-investadrprises in China may pay dividends only ouhefr accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting stalsdand regulations. In addition, foreign-investatierprises in China are required to
allocate at least 10% of their respective accuradlarofits each year, if any, to fund certain resdunds unless these reserves have reached
50% of the registered capital of the enterprisé®sE reserves are not distributable as cash dosden

Regulations on Offshore Financing

On October 21, 2005, the SAFE issidatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgbdontrol on Domestic Residents’
Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Investment Thio@ffshore Special Purpose Vehicles Circular 75, which became effective as of
November 1, 2005. Under Circular 75, if PRC residerse assets or equity interests in their PRGi&ntis capital contributions to establ
offshore companies or inject assets or equity @stsrof their PRC entities into offshore compatiesise capital overseas, they are required to
register with local SAFE branches with respechtirtoverseas investments in offshore companie€ RRidents are also required to file
amendments to their registrations if their offshooenpanies experience material events involvingtabpariation, such as changes in share
capital, share transfers, mergers and acquisitepis;off transactions, long-term equity or delMastments or uses of assets in China to
guarantee offshore obligations.
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Moreover, Circular 75 applies retroactively. Aseault, PRC residents who have established or adjaontrol of offshore companies
that have made onshore investments in the PRQipdhkt were required to complete the relevanttragiisn procedures with the local SAFE
branch by March 31, 2006. Under the relevant rdBekire to comply with the registration proceduses forth in Circular 75 may result in
restrictions being imposed on the foreign exchaa@w®ities of the relevant onshore company, inalgdhe increase of its registered capital,
payment of dividends and other distributions toffshore parent or affiliate and the capital imflirom the offshore entity, and may also
subject relevant PRC residents to penalties unR€r féreign exchange administration regulations. P&dents who control our company are
required to register periodically with the SAFEconnection with their investments in us.

The SAFE issued a series of guidelines to its lbcaihches with respect to the operational procasSAFE registration, including the
Notice of SAFE on Printing and Distributing the lleypenting Rules for the Administration of ForeigrcBange in Fun-raising and Round-
trip Investment Activities of Domestic Residentadted via Offshore Special Purpose Compani<Circular 19, which came into effect as
of July 1, 2011. The guidelines standardized mpeei§ic and stringent supervision on the registratiequired by Circular 75. For example,
guidelines impose obligations on onshore subsilasf an offshore entity to make true and accustaiements to the local SAFE authorities in
case any shareholder or beneficial owner of thehoife entity is a PRC citizen or resident. Untiagesnents by the onshore subsidiaries will
lead to potential liability for the subsidiariesdain some instances, for their legal represergatand other individuals.

Regulations on Merger and Acquisition and Oversdasting

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies aiathe MOC, the State Assets Supervision and Adnation Commission, the
State Administration of Taxation, the SAIC, the @hiSecurities Regulatory Commission, or the CSR@,the SAFE, jointly adopted the
Regulations oMergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprisesbseign Investors or the New M&A Rule, which became effective on
September 8, 2006. This New M&A Rule, as amendedume 22, 2009, purports, among other things,duire offshore special purpose
vehicles, or SPVs, formed for overseas listing pags through acquisitions of PRC domestic compamdscontrolled by PRC companies or
individuals, to obtain the approval of the CSRQ@pto publicly listing their securities on an oweais stock exchange. On September 21, 2006,
the CSRC published a notice on its official websjtecifying documents and materials required teuimsmitted to it by SPVs seeking the C<
approval of their overseas listings.

While the application of this new regulation rensaimclear, we believe, based on the advice of R@ Bounsel, that CSRC approval is
not required in the context of our initial publifering because we established our PRC subsidibyigseans of direct investment other tha
merger or acquisition of domestic companies, andtaded to operate our business in the PRC thréargign invested enterprises before
September 8, 2006, the effective date of the NewAMRule. However, we cannot assure you that thevagliePRC government agency,
including the CSRC, would reach the same concluagoaur PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC atgyl body subsequently determines
that CSRC'’s approval was required for our initiabfic offering, we may face sanctions by the CSRGther PRC regulatory agencies, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrfegncial condition, results of operations, rgpion and prospects, as well as the trading
price of our ADSs.

The New M&A Rule also established additional praged and requirements that could make merger aqusiiton activities by foreign
investors more time-consuming and complex, inclgagguirements in some instances that the MOC biietbin advance of any change of
control transaction in which a foreign investordalcontrol of a PRC domestic enterprise.
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Regulation on Security Review

In August 2011, the MOC promulgated tRales of Ministry of Commerce on ImplementatioSexturity Review System of Mergers and
Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreigrekters, or the MOC Security Review Rule, which came igfi@ct on September 1, 2011,
implement theNotice of the General Office of the State CoungiEstablishing the Security Review System for Msrged Acquisitions of
Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investpromulgated on February 3, 2011. Under these régokg a security review is required for foreign
investors’ mergers and acquisitions having “natialedense and security” implications and merges agquisitions by which foreign investors
may acquire “de facto control” of domestic entesps having “national security” implications. In &duh, when deciding whether a specific
merger or acquisition of a domestic enterprisedrgifin investors is subject to a security revidwe, MOC will look into the substance and
actual impact of the transaction. The MOC SecwWRigview Rule further prohibits foreign investorsrfrdypassing the security review
requirement by structuring transactions throughxig® trusts, indirect investments, leases, loemistrol through contractual arrangements or
offshore transactions.

4.C. Organizational Structure

The following diagram illustrates our corporate amchership structure, the place of formation areldwnership interests of our
subsidiaries as of April 1, 2012.

100% China Lodging Group, Limited 1005
' (Cayman Islands) L
Ch:a é,udging China Lodging
aldings Hoddings (HK)
Singapore Pla Limited {(Hong
Ltd, {Singapore) Kang)
s Offshaora
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100% l 100% l 100%: lmu% l 100% 100%
Y
Hanfting HanTing Shanghai i HanTing
(Shanghai Xingkang HanTing Hatel ki o ti:::ghalj (Tianjin) TJ;:::;TE
Enterprize (Shanghai) Hotel Management My Investment Ny é’;
Management Managament Group, Ld Co Lugj’ tFiI?C} Consulting Co., ELfI F'}RI:: d
Co.. Ltd. (PRC) Ca.. Ltd. (PRC) (PRC) A Ltd. (PRC) td. (PRC)
5 Subsidianes 103 Subsidiarias 4 Subsidiaries 2 Bubsidiaries

The following table sets forth summary informatfon our subsidiaries as of April 1, 2012.

Major Subsidiaries Ownership Date of or Acquisition Place of Incorporation
Hong Kong Special
Administrative region of
China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limitec” China Lodging H}") 100% October 22, 200 PRC
China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“Chireadging
Singapor”) 100% April 14, 2010 Singapore
Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, Ltd. (ftfmai
HanTin¢") 10C% November 17, 200 PRC
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Ctd,
(“Xingkonc”) 100% March 3, 200¢ PRC
HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., Lt*HanTing
Tianjin”) 100% January 16, 200 PRC
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Lt“Yiju”) 100% April 12, 2007 PRC
Hanting Technology (Suzhou) Co., Lt“Suzhou
Technolog™) 100% December 3, 200 PRC
Hanting (Shanghai) Enterprise Management Co., 100% December 14, 201 PRC

Percentage ¢
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4.D. Property, Plants and Equipment

Our headquarters are located in Shanghai, Chinaremlie own 5,837 square meters of office spacef ecember 31, 2011, we leased
344 out of our 639 hotel facilities with an aggregsize of approximately 1.5 million square metersluding approximately 43,600 square
meters subleased to third parties. For detaileatindétion about the locations of our hotels, seemilg. Information on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Our Hotel Network.”

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
5.A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion and anglgtour financial condition and results of opéaas in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relatetgs included elsewhere in this annual report omf@0-F. This discussion may contain
forward-looking statements based upon current expectatiwatsinvolve risks and uncertainties. Our actuasults may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statets@s a result of various factors, including thase forth under “Item 3. Key Information —
D. Risk Factor” or in other parts of this annual report on Forn®<F.

Overview

We operate a leading and fast-growing limited ser¥iotel chain in China with leased-and-operatetfeanchised-and-managed models.
Under the lease-and-operate model, we directlyadpdrotels typically located on leased propertikaler the franchise-anttanage model, w
manage franchised hotels and collect fees fronthigees. We apply a consistent standard and piatfieross all of our hotels. As of
December 31, 2011, we had 344 leased-and-operatet$ 295 franchised-and-managed hotels, 93 leasdeperated hotels under
development and 185 franchised-and-managed hatdisr ulevelopment.

As of the date of this annual report, we offer éhh@tel products that are designed to target disgiroups of customers:

. HanTing Express Hott, our economy product which targets knowledge wrlead valu-conscious traveler:

. HanTing Seasons Hot, our mic-scale limited service hotel product which targeid-level corporate managers and owr
of small and medium enterprist

. HanTing Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets bu-constrained traveler
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As a result of our customer-oriented approach, axeldeveloped strong brand recognition and a loystomer base. In 2011,
approximately 76% of our room nights were soldnividual and corporate members of HanTing Cluly,loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediiserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagmulti-brand limited service hotel chain in 20@ur total revenues grew from
RMB1,333.9 million in 2009 to RMB2,385.6 million 2011. We had net income attributable to our commdrRMB42.5 million, RMB215.8
million and RMB114.8 million in 2009, 2010 and 20Q1éspectively.

Specific factors affecting our results of operatioa

While our business is affected by factors relatmgeneral economic conditions and the lodging $tiguin China (see “Item 3. Key
Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related torBusiness — Our operating results are subjecotalitions affecting the lodging
industry in general.”), we believe that our resolt®perations are also affected by company-spefifitors, including, among others:

» The total number of hotels and hotel rooms in atehnetwork. Our revenues largely depend on the size of otel Imetwork.
Furthermore, we believe the expanded geographierege of our hotel network will enhance our bragwbgnition. Whether we
can successfully increase the number of hotelhatel rooms in our hotel chain is largely affeckadour ability to effectively
identify and lease or franchise additional hotelgarties at desirable locations on commerciallpfable terms and the availability
of funding to make necessary capital investmentgptn these new hote

» The fixed-cost nature of our businegs significant portion of our operating costs axgpenses, including rent and depreciation and
amortization, is relatively fixed. As a result, iagrease in our revenues achieved through highePRRB generally will result in
higher profitability. Vice versa, a decrease in mwenues could result in a disproportionatelydaidecrease in our earnings
because our operating costs and expenses arelyttikdecrease proportionate

» The number of new leased-and-operated hotels uwhelezlopment Generally, the operation of each leased-and-tgetzotel goes
through three stages: development, ramp-up andrenaperations. During the development stage, leasdeoperated hotels
generally incur pre-opening expenses ranging frppraimately RMBO0.5 to RMB3.0 million per hotel and revenue. During
periods when a large number of new leased-and-tgathetels are under development, theqpening expenses incurred may h
a significant negative impact on our financial pemiance

» The mix of mature leased-and-operated hotels, pageld-and-operated hotels and franchised-and-mahhgtels. When a new
hotel starts operation and goes through the ramgtage, the occupancy rate is relatively low ardrdom rate may be subject to
discount. Revenues generated by these hotelswaes than those generated by mature hotels and méayshfficient to cover their
operating costs, which are relatively fixed in matand are similar to those of mature hotels. ©het profitability during the ramp-
up stage for leased-and-operated hotels may haigm#icant negative impact on our financial penfiance. The length of ramp-up
stage may be affected by factors such as hotelstzsonality and location. On average, it takesotels approximately six mon
to ramp up. We define mature leased-and-operattishas those that have been in operation for ithane six months. Our mature
leaseranc-operated hotels have been and will continue tdbartain contributor to our revenues and pr

Under the franchise-and-manage model, we generatmues from fees we charge to each franchisedvemdged hotel while a
franchisee bears substantially all the capital agfiares, prespening and operational expenses. The hotel opgratists relating t
franchised-and-managed hotels are mainly costsdt@ managers as we hire and send them to franbbigls.
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Key Performance Indicators

We utilize a set of nofinancial and financial key performance indicatatsich our senior management reviews frequently. rElvéeew of
these indicators facilitates timely evaluationtod performance of our business and effective conicatian of results and key decisions,
allowing our business to react promptly to changingtomer demands and market conditions.

Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

Our non-financial key performance indicators cansigi) the change in the total number of hoteld &otel rooms in our hotel chain,
(i) RevPAR, especially RevPAR achieved by our éeshand-operated hotels and (iii) same-hotel Reveldhge.

Change in the total number of hotels and hotel rmolve track the change in the total number of hatal$ hotel rooms in operation to
monitor our business expansion. Our total hotelspieration increased from 236 in 2009 to 639 in12éxd our total hotel room-nights
available for sale increased from 9.1 million ir02ao 21.5 million in 2011. The following table sdbrth various measures of changes in the
total number of hotels and hotel rooms as of andh®e dates and periods indicated.

As of December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Total hotels in operation 23€ 43¢ 63¢
Leaseranc-operated hotel 173 243 344
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 63 19t 29t
Total hotel rooms in operatic 28,36( 50,43¢ 71,62!
Leaseranc-operated hotel 21,65¢ 29,88¢ 40,51«
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 6,70z 20,55( 31,10:
Total hotel roor-nights available for sal 9,136,52! 13,705,40 21,536,41
Leaseranc-operated hotel 7,487,13: 8,552,22. 12,282,18
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 1,649,38 5,153,18 9,254,23!
Number of cities 39 65 10C

RevPAR RevPAR is a commonly used operating measureeitothging industry and is defined as the produ@wafrage occupancy rates
and average daily rates achieved. Occupancy ratag dotels mainly depend on the locations of lnatels, product and service offering, the
effectiveness of our sales and brand promotionrstfour ability to effectively manage hotel resgions, the performance of managerial and
other employees of our hotels, as well as ourtgliti respond to competitive pressure. From yegetr, occupancy of our portfolio may
fluctuate as a result of change in the mix of matamd ramping-up hotels, as well as special eventt as the Shanghai Expo in 2010. We set
the room rates of our hotels primarily based onldlation of a hotel, room rates charged by ourpetitors within the same locality, and our
relative brand and product strength in the citgitr cluster. From year to year, ADR of our porifonay change due to our yield management
practice, city mix change and special events sscBhamnghai Expo in 2010. The following table setthfour RevPAR, average daily room t
and occupancy rate for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
RevPAR (in RMB)
Leaseranc-operated hotel 165 18¢ 167
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 15€ 172 163
Total hotels in operatio 163 18¢ 165
Average daily room rate (in RME
Leaseranc-operated hotel 174 20C 18t
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 172 192 174
Total hotels in operatio 174 197 18C
Occupancy rate (as a percents
Leaseranc-operated hotel 94 94 90
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 91 a0 93
Total hotels in operatio 94 93 92
Weight of hotel roor-nights available for sale contributed by lee-anc-operated hotel
less than 6 months (9 15 7 18
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RevPAR may change from period to period due tth@)change in the mix of our hotels in the rampmog mature phases, (ii) the change
in the mix of our hotels in different cities anat&tions, (iii) the change in the mix of our hotefslifferent brands, and (iv) the change in same-
hotel RevPAR. The leased-and-operated hotel Revin/&ZR11 is lower than that in 2010, mainly as aitteaf the absence of the one-time
benefit from Shanghai Expo and a higher percenthgeom nights contributed by the ramping-up hot&lse leased-and-operated hotels in the
ramp-up stage accounted for 18% of room nightslaiai for sale from the leased-and-operated hptatfolio in 2011, compared with 7% in
2010.

The leased-and-operated hotel RevPAR in 2011 sehithan that in 2009, mainly driven by ADR incre&s our mature hotels, partly
offset by city mix shift toward lower tier citiesid a higher percentage of room-nights contribugethb ramping-up hotels.

The seasonality of our business may cause fluctogin our quarterly RevPAR. We typically have lihnsest RevPAR in the first quarter
due to reduced travel activities in the winter dnding the Chinese New Year holidays, and the ligRevPAR in the third quarter due to
increased travel during the summer. Special evbatsattract large numbers of people to travel aag cause fluctuations in our RevPAR.
Shanghai Expo drove strong demand and led to isetkaccupancy rates and average daily rates fdragals in Shanghai from May 1 to
October 31, 2010 and contributed to our RevPAReiase from 2009 to 2010. However, after the Sharigk@o’s closing on October 31, 20!
the demand for our hotels in Shanghai for the pfiom November 2010 to February 2011 was lowen the comparable periods of prior
years and therefore led to a decrease in our ReMBARese periods. Please “—Results of Operations — Expo Impact.”

For the Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31

2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
(in RMB thousands)

RevPAR (in RMB):
Leaseranc-operatec

hotels 16€ 19¢ 21k 174 144 172 17¢ 17¢
Franchised-and-

managed hotel 147 17¢ 19t 16C 142 16¢€ 17¢ 164

Total hotels in operatio 161 192 207 16¢ 142 17C 177 167

Same-hotel RevPAR chang@ur overall RevPAR trend does not reflect thedref a stable and mature portfolio, because it flueyuate
when city mix and mix of mature and ramping-up lothange. We track same-hotel year-oyeasir RevPAR change for hotels in operatior
at least 18 months to monitor RevPAR trend formature hotels on a comparable basis. The followabte sets forth our same-hotel RevPAR
for hotels in operation for at least 18 monthstfa periods indicated. Since Shanghai Expo in 2@IDa significant impact on our Shanghai
hotels, we also provide below the non-Shanghai dambel RevPAR change for a normalized perspecBlease see “—Expo Impact.”

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

Number of hotels ii

operation for at least 1

months 144 167 181 201 21€ 23€ 28C 32t
RevPAR (RMB) 16¢€ 20t 22C 181 161 191 19z 184
Same-hotel RevPAR

change (% 12 19 27 6 2 5) (20 5
Non-Shanghai Same-hotel

RevPAR change (% 11 7 7 3 (D] 4 6 7
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Financial Key Performance Indicators

Our financial key performance indicators consisfipfevenues, (ii) costs and expenses, (iii) EBA&nd adjusted EBITDA from
operating hotels and (iv) hotel income.

RevenuesWe primarily derive our revenues from operatiohsur leased-and-operated hotels and franchisesarvice fees from our
franchised-and-managed hotels. Our revenues ajecstib a business tax of 5% and other relatedstakiee following table sets forth the
revenues generated by our leased-and-operated lotglfranchised-and-managed hotels, both in aesafoount and as a percentage of total
revenues for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentages)

Revenues

Leaseranc-operated hotel 1,288,89! 96.€ 1,707,77. 92.¢ 2,172,933 34524. 91.1

Franchise-anc-managed hotel 44,96 3.4 130,57¢ 7.1 212,64  33,78¢ 8.S
Total revenue 1,333,86: 100.C 1,838,35( 100.C 2,385,571 379,03( 100.(

Less: Business tax and related ta (73,672 (5.5 (99,857) (5.4 (135,98) (21,60 (5.7)
Net revenue 1,260,19: 94.5  1,738,49 94.€ 2,249,59 357,42! 94.%

Leaserand-operated HotelsIn 2009, we generated revenues of RMB1,288.9anifrom our leased-and-operated hotels, which
accounted for 96.6% of our total revenues for tharyln 2010, we generated revenues of RMB1,701l@®mfrom our leased-and-
operated hotels, which accounted for 92.9% of otal revenues for the year. In 2011, we generaednues of RMB2,172.9
million from our leased-and-operated hotels, whachounted for 91.1% of our total revenues for tharyWe expect that revenues
from our leased-and-operated hotels will contiruednstitute a substantial majority of our totalerues in the foreseeable future.
As of December 31, 2011, we had 93 lei-anc-operated hotels under developme

For our leased-and-operated hotels, we lease piep#iom real estate owners or lessors and weeaponsible for hotel
development and customization to conform to ounddiads, as well as for repairs and maintenancepaditing costs and expen:
of properties over the term of the lease. We ae msponsible for all aspects of hotel operatamsmanagement, including hiring,
training and supervising the hotel managers andamaps required to operate our hotels and purchasipplies. Our typical lease
term ranges from ten to 15 years. We typically gfjo initial two- to six-month rent-free period. Wyenerally pay fixed rent on a
quarterly or biannual basis for the first thrediee years of the lease term, after which we amegally subject to a 3% to 5%
increase every three to five years.

Our revenues generated from leased-and-operatet tawe significantly affected by the following teperating measures:

. The total number of room nights available from lreessed-and-operated hotels in our hotel chdine future growth of
revenues generated from our leased-and-operatets vatl depend significantly upon our ability tagand our hotel chain
into new locations in China and maintain and furiherease our RevPAR at existing hotels. As ofdéweloer 31, 2011, we
had entered into binding contracts with lessor83properties for our leased-and-operated hotdigshware currently under
development. We intend to fund this planned exmamsiith our operating cash flow and our cash baa

. RevPAR achieved by our lea-and-operated hotels, which represents the product efaye daily rates and occupan
rates.To understand factors impacting our RevPAR, plesas”— Non-financial Key Performance Indicatc- RevPAR”
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» Franchisecand-managed Hotel. In 2009, we generated revenues of RMB45.0 milfiom our franchise-anc-managed hotel:
which accounted for 3.4% of our total revenuedfferyear. In 2010, we generated revenues of RMBL3dlion from our
franchised-and-managed hotels, which accounted.186 of our total revenues for the year. In 2014 generated revenues of
RMB212.6 million from our franchised-and-managetefs; which accounted for 8.9% of our total revenfoe the year. We expect
that revenues from our franchised-and-managedswiéllincrease in the foreseeable future as weradce franchised-and-
managed hotels in our hotel chain. We also expechtimber of our franchised-and-managed hotelgascantage of the total
number of hotels in our network to increase. ABetember 31, 2011, we had 185 franchised-and-mdragels under
development

Our franchisees either lease or own their hotgb@rites and also invest in the renovation of tpedperties according to our prod
standards. We directly manage our franchised-anuaged hotels and impose the same standards foamthised-and managed
hotels to ensure product quality and consistenoysacour hotel network. Management services weigeaw our franchisees
generally include hiring, appointing and trainingdl managers, managing reservations, providirgssahd marketing support,
conducting quality assurance inspections and pnogidther operational support and information. @anchisees are typically
responsible for the costs of developing and opagatie hotels, including renovating the hotels adiog to our standards, and all
the operating expenses. We believe our franchidersamage model has enabled us to quickly and efédgtexpand our
geographical coverage and market share in a Iggskatensive manner through leveraging the Idcadwledge and relationships
of our franchisees.

Our franchise-and-management agreements typiaatlyar an initial term of eight years. We colleee$ from our franchisees and
do not bear loss, if any, incurred by our franchsseOur franchisees are generally required to gagy ane-time franchise-and-
management fee ranging between RMB100,000 and REIBB0. They are also responsible for all costsexpénses related to
hotel construction and refurbishing. In general,ciarge a monthly franchise-and-management fepmrbaimately 5% of the total
revenues generated by each franchised-and-manatgdd\We also collect from franchisees a reservaféé@ on a per-room-night
basis for using our central reservation systemaamegmbership registration fee to service customvarsjoin our HanTing Club
loyalty program at the franchised-and-managed &oEelrthermore, we employ and appoint hotel marsaigerthe franchised-and-
managed hotels and charge the franchisees a mdaghfgr the service.

Hotel Income Hotel income is the difference between net reesrand hotel operating costs. Hotel income was R8EBmillion for
2011, compared with RMB558.3 million for 2010. Tdlght year-over-year decrease was mainly dued@tbisence of one-time benefit from
Shanghai Expo and more new hotels in operationigtigroffset by higher hotel income generated friima expanded network of franchised-
and-managed hotels and mature leased-and-opeatisd butside of Shanghai.

We track Hotel Income as a percentage of net reverparately for our mature and ramping-up leasedsperated hotels, as well as for
franchised-and-managed hotels. For leased-and-epenatels in operation for at least six months,lmtel income was RMB420.9 million
during 2011, or 23% of net revenues derived froos¢hhotels. Leased-and-operated hotels in operfatidaess than six months derived a hotel
loss of RMB42.2 million, or 18% of net revenuesided from those hotels in 2011. For franchised-arattaged hotels, the hotel income was
RMB167.6 million, or 84% of net revenue derivednfrthose hotels. Historical Hotel Income data fod2@ 2009 can be found in our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 33324) originally filed with the Securities and Extlye Commission on March 5, 2010.

Operating Costs and Expensedur operating costs and expenses consist of farstmtel operation, selling and marketing expsnse
general and administrative expenses and pre-opexiognses. The following table sets forth the camepts of our operating costs and
expenses, both in absolute amount and as a pegeeoftaet revenues for the periods indicated.
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Year Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentages)

Net revenue 1,260,19. 100.C 1,738,49: 100.C 2,249,59 357,42¢ 100.(

Operating costs and expense
Hotel operating cost:

Rents (418,544 (33.2) (476,100 (27.4  (655,24) (104,109 (29.)
Utilities (90,03Y) (7.2) (108,209 (6.2) (150,86) (23,970 (B6.7)
Personnel cos! (169,249 (13.9) (210,906 (12.7) (329,079 (52,28YH (14.6)
Depreciation and amortizatic (141,600 (11.2 (163,12 (9.9 (227,939 (36,216 (10.]
Consumables, food and bever: (119,05  (9.4)  (145,31) (8.4 (228,249 (36,269 (10.2)
Others (65,989 (5.9 (76,546 (4.4  (111,96) (17,790 (5.0
Total hotel operating cos (1,004,47) (79.7) (1,180,20) (67.9 (1,703,33) (270,63) (75.9)
Selling and marketing expens (57,819 (4.6 (70,78¢) (4.1 (94,754 (15,059 (4.2
General and administrative expen (83,66¢) (6.€) (119,98) (6.0 (160,06) (25,43) (7.))
Pre-opening expense (37,82) (3.0) (111,210 (6.4 (184,299 (29,28) (8.2
Total operating costs and expen (1,183,77) (93.9 (1,482,18) (85.%) (2,142,45) (340,40) (95.29

Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs consist of costs apeeses directly attributable to the operation aflease-anc-
operated and franchised-and-managed hotels. Leaskoberated hotel operating costs primarily includeakpayments and utili
costs for hotel properties, compensation and benieli our hotel-based employees, costs of hotahroonsumable products and
depreciation and amortization of leasehold improsets. Franchised-and-managed hotel operating pastarily include
compensation and benefits for franchised-and-mahbgel managers and other limited number of ermgdeydirectly hired by us,
which are recouped by us in the form of monthlyser fees. We anticipate that our hotel operatiogf€will increase as we
continue to open new hotels. Our hotel operatirgisas a percentage of our total revenue may cHamgeperiod to period mainly
driven by three factors, namely, (i) the hotel @pielg costs as a percentage of revenues for owrenktased-and-operated hotels,
(ii) the level of maturity for our leased-and-opedhhotel portfolio and (iii) the weight of franskid-and-managed hotels in our
revenue mix

Selling and marketing expensedur selling and marketing expenses consist pifynal commissions to travel intermediaries,
expenses for marketing programs and materials, fesskfor processing bank card payments, and cosagtien and benefits for o
sales and marketing personnel, including persoanelir centralized reservation center. We expettdhr selling and marketing
expenses will increase as our sales increase amd agther expand into new geographic locatiorss gromote our branc

General and administrative expensé3ur general and administrative expenses consisaply of compensation and benefits for
our corporate and regional office employees andraémployees who are not sales and marketing et-hased employees, travel
and communication expenses of our general and dstnaitive staff, costs of third-party professiosatvices, and office expenses
for corporate and regional office. We expect thatgeneral and administrative expenses will inczéaghe near term as we hire
additional personnel and incur additional costsdnnection with the expansion of our business aitfdl lveing a public company,
including costs of enhancing our internal contr

Pre-opening expense. Our pre-opening expenses consist primarily of rents, parsboost, and other miscellaneous expe
incurred prior to the opening of a new lee-anc-operated hote

Our pre-opening expenses are largely determingidopumber of pre-opening hotels in the pipeling toe rental fees incurred
during the development stage. Landlords typicdlfgroa two- to six-month rent-free period at thgioaing of the lease.
Nevertheless, rental is booked during this perioéd atraight-line basis. Therefore, a portion @ppening expenses is non-cash
rental expenses. The following table sets forthcttrponents of our pre-opening expenses for thiegremdicated.

46



Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)
Rents 29,901 88,17 153,22¢ 24,34¢
Personnel cos 3,58¢ 5,214 13,27: 2,10¢
Others 4,33( 17,81¢ 17,79¢ 2,821
Total pre-opening expense 37,82 111,21( 184,29¢ 29,28:

Our hotel operating costs, selling and marketingeeses and general and administrative expensesléshare-based compensation
expenses. The following table sets forth the atioosof our shardsased compensation expenses, both in absolute arwodias a percentage
total share-based compensation expenses, amorgghand expense items set forth below.

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB)  (US9) %
(In thousands except percentage:
Hotel operating cos! 52¢ 6.6 1,558 11.¢ 211f 33€  13.7
Selling and marketing expens 46E 5.8 77€ 5.¢ 78< 124 5.C
General and administrative expen 6,967 87.€ 10,78( 82.z 1258¢ 2,000 81.Z
Total shar-based compensation expen 7,958 100.C 13,11 100.C 15,48! 2,46( 100.(

We adopted our 2007 Global Share Plan and 2008aG&Hmare Plan in February and June 2007, respbgtesgpanded the 2008 Global
Share Plan in October 2008, adopted the 2009 $heeative Plan in September 2009, and expandeddf8 Share Incentive Plan in October
2009 and August 2010. We have granted options tchase 11,909,540, 1,948,370, 6,305,975, 767,589%@9,768 of our ordinary shares in
2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. ¥drtgd 628,061 shares of restricted stock in 20dd recognized shatgased compensati
as compensation expenses in the statement of aperdiased on the fair value of equity awards endidite of the grant, with the compensation
expenses recognized over the period in which tbipient is required to provide service to us inlexage for the equity award. Share-based
compensation expenses have been categorized &spetating costs, general and administrative egpgnor selling and marketing expenses,
depending on the job functions of the grantees.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteWe use earnings before interest expense, taxergbenefit) and depreciation
and amortization, or EBITDA, a hon-GAAP financiakasure, to assess our results of operations bifeiepact of investing and financing
transactions and income taxes. Given the significesestments that we have made in leasehold ingsn@nts, depreciation and amortization
expense comprises a significant portion of our strsicture. We believe that EBITDA is widely usegddther companies in the lodging indu:
and may be used by investors as a measure ofrandial performance. We also use Adjusted EBITDftOperating Hotels, another non-
GAAP measure, which is defined as EBITDA beforegpening expenses and share-based compensatiomsespéo assess operating results
of the hotels in operation. We believe that thesion of pre-opening expenses, a portion of wigahon-cash rental expenses, and share-
based compensation expenses helps facilitate perigueriod comparison of our results of operatiasshe number of hotels in the
development stage may vary significantly from yteayear and provides a proxy for the cash genera@pability of the hotels in operation at
their current level of maturity. See “— ResultsOyferations” for a reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjed EBITDA from Operating Hotels to
net income (loss).
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The following tables present certain unauditedrfial data and selected operating data as of artidoyears ended December 31, 2009,
2010 and 2011:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Non-GAAP Financial Data
EBITDA(1) 214,89. 447,23: 377,387 59,96
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels( 260,66¢ 571,557 577,16¢ 91,70

(1) We believe that EBITDA is a useful financialtmeto assess our operating and financial perfoiceebefore the impact of investing and
financing transactions and income taxes. Giversitpaificant investments that we have made in lealseimprovements, depreciation ¢
amortization expense comprises a significant pordibour cost structure. In addition, we believattBBITDA is widely used by other
companies in the lodging industry and may be useidestors as a measure of our financial perfoceai/e believe that EBITDA will
provide investors with a useful tool for compar#pibetween periods because it eliminates depiieciand amortization expense
attributable to capital expenditures. We also udpigted EBITDA from Operating Hotels, which is defd as EBITDA before pre-
opening expenses and share-based compensatiorsegpemassess operating results of the hotelsdration. We believe that the
exclusion of pre-opening expenses, a portion ottwig non-cash rental expenses, and share-basggkosation expenses helps facilitate
year-on-year comparison of our results of operationthasiumber of hotels in the development stage vaay significantly from year to
year and provides a proxy for the cash generatipalgility of the hotels in operation at their catrkevel of maturity. Therefore, w
believe Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels matesely reflects the performance capability of kotarrently in operation. Our
calculation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Oging Hotels does not deduct interest income, whiak RMB1.9 million,
RMB15.9 million and RMB18.1 million in 2009, 201082011, respectively, or foreign exchange losschvtvas RMB60,000 in 2009,
or foreign exchange gain, which was RMB7.0 millammd RMB16.0 million in 2010 and 2011, respectivdlje presentation of EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels should he construed as an indication that our futurealtesvill be unaffected by other
charges and gains we consider to be outside theasydcourse of our busines

The use of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operatinotels has certain limitations. Depreciation antbrtization expense for
various long-term assets, income tax and intergstrese have been and will be incurred and areefiected in the presentation of
EBITDA. Pre-opening expenses have been and withberred and are not reflected in the presentaifohdjusted EBITDA from
Operating Hotels. Each of these items should atéscdmsidered in the overall evaluation of our rss#{dditionally, EBITDA or Adjuste
EBITDA from Operating Hotels does not consider talpixpenditures and other investing activities sinould not be considered as a
measure of our liquidity. We compensate for thé@sé@dtions by providing the relevant disclosureoof depreciation and amortization,
interest expense, income tax expense gpenRing expenses, capital expenditures and othevrarg items both in our reconciliations to
U.S. GAAP financial measures and in our consolididiteancial statements, all of which should be édeied when evaluating our
performance.

The terms EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from OperatiHgtels are not defined under U.S. GAAP, and nelB® TDA nor Adjusted
EBITDA from Operating Hotels is a measure of nebime, operating income, operating performancegoidity presented in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. When assessing our operating amahftial performance, you should not consider thta t¢h isolation or as a substitute
for our net income, operating income or any othgrating performance measure that is calculateddordance with U.S. GAAP. In
addition, our EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA from Openag) Hotels may not be comparable to EBITDA or AdagsEBITDA from
Operating Hotels or similarly titled measures méll by other companies since such other comparagswt calculate EBITDA or
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels in the samarmer as we do.

A reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA frof®perating Hotels to net income, which is the nitasctly comparable U.S.
GAAP measure, is provided below:

For the Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)
Net income attributable to our compe 42,54 215,75. 114,83. 18,24¢
Interest expens 8,781 2,682 882 14C
Tax expens: 17,99( 57,26: 24,81¢ 3,94:
Depreciation and amortizatic 145,57 171,53¢ 236,85 37,63
EBITDA (Non-GAAP) 214,89. 447,23: 377,38° 59,96
Pre-opening expense 37,827 111,21( 184,29¢ 29,28
Shar-based compensation expen 7,95k 13,11 15,48 2,46(
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels (N-GAAP) 260,66¢ 571,557 577,16f 91,70:
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Quarterly hotel operating costs

The following table sets forth the components af loatel operating costs for each of the eight aararin the period ended December 31,
2011.

For the Three Months Ended
March 31, September 3C December 31 March 31, September 3C December 31
June 30, June 30,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
(in RMB thousands)

Hotel operating costs:

Rents 111,60¢ 115,97 120,21« 128,30¢ 141,45 157,80 172,61¢ 183,36
Utilities 31,53: 20,47¢ 28,91 27,28t¢ 43,73¢ 28,66¢ 37,94¢ 40,51¢
Personnel cos 45,64 47,957 63,157 54,15: 61,43¢ 78,20¢ 92,37 97,06¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 36,94¢ 39,23 41,63¢ 45,301 50,44¢ 53,14: 57,73¢ 66,61
Consumables, food and
beverage 29,40° 33,76 37,82¢ 44,32( 41,764 53,09¢ 63,04( 70,34!
Others 17,07( 16,23( 19,36¢ 23,88: 22,43: 24,74¢ 28,86: 35,92!
Total hotel operating cos 272,20. 273,63 311,11! 323,25. 361,267 395,67: 452,57¢ 493,81¢

The seasonality of utilities cost display a differpattern than the seasonality of our RevPAR. Vpeally have the highest utilities costs
in a year in the first quarter and the lowest tigii in the second quarter, with relatively lowlitiéis in the third and fourth quarters.

Taxation

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Undecthrent law of the Cayman Islands, we are nojestibo income or capital gains t
In addition, dividend payments we make are notesttlip withholding tax in the Cayman Islands.

China Lodging HK is subject to a profit tax at tiage of 16.5% on assessable profit determined urelierant Hong Kong tax regulatiol
To date, China Lodging HK has not been requirepity profit tax as it had no assessable profit.

China Lodging Singapore is subject to Singaporpa@@te income tax at a rate of 17% in 2011. No &doge profit tax has been provic
as we have not had assessable profit that wasdcemroe derived from Singapore during the yearsenged.

Prior to January 1, 2008, our PRC operating estitiere governed by the Incoriax Law of the PRC for Enterprises with Foreign
Investment and Foreign Enterprisand theProvisional Regulations of the PRC on Enterpriseome Tax or the old EIT Laws. Pursuant to
the old EIT Laws, PRC enterprises were generalbjesit to the enterprise income tax at a statutaty of 33% (30% state income tax plus 3%
local income tax). On March 16, 2007, the NatidPabple’s Congress, the Chinese legislature, pdksdenterprise Income Tax Law, and on
December 6, 2007, the PRC State Council issuetitheementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdrae Law, both of which became
effective on January 1, 2008. The Enterprise Inc®areLaw and its Implementation Regulations, orribey EIT Law, applies a uniform 25%
enterprise income tax rate to both foreign-investerprises and domestic enterprises.

The new EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10%dividends distributed by a PRC foreign-investetegrise to its immediate
holding company outside of China, if such immedtatéding company is considered a “non-residentrenite” without any establishment or
place within China or if the received dividends @ao connection with the establishment or placgugh immediate holding company within
China, unless such immediate holding company’sgliction of incorporation has a tax treaty with @&hthat provides for a different
withholding arrangement. Holding companies in H&mwyg, for example, are subject to a 5% withholdismgrate. The Cayman Islands, where
we are incorporated, does not have such a taytwatt China. Thus, dividends paid to us by ourssdiaries in China may be subject to the
10% withholding tax if we are considered a “nonidest enterprise” under the new EIT Law. See “lteénKey Information — D. Risk Factors
— Risks Related to Doing Business in China — lItrislaar whether we will be considered as a PRCdedienterprise’ under the new EIT
Law, and depending on the determination of our R@§ldent enterprisestatus, dividends paid to us by our PRC subsidiariay be subject"
PRC withholding tax, we may be subject to 25% PRDine tax on our worldwide income, and holdersusfADSs or ordinary shares may be
subject to PRC withholding tax on dividends paidusyand gains realized on their transfer of our ABSordinary shares.”
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Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare financial statements in accordance adgtiounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates, or U.S. GAAP, which
requires us to make judgments, estimates and asisunsthat affect the reported amounts of our assed liabilities and the disclosure of our
contingent assets and liabilities at the end ohdcal period and the reported amounts of revemmel expenses during each fiscal period. We
continue to evaluate these judgments and estinbae=d on our own historical experience, knowledgkassessment of current business and
other conditions, our expectations regarding therubased on available information and assumpticeitswe believe to be reasonable, which
together form our basis for making judgments aloatters that are not readily apparent from otharcas. Since the use of estimates is an
integral component of the financial reporting psseour actual results could differ from thoseneates. Some of our accounting policies
require a higher degree of judgment than othetkeir application.

The selection of critical accounting policies, jhegments and other uncertainties affecting apptosof thosepolicies and the sensitivi
of reported results to changes in conditions asdragtions are factors that should be consideredhwheewing our financial statements. We
believe the following accounting policies involeetmost significant judgments and estimates us#ueipreparation of our financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues are derived from operations of leaselleperated hotels, including the rental of rodimsgd and beverage sales and
souvenir sales. Revenues are recognized when rameccupied and food and beverages and souveaisoi.

Our revenues from franchised-and-managed hoteldeaireed from franchise-and-management agreemdmtsenthe franchisees are
required to pay (i) an initial one-time franchisedananagement fee and (ii) an ongoing franchiseraadagement fee, the major part of which
is charged at 5.0% of the revenues of the frandHisgels. Aside from the revenue-based fee, wecilaoge a central reservation system usage
fee and a monthly system maintenance and suppovtiigch are recognized when services are provitled.one-time franchise-and-
management fee, which is non-refundable, is re@aghivhen the franchised hotel opens for businessywe have fulfilled all our
commitments and obligations, including assistandhé franchisees in property design, leaseholddrgment construction project
management, systems installation, personnel r@aguaind training. Ongoing franchise-and-managerfesst are recognized when the
underlying service revenues are recognized byrdrechisees’ operations.

We account for hotel manager fees related to theldrander the franchise program as revenues. &ursw the franchise-and-
management agreements, we charge the franchigeeshivtel manager fees to cover the franchisedraaugaged hotel managers’ salaries,
social welfare benefits and certain other out-ofkt expenses that we incur on behalf of the fresechand-managed hotels. The hotel
manager fee is recognized as revenue monthly. Bdhia years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and #t8 hptel manager fees that were
recognized as revenue were RMB9.9 million, RMB3dillion and RMB43.0 million, respectively.

Revenues derived from selling membership cardstht leased-and-operated and franchised-and-marejeld are earned on a straight-
line basis over the estimated membership term wiBielstimated to be approximately two to five yedgpendent upon membership level.
Membership life is estimated at the time the memsiiprcard is sold based on management’s induspgreence and data accumulated by our
company, including usage frequency and actuatiatiriThese estimates are updated regularly teceéictual membership retention.
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Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of our long-livedats for impairment by comparing the expected wodisted future cash flows of the
assets to the net book value of the assets ifindrigger events occur, such as receiving govemirmening notification. Inherent in reviewing
the carrying amounts of the long-lived assetsésube of various estimates. First, our managemast determine the usage of the asset.
Impairment of an asset is more likely to be recegdiwhere and to the extent our management deitidesuch asset may be disposed of or
sold. Assets must be tested at the lowest levakmgdly the individual hotel, for which identifiabtash flows exist. If the expected
undiscounted future cash flows are less than theewk value of the assets, the excess of theowk Balue over the estimated fair value is
charged to current earnings. Fair value is based discounted cash flows of the assets at a ramele reasonable for the type of asset and
prevailing market conditions, appraisals and, frapriate, current estimated net sales proceeds frending offers. Future cash flow estimates
are, by their nature, subjective and actual resuétg differ materially from our estimates. If ourgming estimates of future cash flows are not
met, we may have to record additional impairmetrghs in future accounting periods. Our estimatesish flow are based on the current
regulatory, social and economic climates where @vedact our operations as well as recent operatifggrnation and budgets for our business.
These estimates could be negatively impacted bgggsin laws and regulations, economic downtumettter events affecting various forms
of travel and access to our hotels.

Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairmenteatst annually or more frequently if events orrges in circumstances indicate that
these assets might be impaired. If we determintetiieacarrying value of our goodwill has been imedj the carrying value will be written
down.

To assess potential impairment of goodwill, we perfan assessment of the carrying value of eadhichl hotel at least on an annual
basis or when events and changes in circumstarmces that would more likely than not reduce the Yailue of each individual hotel below its
carrying value. If the carrying value of an indival hotel exceeds its fair value, we would perfdine second step in our assessment process
and record an impairment loss to earnings to tiengthe carrying amount of the individual hotgJ@odwill exceeds its implied fair value. We
estimate the fair value of each individual hotebtigh internal analysis and external valuationgctviatilize income and market valuation
approaches through the application of capitalizetiegs and discounted cash flow. These valuadohrtiques are based on a number of
estimates and assumptions, including the projefctede operating results of the individual hotgdpeopriate discount rates and long-term
growth rates. The significant assumptions regardungfuture operating performance are revenue draates, discount rates and terminal
values. If any of these assumptions changes, timeatsed fair value of our individual hotel will chge, which could affect the amount of
goodwill impairment charges, if any.

Customer Loyalty Program

HanTing Club is our customer loyalty program. Owemibers can earn points based on spending at @ademd-operated and
franchised-and-managed hotels and participatirggitain marketing programs. Points can be rededaredembership upgrades, room night
awards and gifts within two years after the poarts earned. Management determines the fair valtireedfiture redemption obligation basec
certain formulas which project the future pointeetption behavior based on historical experienagdyding an estimate of points that will
never be redeemed, and an estimate of the poautsvith eventually be redeemed as well as the bt incurred in conjunction with the point
redemption. The actual expenditure may differ fitim estimated liability recorded. Prior to Febru28y 2009, we recorded estimated liabili
for all points earned by our customers as we dichage sufficient historical information to determaipoint forfeitures or breakage. Based on
our accumulated knowledge on reward points redemg@nd expiration, we began to apply historicakregtion rates in estimating the cost:
points earned from March 1, 2009 onwards.
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Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determiiséth the asset and liability approach of accognfiim income taxes. Under this
approach, we recognize deferred tax assets arititiegbbased on the differences between the fir@mstatement carrying amounts and tax
basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation allogsis required to reduce the carrying amountstérded tax assets if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that such &sgéll not be realized. Accordingly, the need &tablish valuation allowances for deferred tax
assets is assessed periodically based on a melg-than-not realization threshold. This assessrmoensiders, among other matters, the nature,
frequency and severity of current and cumulatiwsés, forecasts of future profitability, the dwatof statutory carryforward periods, our
experience with operating loss in the China’s ladiservice hotel industry, tax planning strategglemented and other tax planning
alternatives. Prior to 2009, we had significantraiag losses attributable to rapid expansion atated pre-opening costs incurred. As of
December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, we had defaarealsisets generated from net loss carryforward &dtaation allowance of RMB33.2
million, RMB14.1 million and RMB37.8 million, resptvely. We expect many of our hotels that wereipwperation in 2010 and 2011 will
become mature and generate sufficient taxabletpoofitilize the substantial portion of the netdasrryforward. If our operating results are
than currently projected and there is no objectiverifiable evidence to support the realizatioroof deferred tax asset, additional valuation
allowance may be required to further reduce ouemlefl tax asset. The reduction of the deferredisart could increase our income tax
expenses and have an adverse effect on our re$aperations and tangible net worth in the pemodhich the allowance is recorded.

The provision for income taxes represents incorrestpaid or payable for the current year plus tlenge in deferred taxes during the
year. Our tax rate is based on expected incomeiteig tax rates and tax planning opportunitieslatie in the various jurisdictions in whi
we operate. For interim financial reporting, weraste the annual tax rate based on projected testabbme for the full year and record a
quarterly income tax provision in accordance with anticipated annual rate. As the year progressesefine the estimates of the year's
taxable income as new information becomes availatdéuding year-to-date financial results. Thisitoual estimation process often results in
a change to our expected effective tax rate foy#ar. When this occurs, we adjust the income taxigion during the quarter in which the
change in estimate occurs so that the year-toqtatgsion reflects the expected annual tax ratgniBcant judgment is required in determining
our effective tax rate and in evaluating its tasipions.

We recognize a tax benefit associated with an taicetax position when, in our judgment, it is mékely than not that the position will
be sustained upon examination by a taxing authdkity a tax position that meets the more-likelyatimat recognition threshold, we initially
and subsequently measure the tax benefit as thesiaamount that we judge to have a greater th#miB@lihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Oatiility associated with unrecognized tax benefitadjusted periodically due to changing
circumstances, such as the progress of tax agd#e, law developments and new or emerging legislaBuch adjustments are recognized
entirely in the period in which they are identifi€lur effective tax rate includes the net impaatteinges in the liability for unrecognized tax
benefits and subsequent adjustments as considepedpaiate by management. We classify interestpandilties recognized on the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.

Share-Based Compensation

The costs of share based payments are recognized gonsolidated financial statements based dnghant-date fair value over the
vesting. We determine fair value of our share aytias of the grant date using binomial option pganodel. Under this model, we make a
number of assumptions regarding fair value inclgdhre expected price multiple at which employeeligsdy to exercise stock options, the
expected volatility of our future ordinary sharécpy the risk free interest rate and the expeciedehd yield. Determining the value of our
share-based compensation expense in future paxisdsequires the input of subjective assumptiooarad estimated forfeitures of the
underlying shares. We estimate our forfeitures dhasepast employee retention rates, our expecttibfuture retention rates, and we will
prospectively revise our forfeiture rates basedatmal history. Our compensation charges may chbaged on changes to our assumptions.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of oursaidated results of operations, both in absolatewnt and as a percentage of total
revenues for the periods indicated. This informragbould be read together with our consolidatearfoial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this annual report.
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Expo Impact

Expo 2010 Shanghai China, or the Shanghai Expagiwiluas held in Shanghai from May 1 to October 81,2 had a favorable impact
on our results of operations in 2010. As of Decan®ie 2010, we had 85 hotels in operation in Shangthich constituted 19.4% of our hot
in operation. By analyzing our internal operatingtrits under normal business circumstances and aongpto the performance of our non-
Shanghai hotels, our management estimated th&avbeable impact from the Shanghai Expo contrib@edb to our net revenues of
RMB1,738.5 million in 2010. Excluding the impacbifin the Shanghai Expo, we estimate that our RevPA&dwhave improved by 4.0% from
163 in 2009 to 2010 for our overall portfolio angd h0% on a like-follike basis. Excluding impact from the Shanghai Expam 2009 to 201!
we estimate that our net revenue would have inetthg 29.2% from RMB1,260.2 million in 2009, outt ircome attributable to China
Lodging Group, Limited would have increased by 227 from RMB42.5 million in 2009, our EBITDA wouldakie increased by 59.4% from
RMB214.9 million in 2009, and our EBITDA from opérgy hotels would have increased by 79.5% from REERBZ million in 2009.

Financial information with regard to the favorabteact from the Shanghai Expo has been generatechally and has not been
subjected to the same review and scrutiny, inclyditernal auditing procedures and audit by indepanauditors, to which we subject our
annual consolidated financial statements, and naay materially from the audited consolidated finahinformation for the same period. Any
evaluation of this financial information should@lske into account our published audited constdifinancial statements and the notes to
those statements. In addition, this financial infation is not necessarily indicative of our restdtsany future period.

We have grown rapidly since we began our curresirt@ss of operating and managing a multi-branddidgervice hotel chain in 2007.
Our limited operating history makes it difficult pwedict our future operating results. We beliévwa the year-to-year comparison of operating
results should not be relied upon as being indieatf future performance.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011
RMB % RMB % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datg

Revenues
Leaser-anc-operated hotel 1,288,891 102.: 1,707,77. 98.2 2,172,933 345,24« 96.¢
Franchise-anc-managed hotel 44,96¢ 3.5 130,57¢ 7.5 212,64« 33,78¢ 9.4
Total revenue 1,333,86. 105.¢ 1,838,35( 105.7 2,385,557 379,03( 106.(
Less: Business tax and related ta (73,679 (5.9 (99,857) (5.9) (135,98) (21,605 (6.0
Net revenue 1,260,19. 100.C 1,738,49. 100.C 2,249,659 357,42' 100.(
Operating costs and expenses
Hotel operating cos! (1,004,47) (79.7) (1,180,20) (67.9 (1,703,33) (270,63) (75.7)
Selling and marketing expens (57,819 (4.6 (70,78¢  (4.7) (94,759 (15,059 (4.2
General and administrative expen (83,66¢) (6.€) (119,98) (6.0 (160,06) (25,43) (7.))
Pre-opening expense (37,82) (3.0) (111,210 (6.4 (184,299 (29,289 (8.2
Total operating costs and expen (1,183,77) (93.9 (1,482,18) (85.9) (2,142,45) (340,40) (95.29
Income (loss) from operatiol 76,41« 6.1 256,30t 14.7 107,14¢ 17,02¢ 4.8
Interest incomt 1,871 0.1 15,94¢ 1.C 18,11 2,871 0.8
Interest expense 8,78i 0.7 2,68: 0.2 882 14C 0.C
Other income — — 2,56¢ 0.2 2,64¢ 421 0.1
Foreign exchange gain (los (60) 0.C 6,92: 0.4 15,93( 2,531 0.7
Income before income tax 69,43¢ 5.2 279,05t 16.1 142,95 22,71 6.4
Tax expens: 17,99( 14 57,26 3.3 24,81¢ 3,94: 1.1
Net income 51,44¢ 4.1 221,79 12t 118,13¢ 18,77( 5.3
Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingest 8,90z 0.7 6,04: 0.4 3,30¢ 52E 0.2
Net income attributable to China Lodging Group, lted 42,54¢ 3.4 215,75: 12.4 114,83: 18,24¢ 5.1

Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)

(In thousands)
Shar-based compensation expen 7,958 13,11t 15,48: 2,46(
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Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2010
RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 29.4% from RMB1%88llion in 2010 to RMB2,249.6 million in 2011.

Leaserand-operated hotelsRevenues from our leased-and-operated hotelsdsed by 27.2% from RMB1,707.8 million in 2010
to RMB2,172.9 million in 2011. This increase wasnarily due to our continued expansion of leased-aperated hotels from 243
hotels and 29,888 hotel rooms as of December 30 9344 hotels and 40,514 hotel rooms as of Dbeelil, 2011, partially
offset by a decrease in RevPAR. RevPAR for ourddamnd-operated hotels decreased from RMB189 if 88RMB167 in 2011
primarily due to (i) the loss of the favorable inspaf the Shanghai Expo held in 2010 (see “—Exppdat”) and (ii) a higher
percentage of our new leased-and-operated hotiglg bethe ramp-up stage in 2011. The leased-amdaded hotels in the ramp-up
stage accounted for 18% of room nights availableséte from the leased-and-operated hotels pastiolR011, compared with 7%
in 2010.

Franchisecand-managed hotel. Revenues from our franchis-anc-managed hotels increased by 62.8% from RMB130.6omiin
2010 to RMB212.6 million in 2011. This increase vpaignarily due to our continued expansion of frased-and-managed hotels
from 195 hotels and 20,550 hotel rooms as of Deeer@b, 2010 to 295 hotels and 31,107 hotel roontd Becember 31, 2011,
partially offset by a decrease in RevPAR. RevPARoiar franchised-and-managed hotels decreasedRigR172 in 2010 to
RMB163 in 2011 driven by a decrease in the avedadg rate of our franchised-and-managed hotels fRIMB192 in 2010 to
RMB174 in 2011 and partially offset by an increas¢he occupancy rate of our franchised-and-managéels from 90% in 2010
to 93% in 2011. The decrease in the average datiéyresulted primarily from (i) the loss of the daable impact of the Shanghai
Expo held in 2010, (ii) a higher percentage of menv franchised-and-managed hotels being in the 1@pgtage in 2011 and (i) a
shift in the mix of hotels toward smaller cities@vh our average daily rates are lov

Operating Costs and Expensedur total operating costs and expenses incréasdd.5% from RMB1,482.2 million in 2010 to
RMB2,142.5 million in 2011.

Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs increased by 44.3% fRiiB1,180.2 million in 2010 to RMB1,703.3 million i
2011. This increase was primarily due to our exjmengf leased-and-operated hotels from 243 hotelsf ®ecember 31, 2010 to
344 hotels as of December 31, 2011. Our hotel ¢ipgraosts as a percentage of net revenues incrdéasa 67.8% in 2010 to
75.6% in 2011, primarily due to a decrease in cewHRAR primarily as a result of a decrease in therage daily rate of our hotels
from 197 in 2010 to 180 in 201

Selling and marketing expens. Our selling and marketing expenses increased#£8 from RMB70.8 million in 2010 t
RMB94.8 million in 2011. The increase was in linghaour expansion of business and increase of tgves a result. Our selling
and marketing expenses as a percentage of neturevancreased from 4.1% in 2010 to 4.2% in 2!

General and administrative expensé3ur general and administrative expenses increfagedRMB120.0 million in 2010 to
RMB160.1 million in 2011, primarily as a resultadir business expansion. Our general and adminigrakpenses as a percentage
of net revenues increased from 6.9% in 2010 to Arl2011, primarily due to a revenue base favorahblyacted by the Shanghai
Expo in 2010

Pre-opening expensegur pre-opening expenses increased from RMB1milldn in 2010 to RMB184.3 million in 2011,
primarily due to our accelerated expansion of ldeesed-operated hotels. We opened 101 leased-andtegéotels in 2011,
compared with 70 in 2010, and we had 93 leasedspedated hotels under development as of Decemh&031, compared to 69
as of December 31, 2010. In addition, the extensfdhe conversion period of new hotels as a refuyirolonged new hotel license
approval process also led to increased pre-openipgnses in 2011. Our pre-opening expenses asanpage of net revenues
increased from 6.4% in 2010 to 8.2% in 20
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Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income figmerations of RMB107.1 million in 2011 comparedrtcome
from operations of RMB256.3 million in 2010.

Interest Income (Expense), N&ur net interest income was RMB17.2 million inl200ur interest income was RMB18.1 million in
2011, and our interest expense was RMBO0.9 mill@ur: net interest income was RMB13.2 million in 200ir interest income was RMB15.9
million in 2010, and our interest expense was RMBillion, RMB1.4 million of which was capitalizeéd connection with leasehold
improvements. The increase in interest income 260 to 2011 was primarily due to higher intereshed as a result of our effective treas
management. The decrease in interest expense Hattd 2011 was primary due to our reduced borrgwin

Other income Our other income remained unchanged in 2011 2640 at RMB2.6 million, and was primarily attribbta to
reimbursements received from the depositary ofAdd®s for certain expenses incurred by us in respittte ADR program established
pursuant to the deposit agreement.

Foreign Exchange GainWe had foreign exchange gain of RMB15.9 milliar2D11 compared to foreign exchange gain of RMB®6.9
2010. Our foreign exchange gain in 2011 was pripatiributable to the appreciation of the Renmiagainst the U.S. dollar.

Tax ExpenseOur tax expenses decreased from RMB57.3 millio2010 to RMB24.8 million in 2011, primarily duedcdecrease in our
income before income taxes from RMB279.1 millior2BL0 to RMB143.0 million in 2011. Our effectivextiaate decreased from 20.5% in
2010 to 17.4% in 2011, primarily due to the taxithey that we enjoyed effective from 2011, partiaf§set by the change in valuation
allowance resulting from certain new hotels in idw@p-up stage.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interefet income attributable to noncontrolling inténespresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity éstan the leased-and-operated hotels owned bjpititeventures. Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interest decreased from RMB6.0 millin 2010 to RMB3.3 million in 2011, primarily dte our acquisition of certain
noncontrolling interests in our majority-owned joirentures in 2010.

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, ltéd . As a result of the foregoing, we had net incomébaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB114.8 million in 2011 compartxnet income attributable to China Lodging Grouimited of RMB215.8 million
incurred in 2010.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HotelSBITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB377.4 million in 2011ompared with EBITDA
of RMB447.2 million in 2010. This change was priihadue to the loss of the favorable impact of 8teanghai Expo held in 2010, a higher
percentage of leased-and-operated hotels in thp-tgmstage and higher pre-opening expenses in Z@fjasted EBITDA from Operating
Hotels (non-GAAP) increased from RMB571.6 million2010 to RMB577.2 million in 2011.

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2009
RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 38.0% from RMB126dllion in 2009 to RMB1,738.5 million in 2010.

» Leasetand-operated hotelsRevenues from our leased-and-operated hoteledsed by 32.5% from RMB1,288.9 million in 2009
to RMB1,707.8 million in 2010. This increase wasnarily due to our continued expansion of leased-aperated hotels from 173
hotels and 21,658 hotel rooms as of December 319 80243 hotels and 29,888 hotel rooms as of Dbeeil, 2010, and an
increase in RevPAR. RevPAR for our leased-and-apéraotels increased from RMB165 in 2009 to RMB82010 due to an
increase in the average daily rate of our leasedegerated hotels from RMB174 in 2009 to RMB20Q@10. The increase in this
average daily rate resulted primarily from our sginening brand, our successful yield manageménha gradual recovery from
the global financial crisis and the Exgdven price increase in Shanghai from May 2010ttober 2010. The occupancy rate of
leaseranc-operated hotels remains stable at 94% from 20Q910.
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Franchisecand-managed hotel. Revenues from our franchis-anc-managed hotels increased significantly from RMB4sillion

in 2009 to RMB130.6 million in 2010. This increasas primarily due to our continued expansion ofiftased-andnanaged hote
from 63 hotels and 6,702 hotel rooms as of Decer@beP009 to 195 hotels and 20,550 hotel roomd &eoember 31, 2010, and
an increase in RevPAR. RevPAR for our franchisedHaanaged hotels increased from RMB156 in 2009M@R72 in 2010
driven by an increase in the average daily rateuofiranchised-and-managed hotels from RMB172 920 RMB192 in 2010 and
partially offset by a slight decrease of the ocaugyarate of our franchised-and-managed hotels ®&#% in 2009 to 90% in 2010.
The increase in this average daily rate resultedagrily from our strengthening brand, our succesgiid management, China’s
gradual recovery from the global financial crisi&lahe Exp-driven price increase in Shanghai From May 2010dtober 2010

Operating Costs and Expensedur total operating costs and expenses incrdas@8.2% from RMB1,183.8 million in 2009 to
RMB1,482.2 million in 2010.

Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs increased by 17.5% fRitB1,004.5 million in 2009 to RMB1,180.2 million i
2010. This increase was primarily because of obstsuntial expansion of leased-and-operated hotets 173 hotels as of
December 31, 2009 to 243 hotels as of Decembe2@X). Our hotel operating costs as a percentagetatvenues decreased from
79.7% in 2009 to 67.9% in 2010, primarily due tdrarease in our RevPAR and an increase in thegptiop of net revenue
derived from franchise-anc-managed hotel:

Selling and marketing expens. Our selling and marketing expenses increase®B£2 from RMB57.8 million in 2009 t
RMB70.8 million in 2010. This increase was primadue to RMB6.6 million of additional expenses tiglg to our loyalty prograr
resulting from the increase of points earned byomstomers, RMB6.1 million of additional compensatand benefits for our sales
and marketing personnel and RMB2.7 million of aiddial bank fees for processing bank card paymeatsially offset by a
decrease of RMB2.0 million of marketing and prornél expenses. Our selling and marketing expersagarcentage of net
revenues decreased from 4.6% in 2009 to 4.1% i0..

General and administrative expensé3ur general and administrative expenses increfasetRMB83.7 million in 2009 to
RMB120.0 million in 2010, primarily due to our erg@d business network and increased professionatsdees associated with
our becoming a public company. Our general and aidinative expenses as a percentage of net revamresased from 6.6% in
2009 to 6.9% in 201(

Pre-opening expenseur preepening expenses increased from RMB37.8 millioadf9 to RMB111.2 million in 2010, primari
due to our accelerated expansion of leased-andxtguehotels. We opened 70 leased-apdrated hotels in 2010, compared witt
in 2009 and we had 69 leased-and-operated hotdkr ulevelopment as of December 31, 2010, compar2tl &s of December 31,
2009. Our pr-opening expenses as a percentage of net reverareased from 3.0% in 2009 to 6.4% in 20

Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income figmerations of RMB256.3 million in 2010 comparedrtcome
from operations of RMB76.4 million in 2009.

Interest Income (Expense), N&ur net interest income was RMB13.2 million inlR0Our interest income was RMB15.9 million in
2010, and our interest expense was RMB4.1 millRMB1.4 million of which was capitalized in connextiwith leasehold improvements. We
had net interest expense of RMB6.9 million in 2008r interest income was RMB1.9 million in 2009dar interest expense was RMB10.4
million, RMB1.6 million of which was capitalized iconnection with leasehold improvements. The iregéda interest income from 2009 to
2010 was primarily due to interest earned on ansrwaised from our initial public offering in Mar@®10. The decrease in interest expense
from 2009 to 2010 was primary due to our reduceddvang.
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Other income Our other income was RMB2.6 million in 2010, pairity attributable to reimbursements received fittvn depositary of
our ADSs for certain expenses incurred by us ipgesof the ADR program established pursuant talgposit agreement. Our other income
for 2009 was nil.

Foreign Exchange Gain (LossWe had foreign exchange gain of RMB6.9 millior2DBil0 compared to foreign exchange loss of
RMB59,677 in 2009. Our foreign exchange gain in@@&s primarily attributable to our effective fageiexchange management in light of the
RMB appreciation. The foreign exchange losses BB20as primarily due to the devaluation against RdBertain foreign currencies in
which a portion of our cash was denominated.

Tax ExpenseOur tax expenses increased from RMB18.0 millim2009 to RMB57.3 million in 2010, primarily duea&a increase in our
income before income taxes from RMB69.4 millior2®09 to RMB279.1 million in 2010. Our effective teate decreased from 25.9% in 2009
to 20.5% in 2010, primarily due to the effect dfelient tax rate of group entities operating inestlurisdictions and a decrease in the valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Intere®et income attributable to noncontrolling inténepresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity éstan the leased-and-operated hotels owned bjpititeventures. Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interest decreased from RMB8.9 millin 2009 to RMB6.0 million in 2010, primarily dte our acquisition of noncontrolling
interest in our majority-owned joint ventures inlP0

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, lted. As a result of the foregoing, we had net incomtigbaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB215.8 million in 2010 compartxinet income attributable to China Lodging Groumited of RMB42.5 million
incurred in 2009.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteEBITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB447.2 million in 2010ompared with EBITDA
of RMB214.9 million in 2009. This change was priihadue to the enhanced profitability of our mathietels, the expansion of our hotel
network and the favorable impact of the ShanghaicEAdjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels (non-GAPNRcreased from RMB260.7
million in 2009 to RMB571.6 million in 2010.

Outstanding Indebtedness

In September 2008, we entered into a three-yeditdexility with the Industrial and Commercial Banf China under which we can
borrow up to RMB172.0 million during the term o&tfacility. As of December 31, 2009, we had fullpdn down the facility and repaid
RMB35.0 million. In February 2010, we repaid theneening RMB137.0 million. The weighted average iat rates were 5.72% and 5.4% for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, resggc€Certain commercial properties owned by ListPaoperty (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., an
entity controlled by Mr. Qi Ji, our founder and exéive chairman, are pledged to secure such dadlity. This credit facility expired in
September 2011.

In January 2010, we entered into a credit facilitth the Industrial and Commercial Bank of Chinalenwhich we can borrow up to
RMB150.0 million by September 2011. Principal paptseare due on each anniversary date with the anpayable being dependent upon
amounts previously borrowed against the facilitg. gk December, 31, 2010, we had drawn down thetdeedlity of RMB70.0 million and
repaid RMB70.0 million and had available creditiligcof RMB80.0 for future borrowing. The weightexverage interest rate for borrowings
drawn under such credit was 4.86% for the year eémcember 31, 2010. We did not draw down thisitfadility during the year ended
December 31, 2011. This credit facility is not atdralized. This credit facility was expired in S8apber 2011.

In March 2012, we entered into a credit facilitttwihe Industrial and Commercial Bank of China unakich we can draw down up to
RMB500.0 million by May 21, 2015 with the final trehe of repayment due in March 2017. The intemstfor each draw down is established
on the draw-down date and is adjusted annuallyedas the loan interest rate stipulated by the R&pank of China for the corresponding
period. As of April 12, 2012, we had not drawn dathis credit facility.
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5.B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity have been odes# preferred shares, ordinary shares and cableriotes through private placements,
our initial public offering, borrowings from PRC mmnercial banks and cash generated from operatiingtess. Our cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash on hand and liquid investments lwhave maturities of three months or less whenisedjand are unrestricted as to withdre
or use. As of December 31, 2011, we had enterecbinding contracts with lessors of 93 propert@sdur leased-and-operated hotels under
development. As of December 31, 2011, we expectéucur approximately RMB942.4 million of capitalgenditures in connection with
certain recently completed leasehold improvememdsta fund the leasehold improvements of thesee88dd-anadperated hotels. We intend
fund this planned expansion with our operating dash and our cash balance.

We have been able to meet our working capital nesetswe believe that we will be able to meet oarking capital needs in the
foreseeable future with our operating cash flow exidting cash balance.

The following table sets forth a summary of ourtclisws for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 296,34 469,12t 458,74( 72,88
Net cash used in investing activiti (256,02 (515,310) (734,57) (116,71
Net cash provided by financing activiti 47,06: 845,83 13,83¢ 2,19¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casaénts (36) (10,179 (16,467 (2,61¢€)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 87,34: 789,48( (278,46¢) (44,244
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe 183,24¢ 270,58 1,060,06 168,42¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 270,58 1,060,06 781,60: 124,18:

Operating Activities

Prior to January 1, 2009, we have financed ouratpey activities primarily through cash generatenhf financing activities and
operations. In 2009, 2010 and 2011, we financedparating activities primarily through cash geteddrom operations. We currently
anticipate that we will be able to meet our needsihd operations in the next twelve months witkraping cash flow and existing cash
balances.

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumbedMB458.7 million in 2011, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of
RMB118.1 million in 2011, (ii) an add-back of RMB23 million in depreciation and amortization in 204ii) an add-back of RMB92.9
million in deferred rent because rental accruea atraight-line basis exceeded rental paid outioftontractual liabilities and (iv) an increase
of RMB92.8 million in deferred revenue primarilytrétutable to one-time membership fees in conneatidh our HanTing Club loyalty
program as well as advances received from customargally offset by an increase of RMB75.8 million prepaid rent and an increase of
RMB35.7 million in deferred taxes.

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumte®MB469.1 million in 2010, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of
RMB221.8 million in 2010, (ii) an add-back of RMBIL® million in depreciation and amortization in BQLii) an add-back of RMB70.8
million in deferred rent because rental accrued straightline basis exceeded rental paid out of our conteddiability, and (iv) an increase
RMB42.3 million in deferred revenue primarily dbitable to one-time membership fees in connectibim @ur HanTing Club loyalty program
as well as advances received from customers, [hadifset by an increase of RMB82.6 million in jagd rent.

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumbeMB296.3 million in 2009, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of RMB51.4
million in 2009, (ii) an add-back of RMB145.6 mdl in depreciation and amortization in 2009, @) increase of RMB42.6 million in
deferred revenues primarily attributable to oneetimembership fees in connection with our HanTingbQbyalty program as well as initial
franchise-and-management fees paid by our franebised (iv) an add-back of RMB36.6 million in deéel rent because rental accrued on a
straight-line basis exceeded rental paid out ofcomtractual liability.
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Investing Activities

Our cash used in investing activities is primaréated to our leasehold improvements and purcbfsguipment and fixtures used in
leased-and-operated hotels. In 2009, 2010 and 204 &xperienced net cash outflows from investirtgy#ies.

Net cash used in investing activities increasethfRMB515.3 million in 2010 to RMB734.6 million ir021, primarily due to (i) an
increase in our purchases of property and equipfremt RMB397.3 million in 2010 to RMB768.8 million 2011 as a result of our acceler:
expansion of our leased-angerated hotel network and (ii) an increase inamquisitions, net of cash received from RMB9.7 inillin 2010 t
RMB57.8 million in 2011, partially offset by a dease in our purchase of short-term investments RMB430.0 million in 2010 to RMB30.0
million in 2011.

Net cash used in investing activities increasethfRIMB256.0 million in 2009 to RMB515.3 million irD20, primarily due to an increase
in our purchases of property and equipment asudtrelsour accelerated expansion of hotel netwamka a net increase of RMB100.0 millior
our purchase of short-term investments in conneatiith held-to-maturity securities.

Financing Activities
Our major financing activities since 2009 considbans with PRC commercial banks and our initiablc offering in 2010.

Net cash provided by financing activities decredsech RMB845.8 million in 2010 to RMB13.8 milliomi2011. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 2011 primarily consisted(g§fexcess tax benefit from share-based compemsatithe amount of RMB8.3 million,
(i) proceeds of RMB7.3 million from issuance oflarary shares upon exercise of options and (ingiiadvanced from noncontrolling
shareholders in the amount of RMB3.5 million, gallyi offset by the dividend paid to noncontrollimderest holders in the amount of RMB3.2
million and the repayment of funds advanced fromammtrolling shareholders in the amount of RMB2 iGiom.

Net cash provided by financing activities increaecth RMB47.1 million in 2009 to RMB845.8 milliomi2010. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 2010 primarily consisted(gfproceeds of RMB959.1 million from our initiplblic offering in 2010, (ii) long-term debt
borrowed in the amount of RMB70.0 million in 202d&(iii) net proceeds from issuance of ordinaryreBaipon exercise of option in the
amount of RMB41.1 million in 2010, partially offskey the repayment of RMB207.0 million of our lorgrn debt in 2010.

Restrictions on Cash Transfers to Us

We are a holding company with no material operatioihour own. We conduct our operations primatilotigh our subsidiaries in Chit
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon divideaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdelst on their own behalf in the future, the instamts governing their debt may restrict their
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy ol of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicab&ntities incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriations fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reservads. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, i) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsoand welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund recgiae annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@s determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaaln-gad); the other fund appropriations are at thisisliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for the specific purposes of priger expansion, staff bonus and welfare, and atréistributable as cash dividends. In
addition, due to restrictions on the distributidrsbare capital from our PRC subsidiaries, theeskapital of our PRC subsidiaries is consid:
restricted. As a result of the PRC laws and reguriat as of December 31, 2011, approximately RMB3.8 million was not available for
distribution to us by our PRC subsidiaries in thenf of dividends, loans, or advances.
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Furthermore, under regulations of the SAFE, therRehi is not convertible into foreign currencies éapital account items, such as
loans, repatriation of investments and investmeatside of China, unless the prior approval of #d-E is obtained and prior registration with
the SAFE is made.

The new EIT Law provides that enterprises estabtisbutside of China whose “de facto managementelsbdire located in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” Currently, theeno detailed rules or precedents governingitbheedures and specific criteria for
determining “de facto management body.” See “ltdmAldditional Information — E. Taxation — PRC Tabeeat.”

The new EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10%dridends distributed by a foreign-invested entisgpto its immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterpmstiout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have momection with the establishment or place of smumédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictbincorporation has a tax treaty with China tetvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, famegle, are subject to a 5% withholding tax ratee Tayman Islands, where we are
incorporated, does not have such a tax treaty @litima. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidgin China may be subject to the 10%
withholding tax if we are considered a “non-residemterprise” under the new EIT Law.

The new EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enisgs” are generally subject to the uniform 25% gmise income tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated &R&L “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apdnt on our effective tax rate and an adverse effieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ BRidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the new EIT Law to a PEJlent recipient.

We do not expect any of such restrictions or tagdsgave a material impact on our ability to meet@ash obligations.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were incurred primarilgdémnection with leasehold improvements, investsénfurniture, fixtures and
equipment and technology, information and operaligoftware. Our capital expenditures totaled RM&82million, RMB568.6 million and
RMB919.5 million in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respedtiv®ur capital expenditures in 2011 consist ofraarease in the amount of RMB906.3
million in property and equipment and an increasthe amount of RMB13.2 million in software. Theri@ase in property and equipment
included primarily our capital expenditures asstadavith new hotels opened in 2011 and hotelsistitler development by the end of 2011, as
well as capital expenditure associated with thevation of our hotels in operation. We will contento make capital expenditures to meet the
expected growth of our operations and expect osin balance and cash generated from our operatiivitias will meet our capital expenditt
needs in the foreseeable future.

5.C. Research and Development, Patents and Licensetc.
Hotel Information Platform and Operational Systems

We have successfully developed and implementedhaanaed operating platform capable of supportingnationwide operations. This
operating platform enables us to increase theieffy of our operations and make timely decisiditne following is a description of our key
information and management systems.

Web property management system (Web-PNI&B)y Web-PMS is a web-based, centralized apptingtiat integrates all the critical
operational information in our hotel network. Thisstem enables us to manage our room inventorgrwaisons and pricing for all of our hot
on a real-time basis. The system is designed tblene to enhance our profitability and competeevedfectively by integrating with our
central reservation system and customer relatipnsiinagement system. We believe our Web-PMS enablesanagement to more
effectively assess the performance of our hotela timely basis and to efficiently allocate res@srand effectively identify specific market
sales targets.
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Central reservation systefe have a real-time central reservation systemaai24 hours a day, seven days a week. Our ¢entra
reservation system allows reservations throughiptelthannels including our website, call centeirdt-party travel agents and online
reservation partners. The real-time inventory manant capability of the system improves the efficieof reservations, enhances customer
satisfaction and maximizes our profitability.

Customer relationship management (CRM) syst@ur integrated CRM system maintains informatibouwr HanTing Club members,
including reservation and consumption history aatigsn, points accumulated and redeemed, and pregayand balance. By closely tracking
and monitoring member information and behavioraneable to better serve the members of our loyatigram and offer targeted promotions
to enhance customer loyalty. The CRM system alsovalus to monitor the performance of our corpoddient sales representatives.

Internet service system (HTOnling)ur Internet service system HTOnline consistswfwebsite (www.htinns.com), our mobile website
(m.htinns.com) and our mobile apps for smart phanesing iOS or Android systems. HTOnline proviges HanTing Club members and the
general public with convenient, friendly and updegervices, including information and search sewior HanTing hotels, including location,
amenities and pricing, reservation services, mestiygregistration and management and member contyrgarivices. Our mobile apps also
provide location based services, including seaethices for nearby HanTing hotels.

Intellectual Property

We regard our trademarks, copyrights, domain natrede secrets and other intellectual propertytsigis critical to our business. We
rely on a combination of copyright and trademark, leade secret protection and confidentiality agnents with our employees, lecturers,
business partners and others, to protect our éutieihl property rights.

As of December 31, 2011, we have registered 4&inadks and logos with the China Trademark Offidee frademarks and logos used
in our current hotels are under protection of #gistered trademarks and logos. An additional 83amark applications are under review by
the authority. We have also registered one tradeiagach of Singapore, Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kémgddition, we have registered 25
national and international top-level domain nanreduding www.htinns.com and www.hantinghotels.com.

Our intellectual property is subject to risks oéfthand other unauthorized use, and our abilifgradect our intellectual property from
unauthorized use is limited. In addition, we mayshbject to claims that we have infringed the Ietglial property rights of others. See “ltem
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Rethte Our Business — Failure to protect our tradésmand other intellectual property
rights could have a negative impact on our brartlaatversely affect our business.”

5.D. Trend Information

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annpaltewe are not aware of any trends, uncertaintiesrands, commitments or events
since January 1, 2011 that are reasonably likehate a material adverse effect on our net revemuesme, profitability, liquidity or capital
resources, or that caused the disclosed finanmdiaimation to be not necessarily indicative of feteperating results or financial conditions.

5.E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than operating lease and purchase obligasieinforth in the table under “Item 5. Operating &mancial Review and Prospects —
F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligationsg have not entered into any financial guaranteesheer commitments to guarantee the
payment obligations of any third parties. We hawgeentered into any derivative contracts that adexed to our shares and classified as
shareholder’s equity, or that are not reflectedunconsolidated financial statements. Furtherm@eego not have any retained or contingent
interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidaéty that serves as credit, liquidity or martisk support to such entity. We do not have any
variable interest in any unconsolidated entity fratvides financing, liquidity, market risk or ciegdupport to us or engages in leasing, hedging
or research and development services with us.
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5.F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contractual ghtions as of December 31, 2011:

Payment Due in the year ending December 3 Pa%/um:nt
Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter
(In RMB millions)
Operating Lease Obligatiol 10,13( 84C 894 91t 914 891 5,67¢
Purchase Obligatior 11C 11C — — — — —
Total 10,24( 95C 894 91t 914 891 5,67¢

Our operating lease obligations related to ourgattions under lease agreements with lessors deased-and-operated hotels. Our
purchase obligations primarily consisted of corttraccommitments in connection with leasehold inwerents and installation of equipment
for our leased-and-operated hotels.

5.G. Safe Harbor

This annual report on Form 20-F contains forwamking statements that are based on our managenbatiess and assumptions and on
information currently available to us. These staets relate to future events or to our future faiahperformance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors tiay cause our or our industry’s actual resuitgells of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from anyfa results, levels of activity, performance dniagements expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statateénclude, but are not limited to, statementsu&bo

* our anticipated growth strategies, including depilg new hotels at desirable locations in a tineglyg cos-effective mannet
» our future business development, results of opmratand financial conditiol

» expected changes in our revenues and certain cegpense item

» our ability to attract customers and leverage gant; anc

» trends and competition in the lodging indus

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookindesteents by terms such as “may, plan,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “pmict,” “potential,” “future,” “is/are likely to,” ‘project” or “continue” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology. These stam¢srare only predictions. You should not placeuenetliance on forward-looking
statements because they involve known and unknsks, uncertainties and other factors, which aresoime cases, beyond our control and
which could materially affect results. Factors thmaty cause actual results to differ materially fraumrent expectations include, among other
things, those listed under “Item 3. Key InformatienD. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annupbre If one or more of these risks or
uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assummgiprove to be incorrect, actual events or resoi#tg vary significantly from those implied or
projected by the forward-looking statements. Nevind-looking statement is a guarantee of futuréoperance.

could,” “will,”Heuld,” “would,” “expect,

The forward-looking statements made in this annejdrt relate only to events or information ashaf tlate on which the statements are
made in this annual report. We undertake no olitigab update any forwarlboking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the da
on which the statements are made or to reflecbticerrence of unanticipated events.
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
6.A. Directors and Senior Management

The following table sets forth the name, age arsitjpm of each of our directors and executive @fficas of the date of this annual report.
The business address of all of our directors aeduive officers is No. 2266 Honggiao Road, Changmistrict, Shanghai 200336, People’s
Republic of China.

Directors and Executive Officers Age Position/Title

QiJi 45 Founder, Executive Chairman of the Board of Direst€hief Executive Office
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan 46 Vice Chairman of the Board of Directc

John Jiong Wi 44  Cc-founder, Independent Direct

Tongtong Zhac 45 Co-founder, Independent Direct

Min Fan 46 Director

Yan Huanc 44 Independent Directc

Joseph Chov 50 Independent Directc

Min (Jenny) Zhan( 38 Chief Financial Office

Yunhang Xie 43 Chief Operating Office

Qi Jiis our founder and has also served as the exeahiaieman of our board since February 2007. He s¢seed as our chief executive
officer from 2007 to August 2009 and returned ts tiole in January 2012. He co-founded Home Inriddiels Management Inc., or Home
Inns, and served as its chief executive officemfizanuary 2001 to January 2005. He alséocoded Ctrip.com International, Ltd., or Ctrip,e
of the largest online travel services provider€mina, in 1999, acted as its chief executive offared president until December 2001, and
currently serves on Ctrip’s board as an independieattor. Prior to founding Ctrip, Mr. Ji was tblief executive officer of Shanghai
Sunflower High-Tech Group, which he founded in 199& headed the East China Division of Beijing Zgjlwna Yinghua Intelligence System
Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Ji received boib Kaster’'s and Bachelor’'s degrees from Shanghai Jong University.

Tuo (Matthew) Zhanbas served as our vice chairman of our board sianaary 2012 and as our consultant since March. 24 21so
served as our chief executive officer from Augud2to February 2012. From October 2007 througi 2009, he was our chief operating
officer. He has more than 16 years of working ebgree with multinational companies in senior mamaget capacities and has accumulated
extensive knowledge in chain management and nadttlon management. Prior to joining us in 2007sérmed as the co-founder and the
General Manager of Shanghai 1JIAS Technology Cil,, lan e-commerce company specializing in homeorgment products, from 2005 to
2007. He served as the Vice President of Saled/mmkleting of Zhejiang Kasen Industrial Co., Limiteth upholstery manufacturer, from 2(
to 2005. Mr. Zhang also served as the Vice Presiole®@Bl Management Systems (China) Co., Ltd. ddGeneral Manager of OBI Asia
Trade and Lux International (Shanghai) Co., Ltdeaman-based retail chain of home improvement naddenith a national retail network in
China, from 2002 to 2004. Prior to that, Mr. Zhamgrked at Haworth, Inc., PepsiCo, Inc. and Xeroxgoaation. Mr. Zhang received his
Bachelor’s degree in Management Administration fishanghai Jiao Tong University.

John Jiong Wy a co-founder of our company, has served as oectdr since January 2007. He has served as theiNeRartner of
Northern Light Venture Capital since 2007 and wasuwagel investor and the Chief Technology OfficeAlibaba Group from 2000 to 200
Prior to joining Alibaba Group, he worked as anieagr or manager in several companies in the Sili¢alley, including Oracle and Yahoo!
Inc. Mr. Wu received his Bachelor of Science in Qoiter Science degree from the University of Michiga

Tongtong Zhag a cofounder of our company, has served as our diresith@e February 2007. She also serves as a membie bbard ¢
directors of China Education & Technology Group lted. She was the General Manager of Shanghai Pesigy Health Technology
Development Co., Ltd. from 2004 to 2006, the Gelndianager of Shanghai Hong Ying Hi-Tech Co., Ltdbnfi 1999 to 2001, and the Deputy
General Manager of Shanghai Xie Cheng Science antinblogy Co., Ltd. from 1997 to 1998. Ms. Zhacereed her Master of Science deg
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University and obtainedMiaster of Business Administration degree from MtGniversity.
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Min Fanhas served as our director since March 2010. ldagsof the co-founders of Ctrip and has servedtsashief executive officer
since January 2006, as its director since Octob@é 2nd as its president since February 2009. kir.derved as Ctrip’s chief operating officer
from November 2004 to January 2006. Prior to thatserved as its executive vice president from 200@0vember 2004. From 1997 to 2000,
Mr. Fan was the chief executive officer of Shandghaivel Service Company, a leading domestic tragehcy in China. From 1990 to 1997,
served as the deputy general manager and in a mwhbther senior positions at Shanghai New AsigeHblanagement Company, which was
one of the leading hotel management companies imaCh addition to his positions at Ctrip, Mr. Feurrently serves on the boards and
compensation committees of PerfectEnergy Internatjd_td., ChinaEdu Corporation. Mr. Fan receivéisiMaster’'s and Bachelor’'s degrees
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University. He also studiethe Lausanne Hotel Management School of Svatzernn 1995.

Yan Huanghas served as our independent director since Ji0ié Ple has been a Managing General Partner of €&tiures since 2006
and was an Associated Director of Intel Capitairfre004 to 2005. Mr. Huang received his Bacheloggrde in Computer Science from
Zhejiang University.

Joseph Chovinas over 18 years of experience in corporate fi@afirtancial advisory and management. Mr. Chowisently a managing
director of Moelis and Company and was previoustyamaging director at Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLP ketw2008 and 2009. Prior to that
served as an independent financial consultant #0866 to 2008, as chief financial officer of Harldgtworks Limited from 2005 to 2006, and
as chief financial officer of China Netcom (Holds)gdCompany Limited from 2001 to 2004. Prior to i\t. Chow served as the director of
strategic planning of Bombardier Capital, Inc.yvE® president of international operations of Giigp and as the corporate auditor of GE
Capital. Mr. Chow is currently a director of Syrautnternational, Inc., a company listed on Nasdagl, of Intime Department Store (Group)
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Excharfgéamg Kong. Mr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Areggdee in political science from the
Nanjing Institute of International Relations aniflaster of Business Administration degree from tleb&t H. Smith School of Business at
University of Maryland at College Park.

Min (Jenny) Zhangpas served as our chief financial officer since 8h&2008 and the Executive Vice President of Findrara Septemb
2007. She has more than 11 years of experiendgeande and consulting. Prior to joining us, sheasgas the Finance Director of Eli Lilly
(Asia) Inc., Thailand Branch. She also worked prasly with McKinsey & Company, Inc. as a consultant ASIMCO Casting (Beijing)
Company, Ltd. as the Chief Financial Officer. Mbarg has served on the board as a director fort&ymiernational, Inc since February
2011. She obtained her Master of Business Admatisti degree from Harvard Business School andveddioth Master’'s and Bachelor’'s
degrees from the University of International Busgand Economics.

Yunhang Xidas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincdl2®12. He has more than 16 years of working elepee in the IT
industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Xie held sevelahdership roles in Digital China Networks Cogd.l.or DCN, a leading network equipment
and solutions provider, since 2000. He acted aef@éManager of DCN from 2005 to 2012, formulataugporate development strategy and
managing day-to-day operations. Prior to that, Xle. served as Deputy General Manager at the netdioigion of Lenovo Science and
Technology Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Xie receiveMaster of Business Administration degree from Clgeldong Graduate School of
Business, and a Bachelor’'s degree of engineerorg 8hanghai Jiaotong University.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into an employment agreement with ef our named executive officers. Each of oumexh executive officers is
employed for a specified time period, which will fgtomatically extended unless either we or theathexecutive officer gives prior notice to
terminate such employment. We may terminate thd@mpent for cause, at any time, without noticeemuneration, for certain acts, includ
but not limited to the conviction of a criminal effce and negligent or dishonest acts to our detitirdenamed executive officer may terminate
his or her employment at any time with a one-manmtbr written notice.
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Each named executive officer has agreed to holth, daring and after the termination or expiry o br her employment agreement, in
strict confidence, and not to use, except as reduir the performance of his or her duties in catine with the employment, any of our
confidential information or trade secrets or thafaential or proprietary information of any thiparty received by us and for which we have
confidential obligations. In addition, each nam&daitive officer has agreed to be bound by non-eitipn restrictions. Specifically, each
named executive officer has agreed not to, duris@hher employment with us and for a period o tgears following his or her termination
with our company, be engaged as employee or irhanggpacity to participant directly or indirecityany business that is in competition with
ours. Each named executive officer also agreesrmply with all material applicable laws and regigas related to his or her responsibilitie:
our company as well as all material written corp@@nd business policies and procedures of our anyp

6.B. Compensation

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, theeggte cash compensation and benefits that wegaidr directors and executive
officers were approximately RMB7.2 million. No p&g retirement or similar benefits have been se&teaor accrued for our executive offic
or directors. We have no service contracts with@yur directors providing for benefits upon temaion of employment.

Share Incentive Plans

In February 2007, our board of directors and oareholders adopted our 2007 Global Share Plartracaind retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsihito provide additional incentives to selectecbtyees, directors, and consultants and to
promote the success of our business. Our 2007 GBitzae Plan was subsequently amended in Decerib&r Zen million ordinary shares
may be issued under our amended and restated 200@l&hare Plan, or the Amended and Restated R&0V

In June 2007, our board of directors and our sttddelns adopted our 2008 Global Share Plan witts#ime purpose as our 2007 Global
Share Plan. Our 2008 Global Share Plan was substyaeended in October 2008. Seven million ordjretrares may be issued under our
amended and restated 2008 Global Share Plan, émieaded and Restated 2008 Plan.

In September 2009, our board of directors and bareholders adopted our 2009 Share Incentive Pilinpwrrposes similar to our 2007
Global Share Plan and 2008 Global Share Plan. Q@@ Share Incentive Plan was subsequently amendedtober 2009 and August 2010.
Fifteen million ordinary shares may be issued umdgramended 2009 Share Incentive Plan, or the AegAa009 Plan.

Plan Administration The compensation committee appointed by our badnginisters all of our share incentive plans. ®irJi has been
delegated the authority to grant, in his sole @isan, option and restricted stock to be issuedceuodr share incentive plans to any of our
employees and consultants. The aggregate numiséiaoés covered by any single grant he makes shtadixeeed 500,000 ordinary shares.

Types of AwardsThe following briefly describes the principal feees of the various awards that may be granteémmgr Amended an
Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans.

» Options. Each option agreement must specify the exercise.prhe exercise price of an option must notdss than 100% of the
fair market value of the underlying shares on tpgom grant date, and a higher percentage mayderesl. The term of an option
granted under the Amended and Restated 2007 ar@lR216s must not exceed ten years from the dateptien is granted, and a
shorter term may be require

» Share Purchase Right# share purchase right is a right to purchasicesd stock. Each share purchase right undeAthended
and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans must be evidegaedestricted stock purchase agreement betwegouttthaser and us. The
purchase price will be determined by the administra’ he share purchase rights will automaticalgiee if not exercised by the
purchaser within 30 days after the grant d
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The following briefly describes the principal feggs of the various awards that may be granted unasteAmended 2009 Plan:

» Options. The purchase price per share under an optiorbeitletermined by a committee appointed by ourdaad set forth in tt
award agreement. The term of an option grantedrthéeAmended 2009 Plan must not exceed ten yearsthe grant date, and a
shorter term may be require

» Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock U. An award of restricted stock is a grant of outieary shares subject to restrictions the
committee appointed by our board may impose. Aimtetl stock unit is a contractual right that isdeinated in our ordinary
shares, each of which represents a right to re¢b&galue of a share or a specified percentageaf value upon the terms and
conditions set forth in the Amended 2009 Plan &edapplicable award agreeme

» Other Stock-based Award3he committee is authorized to grant other stoaked awards that are denominated or payable in or
otherwise related to our ordinary shares suchak stppreciation rights and rights to dividends dividlend equivalents. Terms ¢
conditions of such awards will be determined byabmmittee appointed by our board. Unless the asvard granted in substituti
for outstanding awards previously granted by aityetitat we acquired or combined, the value ofd¢besideration for the ordinary
shares to be purchased upon the exercise of suatidawhall not be less than the fair market vafubeunderlying ordinary shares
on the grant datt

Vesting ScheduleAs of the date of this annual report, we havemat into option agreements and restricted stoctdagreements
respectively under our Amended and Restated 2002@08 Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan. Pursuanirttypical option agreement, 50%
of the options granted shall vest on the seconivarsary of the vesting commencement date spedifidkde corresponding option agreement,
and 1/48 of the options shall vest each month #gfereover the next two years on the first dayadtemonth, subject to the optionee’s
continuing to provide services to us. Pursuantitheestricted stock award agreement, 50% of tteiceed stock granted shall vest on the
second anniversary of the vesting commencementsgeaiefied in the corresponding restricted stockrahagreement, and 1/8 of the restricted
stock shall vest each six-month period thereafter the next two years on the last day of eachrsixth period, subject to the grantee’s
continuing to provide services to us.

Termination of the Amended and Restated 2007 a@#l Ptans and the Amended 2009 Pl&@ur Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008
Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan will terminate0h72 2018 and 2019, respectively. Our board ofctlirs may amend, suspend, or termi
our Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans arshuended 2009 Plan at any time. No amendmentadilbe, suspension, or termination
of these plans shall materially and adversely imge rights of any participant with respect tooartstanding award, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the participant and the admatistr

The following tables summarize options and restdctocks that we have granted to our directorseardutive officers and to other
individuals as a group under our share incentiaagl

Ordinary Shares

Underlying Exercise
Options Price

Name Awarded(1) (US$/Share Date of Grant Date of Expiration
Qi Ji 400,00( 1.5Z October 1, 20C October 1, 201
Tongtong Zhac 100,00 1.5z October 1, 20C October 1, 201
John Jiong W1 100,00( 1.5¢ October 1, 20C October 1, 201
Yan Huanc * 1.5 October 1, 20C October 1, 201
Joseph Chov * 3.71 July 20, 201 July 20, 202
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan * 1.40, July 1, 2007 July 1, 2017

1.53 August 3, 200¢ August 3, 201¢

1.5z November 20, 20( November 20, 201
Min (Jenny) Zhan( * 1.40, October 1, 200° October 1, 201

1.5: November 20, 20( November 20, 201
Other individuals as a grot 12,758,65 0.5C-4.7t February 4, 200- July 26, 201 February 4, 201- July 26, 202
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Ordinary Shares Underlying

Name Restricted Stocks Awarded Date of Grant Date of Expiration
Qi Ji 200,000 August 6,201 August 6,2011
Other individuals as a gro 371,825 February 7,201- September 26,20 February 7, 201- September 26,20

* Upon exercise of all options granted, would benaific own less than 1% of our outstanding ordinginares
(1) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of 3Z3&rdinary shares that have been exercised bgic@fficers and options to purch:
an aggregate of 6,017,934 ordinary shares that bxese exercised by certain employe

6.C. Board Practices
General

Our board of directors currently consists of sedeactors. Under our amended and restated memonaadd articles of association,
which came into effect upon our initial public affeg, our board of directors shall consist of astetwo directors. Our directors shall be ele:
by the holders of ordinary shares. There is noedt@ding requirement for qualification to serveaamember of our board of directors.

Our board of directors may exercise all the poveéithe company to borrow money, mortgage or chésgendertaking, property and
uncalled capital, and issue debentures, debertinrk and other securities whenever money is bordooveas security for any debt, liability or
obligation of the company or of any third party.

We believe that each of Ms. Tongtong Zhao, Mr. Jdibng Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang arratependent director” as
that term is used in NASDAQ corporate governanéesru

Duties of Directors

Under Cayman Islands law, our directors have a diitgyalty to act honestly in good faith with a&ew to our best interests. Our direct
also have a duty to exercise the skill they acgyatissess and such care and diligence that a r@aggrudent person would exercise in
comparable circumstances. In fulfilling their dutfiycare to us, our directors must ensure compliavittour memorandum and articles of
association.

Terms of Directors and Executive Officers

Each of our directors holds office until a successs been duly elected and qualified. All of oxeautive officers are appointed by and
serve at the discretion of our board of directors.

Board Committees

We have established two committees under the hafattectors — the audit committee and the compéms@ommittee. Each
committee’s members and functions are describesi\béNe currently do not plan to establish a noniimtatommittee. As a foreign private
issuer, we are permitted to follow home countrypooate governance practices under Rule 5615(a){BedNASDAQ Marketplace Rules. Tl
home country practice of ours differs from Rule 5@&) of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules regarding iempéntation of a nominating
committee, because there are no specific requiresmerder Cayman Islands law on the establishmeatafminating committee. We have
adopted a charter for each of the board committees.
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Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of three directorspelg Mr. John Jiong Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yarang. All of these three
directors satisfy the “independence” requirement® NASDAQ Global Select Market and the Secusis@d Exchange Commission, or the
SEC regulations. In addition, our board of direstibas determined that Mr. Joseph Chow is quald&gdn audit committee financial expert
within the meaning of the SEC regulations. The calinmittee oversees our accounting and finanejadnting processes and the audits of the
financial statements of our company. The audit c@temis responsible for, among other things:

» selecting the independent auditors anc-approving all auditing and n-auditing services permitted to be performed by
independent auditor

» setting clear hiring policies for employees or fememployees of the independent audit

» reviewing with the independent auditors any authbfems or difficulties and managem’s response
* reviewing and approving all proposed rele-party transaction:

» discussing the annual audited financial statemeittsmanagement and the independent audi

» discussing with management and the independentoaisisihajor issues regarding accounting principtesfaancial statement
presentations

* reviewing reports prepared by management or thepieddent auditors relating to significant financédorting issues ar
judgments

* reviewing with management and the independent argditlate-party transactions and ebalance sheet transactions and struct
* reviewing with management and the independent aigdibe effect of regulatory and accounting inikies and actions

* reviewing policies with respect to risk assessnagct risk managemer

» reviewing our disclosure controls and procedurekiaternal control over financial reportin

» timely reviewing reports from the independent amditregarding all critical accounting policies gnectices to be used by ¢
company, all alternative treatments of financidérmation within GAAP that have been discussed winagement and all other
material written communications between the indelpahauditors and manageme

» establishing procedures for the receipt, retendiot treatment of complaints received from our eyg¥s regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matterd #re confidential, anonymous submission by ourleyges of concerns regardi
guestionable accounting or auditing matt

» annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacyradudit committee charte
» such other matters that are specifically delegaielir audit committee by our board of directorsrirtime to time; an
* meeting separately, periodically, with managemiat,internal auditors and the independent audi

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Mr. JohngI&wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang. All adgh three directors satisfy 1
“independence” requirements of NASDAQ Marketplae#gelR and the SEC regulations. Our compensation dtteaassists the board in
reviewing and approving the compensation struabdfi@ur directors and executive officers, includalbforms of compensation to be provided
to our directors and executive officers. The conga¢ion committee is responsible for, among othieigt
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* reviewing and approving the compensation for oni®eexecutives

* reviewing and evaluating our executive compensatimh benefits policies general

» reporting to our board of directors periodica

» evaluating its own performance and reporting tolmard of directors on such evaluati

» periodically reviewing and assessing the adequétyeocompensation committee charter and recommgratiy proposed changes
to our board of directors; at

» such other matters that are specifically delegaietie compensation committee by our board of trsdrom time to time

6.D. Employees

We had 6,181, 7,801 and 10,694 employees as ofriime31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Asaxfdinber 31, 2011, 4,698 of «
employees were contracted through third-party hureaources companies. We recruit and directly twmaih manage all of our employees. We
believe that we maintain a good working relatiopshith our employees and we have not experiencgaigmificant labor disputes. Our
employees have not entered into any collectivediaingg agreements.

6.E. Share Ownership

The following table sets forth information with pest to the beneficial ownership, within the megrif Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act, of our ordinary shares, as of April 1, 2012 by

» each of our directors and executive officers;
» each person known to us to own beneficially moeath% of our ordinary share
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordandh wie rules of the Securities and Exchange Coniomissnd includes voting or

investment power with respect to the ordinary shaescept as indicated below, and subject to aplpliccommunity property laws, the pers
named in the table have sole voting and investpewer with respect to all ordinary shares showheeeficially owned by them.

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned(1)

Number %
Directors and Executive Officers:
Qi Ji 114,607,84¢2) 47.C
Tongtong Zhac 36,469,3043) 15.C
John Jiong Wi 9,633,33. 4.C
Min Fan 22,049,44(4) 9.1
Yan Huanc — —
Joseph Chov — —
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan * *
Min (Jenny) Zhan( *
Yunhang Xie — —
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Grc 151,734,54(5) 62.:
Principal Shareholder
Winner Crown Holdings Limite: 79,607,84(6) 32.7
East Leader International Limite 36,469,3047) 15.C
Ctrip.com International, Ltc 22,049,44(8) 9.1

* Less than 1%
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(1)

2)

3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

The number of ordinary shares outstanding in catow the percentages for each listed person ampgircludes the ordinary shai
underlying options held by such person or groug@sable within 60 days after April 1, 2012. Pertegge of beneficial ownership of ec
listed person or group is based on (i) 243,616d¥dthary shares outstanding as of April 1, 2012luding 829,943 shares of restricted
stock and (ii) the ordinary shares underlying slogttons exercisable by such person within 60 @dies April 1, 2012

Includes (i) 79,607,849 ordinary shares held by MmCrown Holdings Limited, or Winner Crown, a Biit Virgin Islands compan
wholly owned by Sherman Holdings Limited, a Bahamaspany, which is in turn wholly owned by Crediti&e Trust Limited, or CS
Trustee. CS Trustee acts as trustee of the Ji fFdmikt, of which Mr. Qi Ji and his family membease the beneficiaries, (ii) 15,000,000
ordinary shares held by East Leader Internatioiralted, or East Leader, a British Virgin Islandswmany, over which Mr. Ji has voting
power pursuant to a power of attorney dated Fepr2®y 2010, and (iii) 4,000,000 Restricted ADSsespnting 16,000,000 ordinary
shares, 927,326 ADSs representing 3,709,304 ordsteares and 290,696 ordinary shares held by Eastdr, over which Mr. Ji has
voting power pursuant to a power of attorney d#tpdl 10, 2012 East Leader is wholly owned by Petri/ill Holdings Limited, a

British Virgin Islands company, which is in turn @ity owned by Bank Sarasin Nominees (CI) Limiteslnmminee for Sarasin Trust
Company Guernsey Limited, or Sarasin Trust. Sardsist acts as trustee of the Tanya Trust, of wMsh Tongtong Zhao and her
family members, are the beneficiari

Includes 16,760,000 ordinary shares, 4,000,000riRE=xt ADSs representing 16,000,000 ordinary shanels927,326 ADSs representi
3,709,304 ordinary shares held by East LeaderjtsBWirgin Islands company wholly owned by Petfg¢ill Holdings Limited, a
British Virgin Islands company, which is in turn @ity owned by Bank Sarasin Nominees (CI) Limiteslnmminee for Sarasin Trust
Company Guernsey Limited, or Sarasin Trust. SafBsist acts as trustee of the Tanya Trust, of wMsh Tongtong Zhao and her
family members, are the beneficiaries. Ms. Zhabeéssole director of East Lead

Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares thaipdturchased from us, (ii) an aggregate of 11,6846 @f our ordinary shares that Ctrip
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyandited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bivboint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,200 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in ottiairpublic offering. By virtue of
being a director and the chief executive officedl president of Ctrip, Mr. Fan may be deemed to fieialy own an aggregate of
22,049,446 ordinary shares. Mr. Fan disclaims heiaebwnership of the shares beneficially owneddisip except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests therein. Mr. F's business address is 99 Fu Quan Road, Shangl&8%2eopl's Republic of Chine

Includes ordinary shares and ordinary shares issugion exercise of all of the options that arer@gable within 60 days after April
2012 held by all of our directors and executiveceffs as a grouj

Winner Crown is a British Virgin Islands comyanholly owned by Sherman Holdings Limited, a Balasnsompany, which is in turn
wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited, or Tsistee. CS Trustee acts as trustee of the Ji fFamikt, of which Mr. Qi Ji, our
founder and executive chairman, and his family mensibare the beneficiaries. Mr. Ji is the soleatimeof Winner Crown. The address
Winner Crown is Akara Bldg., 24 De Castro Streeichkams Cay |, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgsldnds.

East Leader is a British Virgin Islands comparholly owned by Perfect Will Holdings Limited, aiBsh Virgin Islands company, which
is in turn wholly owned by Bank Sarasin Nomineeh (@mited, as nominee for Sarasin Trust Compangfaeey Limited, or Sarasin
Trust. Sarasin Trust acts as trustee of the Tamyst,Tof which Ms. Tongtong Zhao and her family nibens, are the beneficiaries.

Ms. Zhao is the sole director of East Leader. Tduress of East Leader is P.O. Box 957, Offshorerpmrations Centre, Road Town,
Tortola, British Virgin Islands

Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares that Ctipchased from us, (i) an aggregate of 11,646,9@&uoordinary shares that Ctt
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyandited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bitpoint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,200 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in ottiairpublic offering. Ctrip is a
Cayman Islands company and its address is 99 Fan Road, Shanghai 200335, Pe’s Republic of Chine
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As of April 1, 2012, we had 243,616,078 ordinargras issued and outstanding. To our knowledge,adeohly one record shareholde
the United States, Citibank, N.A., which is the agfary of our ADS program and held approximate3y2%6 of our total outstanding ordinary
shares under our ADS program and the depositaoyiofestricted ADS program and held approximate®#®of our total outstanding ordinary
shares under our restricted ADS program. The numbleeneficial owners of our ADSs in the Unitedt8tais likely to be much larger than the
number of record holders of our ordinary sharehénUnited States.

None of our existing shareholders has differeningptights from other shareholders since the clpsihour initial public offering. We au
not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subsédlate, result in a change of control of our canyp

ITEM7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
7.A. Major Shareholders
Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Managemaad Employees — E. Share Ownership.”

7.B. Related Party Transactions
Private Placements

In August 2009, we issued 2,766,243 ordinary sharagprivate placement at a price of US$1.80427spare. The purchasers include
Winner Crown, which purchased 1,982,509 shares.

Upon the completion of our initial public offeririg March 2010, each Series A convertible prefestegkres and Series B convertible
redeemable preferred shares were converted intnasydshares on a one-to-one basis.

Transactions with Suzhou Property

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofaisiness with Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co.,,lddSuzhou Property, a subsidiary
of Powerhill, which was owned by Mr. Qi Ji and M&ngtong Zhao until January 2010 and was wholly @vby Mr. Qi Ji from January 2010
to August 2011.

Prior to Powerhill's transfer in February 2007 bfcd its ownership interests in HanTing XingkongdaShanghai HanTing to us in
exchange for our preferred shares, Powerhill cotedlits operations through three wholly owned dlibsies in the PRC, namely HanTing
Xingkong, Shanghai HanTing and Suzhou PropertyerAdtich exchange, each of HanTing Xingkong and @ferHanTing became our
wholly owned subsidiary while Suzhou Property rama wholly owned subsidiary of Powerhill. Seertitd. Information on the Company —
A. History and Development of the Company.”

We entered into lease agreements with Suzhou Ryojoelease three hotel buildings owned by Suzhap@ty. We paid rents under
these leases in amounts similar to what an uncetated party would pay for such leases. In 2008 2010, the aggregate amount we paid for
rent to Suzhou Property was RMB3.6 million and RMB8hillion, respectively.

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the equity irgsts in Powerhill to certain third parties. As sule Suzhou Property ceased to be a
related party for us. The aggregate amount we fpaicent to Suzhou Property was RMB2.3 million foe eight-month period ended
August 31, 2011.

Certain commercial buildings of Suzhou Propertyemgledged as collateral to secure our credit fgailith a maximum amount of
RMB172.0 million with the Industrial and Commercizdnk of China in 2008 and 2009.

Transactions with Ctrip

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofwisiness with Ctrip.com International, Ltd. Qirip, an entity in which Mr. Qi Ji,
our founder, is a céounder, shareholder and independent directorp@émdered reservation services to us to faciliarecustomers in makil
reservations at our hotels from Ctrip’s hotel bagksystem. In 2009, 2010 and 2011, the aggregatenéssion fees of our leased-and-operated
hotels paid to Ctrip.com for its reservation seegi@mounted to RMB9.9 million, RMB9.5 million ant1R8.0 million, respectively.
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In a private placement before our initial publiéeping in 2010, Ctrip purchased 7,202,482 ordirgrgres from us and an aggregate of
11,646,964 of our ordinary shares from the Chendweids, CDH Courtyard Limited, the IDG Funds, thatNern Light Funds and Pinpoint
Capital 2006 A Limited at a price equal to theialipublic offering price per share. The investnsamy Ctrip were made pursuant to
transactions exempt from registration under theuBiées Act. In connection with these transactiodsjp was granted registration rights
substantially similar to those granted to certaildars of our registrable securities under our atedrand restated shareholders agreement. In
addition, we have granted Ctrip the right to norténane person to serve on our board as long as &id its affiliates continuously maintain
(i) at least 5% of our total outstanding ordinanares in the three years following the closingwfioitial public offering and (ii) at least 8% of
our total outstanding ordinary shares thereafteaddition, Ctrip subscribed a total of 800,000 Ax$our initial public offering at the initial
public offering price. The ADSs issued and sol€tdp are on the same terms as the other ADSs lwdfaged in our initial public offering.

Ctrip and one of our competitors, Home Inns, staredirectors between their boards.

Employment Agreements

See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygas — A. Directors and Senior Management — EmpkytnAgreements” for a
description of the employment agreements we hatereshinto with our senior executive officers.

Share Incentives

See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygads — B. Compensation of Directors and Executiffe€s — Share Incentive
Plans” for a description of share options we haeatgd to our directors, officers and other indists as a group.

7.C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
8.A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial liormation
8.A.1.See “ltem 18. Financial Statements” for our audadedsolidated financial statements.

8.A.2.See “ltem 18. Financial Statements” for our aud@edsolidated financial statements, which covelldlethree financial years.
8.A.3.See page F-2 for the report of our independenstegid public accounting firm.
8.A.4.Not applicable.
8.A.5.Not applicable.
8.A.6.Not applicable.
8.A.7. Legal and Administrative Proceedings
See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Busg®verview — Legal and Administrative Proceedihgs.
8.A.8.Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain most, if not all,afr available funds and any future earnings to atgesind expand our business. We had
never declared or paid dividends prior to Decen3ier2011 and we do not have any plan to declapaypany dividends in the near future.
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Our board of directors has complete discretiondaiding whether to distribute dividends. Even if board of directors decides to pay
dividends, the timing, amount and form of futureidénds, if any, will depend on, among other thirms future results of operations and cash
flow, our capital requirements and surplus, the amof distributions, if any, received by us fromrgubsidiaries, our financial condition,
contractual restrictions and other factors deerstalant by our board of directors.

If we pay any dividends, our ADS holders will betidad to such dividends to the same extent asdrsldf our ordinary shares, subject to
the terms of the deposit agreement, including ¢éles fand expenses payable thereunder. Cash dividerals ordinary shares, if any, will be
paid in U.S. dollars.

We are a holding company with no material operatiofhour own. We conduct our operations primatilgotigh our subsidiaries in Chit
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon divideaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdelst on their own behalf in the future, the instamts governing their debt may restrict their
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy awnit of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting stalsdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicab&ntities incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriations fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reservads. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, éi) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsoand welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund recgiae annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@s determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaeltrgad); the other fund appropriations are at thsisliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for specific purposes of entegpigansion, staff bonus and welfare, and areigttiiitable as cash dividends.

8.B. Significant Changes

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual rewerhave not experienced any significant changee she date of our audited
consolidated financial statements included in #imsual report.

ITEM9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
9.A. Offering and Listing Details

Our ADSs have been quoted on the NASDAQ Globalélarket under the symbol “HTHT” since March 2612. The table below
sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high lwdclosing prices on the NASDAQ Global Select krfor the shares represented by ADSs.
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High Low
2010 (from March 26) US$ 27.01 US$ 13.9(
First quarter (from March 2¢ 14.9¢ 13.92
Second quarte 17.1z2 13.9(
Third quartel 24.9: 14.5C
Fourth quarte 27.07 19.7(
2011 24.3¢ 12.5:
First quartel 24.3¢ 16.2¢
Second quarte 22.3( 16.2¢
Third quartel 18.81 13.6¢
Fourth quarte 16.9:¢ 12.5¢
October 16.9: 12.5¢
Novembet 16.0: 13.5¢
Decembe 14.2¢ 12.5¢
2012
January 15.0¢ 12.8¢
February 15.81 13.9¢
March 15.5¢ 11.57
April (through April 6, 2012 12.4¢ 11.7¢

9.B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.

9.C. Markets
The principal trading market for our shares isM#SDAQ Global Select Market, on which our sharestaaded in the form of ADSs.

9.D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.

9.E. Dilution
Not applicable.

9.F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.

ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
10.A. Share Capital
Not applicable.

10.B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

We incorporate by reference into this annual reff@tdescription of our amended and restated mermama and articles of association
contained in our registration statement on Form(File No. 333-165247) originally filed with the Ggities and Exchange Commission on
March 5, 2010, as amended. Our shareholders adopteamended and restated memorandum and articéessaciation by a special resoluti
on March 12, 2010.
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10.C. Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contractsrdtian in the ordinary course of business andr d¢tfaa those described in Item 4,
“Information on the Company” and in Item 7, “MajBhareholders and Related Party Transactions” emélere in this annual report.

10.D. Exchange Controls
See “Item 4. Information on the Company — B. Bus;®verview — Regulation — Regulations on Foreignréncy Exchange.”

10.E. Taxation

The following summary of the material Cayman Iskndeoples Republic of China and United States federal iretaw consequences
an investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares iethagpon laws and relevant interpretations thereeffect as of the date of this annual ref
all of which are subject to change. This summanysdwot deal with all possible tax consequencesinglto an investment in our ADSs or
ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences statkeriocal and other tax laws.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes oividdals or corporations based upon profits, incpgans or appreciation and there is
no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax oatestluty. There are no other taxes likely to beenitto us levied by the Government of the
Cayman Islands except for stamp duties which magppdicable on instruments executed in, broughotg@roduced before a court of the
Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands is not pargnyodouble tax treaties. There are no exchangeaiaoegulations or currency restrictions
the Cayman Islands.

PRC Taxation
PRC taxation on us

On March 16, 2007, the National People’s CongrbesChinese legislature, passed Emeerprise Income Tax Layand on December 6,
2007, the PRC State Council issuedlthplementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdiae Law, both of which became effective on
January 1, 2008. The Enterprise Income Tax Lawiandhplementation Regulations, or the new EIT Lapplies a uniform 25% enterprise
income tax rate to both foreign-invested entergrassd domestic enterprises. There is a transigoiog for enterprises, whether foreign-
invested or domestic, which currently receive prefiial tax treatments granted by relevant taxauities. Enterprises that are subject to an
enterprise income tax rate lower than 25% may oaetto enjoy the lower rate and gradually trantfehe new tax rate within five years after
the effective date of the new EIT Law. Enterpridest are currently entitled to exemptions or retdunst from the standard income tax rate for a
fixed term may continue to enjoy such treatmenil tim¢ fixed term expires. Preferential tax treamtsewill continue to be granted to industries
and projects that are strongly supported and eageur by the state, and enterprises classifiedes amd high technology enterprises strongly
supported by the state” are entitled to a 15% pritey income tax rate.

PRC taxation of our overseas shareholders

The new EIT Law provides that enterprises estabtisbutside of China whose “de facto managementelsbdire located in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” The “de factoage@ment body” is defined as the organizational/libdt effectively exercises overall
management and control over production and busim@ssations, personnel, finance and accounting pamglerties of the enterprise. Currently,
there are no detailed rules or precedents govethingrocedures and specific criteria for deterngriide facto management body.” The State
Administration of Taxation, or the SAT, issued thetice Regarding the Determination of Chinese-Callgd Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises as PRC Tax Resident Enterprises oB#sés of De Facto Management Boc, or Circular 82, on April 22, 2009. Circular 82
provides certain specific criteria for determinimgether the “de facto management body” of a PRGrobled offshore incorporated enterprise
is located in China, which include: (a) the locatiehere senior management members responsibl@ femnterprise’s daily operations discharge
their duties; (b) the location where financial dnanan resource decisions are made or approvedjlapiaations or persons; (c) the location
where the major assets and corporate documenkepteand (d) the location where more than halfl(isive) of all directors with voting rights
or senior management have their habitual residénaadition, the SAT issued tiaministrative Measures on Income Taxes of Chinese-
controlled Offshore Incorporated Resident Enterpsi¢Trial Implementation)or Tax Trial Measures, on July 27, 2011, effexBeptember 1,
2011, providing more guidance on the implementatib@ircular 82. The Tax Trial Measures clarify teas$ including resident status
determination, post-determination administratiod aompetent tax authorities. Both Circular 82 arelTax Trial Measures apply only to
offshore enterprises controlled by PRC enterprisd2RC enterprise groups and not applicable tacase. But the determining criteria set forth
in Circular 82 and the Tax Trial Measures may kftae SAT's general position on how the “de fatt@anagement bodytést should be appli
in determining the tax resident status of offshemterprises, regardless of whether they are céedrbly PRC enterprises or PRC enterprise
groups or by PRC or foreign individuals. As sutlis still unclear if the PRC tax authorities woudlétermine that, notwithstanding our statu
the Cayman Islands holding company of our operdiimgjness in China, we should be classified as@ P&sident enterprise.”
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The new EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10%dividends distributed by a foreign-invested entiegpto its immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterpsstiout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have mamection with the establishment or place of snemédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictbincorporation has a tax treaty with China fiatvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, famegle, are subject to a 5% withholding tax ratee Tayman Islands, where we are
incorporated, does not have such a tax treaty @hiima. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidgimn China may be subject to the 10%
withholding tax if we are considered a “non-residemterprise” under the new EIT Law.

The new EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enieg®” are generally subject to the uniform 25% gantee income tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated #R&L “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apdnt on our effective tax rate and an adverse effieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ ERidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the new EIT Law to a PE@lent recipient. However, if we are required uride new EIT Law to pay income tax
on any dividends we receive from our subsidiages,income tax expenses will increase and the atafutividends, if any, we may pay to
our shareholders and ADS holders may be matealtyadversely affected.

Under the new EIT Law, PRC withholding tax at theerof 10% is applicable to interest and dividepagable to investors that are “non-
resident enterpriseswhich do not have an establishment or place ofrfessi in the PRC, or which have such establishnrgritioe of busines
but the relevant income is not effectively conndatéth the establishment or place of businessh¢oeixtent such interest and dividends have
their sources within the PRC. Similarly, any gagalized on the transfer of ADSs or ordinary shasesuch investors is also subject to 10%
PRC withholding tax if such gain is regarded a®ine derived from sources within the PRC. Therefibnge are considered a PRC “resident
enterprise,” dividends we pay with respect to olxS& or ordinary shares and the gains realized fhentransfer of our ADSs or ordinary
shares may be considered as income derived froncesowithin the PRC and be subject to PRC withimgjdax.

Moreover, non-resident individual investors areuisgf to pay PRC individual income tax on intem@stlividends payable to the
investors or any capital gains realized from tla@dfer of ADSs or ordinary shares if such gaingaemed income derived from sources wi
the PRC. Under the PRC Individual Income Tax Lax]BL, non-resident individual refers to an indivial who has no domicile in China and
does not stay in the territory of China or who haslomicile in China and has stayed in the teryitdfrChina for less than one year. Pursuant to
the IITL and its implementation rules, for purposéshe PRC capital gains tax, the taxable incoritieb& the balance of the total income
realized from the transfer of the ADSs or ordinsimares minus all the costs and expenses that arétieel under PRC tax laws to be deducted
from the income. Therefore, if we are considered BRC “resident enterprise” and dividends we pély mespect to our ADSs or ordinary
shares and the gains realized from the transfeuoADSs or ordinary shares are considered incognieet! from sources within the PRC by
relevant competent PRC tax authorities, such diddeand gains earned by non-resident individuajs afso be subject to PRC tax.
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U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a description of the material Uf&€deral income tax consequences to the U.S. Holtiescribed below of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs, but it dogtspurport to be a comprehensive description ofeallconsiderations that may be relevant to
a particular person’s decision to hold the se@sitirhis discussion applies only to a U.S. Holbat holds ordinary shares or ADSs as capital
assets for tax purposes. In addition, it does metdbe all of the tax consequences that may keast in light of the U.S. Holder’s particular
circumstances, including alternative minimum tarsequences and tax consequences applicable téiolders subject to special rules, such
as:

e certain financial institutions
» dealers or traders in securities who use a -to-market method of tax accountir

» persons holding ordinary shares or ADSs as patstfaddle, wash sale, conversion transactiontegiated transaction or persc
entering into a constructive sale with respechtdrdinary shares or ADS

» persons whose functional currency for U.S. fede@me tax purposes is not the U.S. dol
» entities classified as partnerships for U.S. felde@me tax purpose

» tax-exempt entities, includin“individual retirement accour” or “Roth IRA¢;

» persons that own or are deemed to own ten percenbie of our voting stocl

» persons who acquired our ordinary shares or AD&suant to the exercise of an employee stock omtiatherwise a
compensation; c

» persons holding shares in connection with a tradmisiness conducted outside of the United St

If an entity that is classified as a partnershipUdS. federal income tax purposes holds ordinbhayes or ADSs, the U.S. federal income
tax treatment of a partner will generally dependhanstatus of the partner and the activities efgghrtnership. Partnerships holding ordinary
shares or ADSs and partners in such partnershipddsbonsult their tax advisers as to the particuls. federal income tax consequences of
holding and disposing of the ordinary shares or ADS

This discussion is based on the Internal Revenuke ©01986, as amended, or the Code, administrptimeouncements, judicial
decisions, final, temporary and proposed Treasegylations, all as of the date hereof, any of wisckubject to change, possibly with
retroactive effect. It is also based in part orrespntations by the depositary and assumes thiatodtigation under the deposit agreement and
any related agreement will be performed in accardanith its terms.

A “U.S. Holder"is a holder who, for U.S. federal income tax pugsss a beneficial owner of ordinary shares or AR&o is eligible fo
the benefits of the Treaty and is:

e acitizen or resident of the United Stai

* acorporation, or other entity taxable as a corpamacreated or organized in or under the lawthefUnited States, any state thel
or the District of Columbia; ¢

* an estate or trust the income of which is subjeti.S. federal income taxation regardless of itgce.
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In general, a U.S. Holder who owns ADSs will beategl as the owner of the underlying shares repiegdry those ADSs for U.S. fede
income tax purposes. Accordingly, no gain or logkhe recognized if a U.S. Holder exchanges AD@gtfie underlying shares represented by
those ADSs.

The U.S. Treasury has expressed concern that psotishom American depositary shares are releastdebshares are delivered to the
depositary, also referred to as pre-release, errediaries in the chain of ownership between hsldad the issuer of the security underlying
the American depositary shares, may be taking retioat are inconsistent with the claiming of fgretax credits by holders of American
depositary shares. These actions would also begistent with the claiming of the reduced ratesof tlescribed below, applicable to divide
received by certain non-corporate holders and inang affect the availability of this rate to suchdess.

U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers eoming the U.S. federal, state, local and foreandonsequences of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs in their gaittir circumstances.

This discussion assumes that we are not, and atibecome, a passive foreign investment compangessribed below.

Taxation of Distributions

Distributions paid on ordinary shares or ADSs, othan certain pro rata distributions of ordinamares, will be treated as dividends to
the extent paid out of our current or accumulatthiegs and profits (as determined under U.S. tddecome tax principles). Because we do
not maintain calculations of our earnings and psafinder U.S. federal income tax principles, @xpected that distributions generally will be
reported to U.S. Holders as dividends. Subjecpfdieable limitations and the discussion above reigg concerns expressed by the U.S.
Treasury, dividends paid to certain non-corporate. Blolders in taxable years beginning before Janlia2013 may be taxable at favorable
rates, up to a maximum rate of 15%. U.S. Holdeosikhconsult their tax advisers regarding the amlity of the reduced tax rate on
dividends. The amount of the dividend will be tezhtis foreign-source dividend income to U.S. Haderd will not be eligible for the
dividends-received deduction generally availabl&J18. corporations under the Code. Dividends wélicluded in a U.S. Holder’s income on
the date of the U.S. Holder’s, or in the case ofS&Dthe depositary’s, receipt of the dividend. @imount of any dividend income paid in RMB
will be the U.S. dollar amount calculated by refeto the exchange rate in effect on the datea#ipt, regardless of whether the payment is
in fact converted into U.S. dollars. If the dividkis converted into U.S. dollars on the date oéiglc a U.S. Holder should not be required to
recognize foreign currency gain or loss in respéthe dividend income. A U.S. Holder may have fonecurrency gain or loss if the dividend
is converted into U.S. dollars after the date ckipt.

Sale or Other Disposition of Ordinary Shares or ABS

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, gain orieakzed on the sale or other disposition of ordirghares or ADSs will be capital gain
or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or Ifshe U.S. Holder held the ordinary shares or A& more than one year. The amount of the
gain or loss will equal the difference betweenlth8. Holder’s tax basis in the ordinary shares DiS& disposed of and the amount realized on
the disposition, in each case as determined in dbfars. This gain or loss will generally be UsBurce gain or loss for foreign tax credit
purposes. The deductibility of capital losses igjsctt to limitations.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

We do not believe we were a passive foreign investraompany, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tasppses for our 2011 taxable
year. However, because PFIC status depends omtheasition of a compar's income and assets and the market value of $isteifrom time
to time, there can be no assurance that we wilbaa PFIC for any taxable year. In general, aldd-corporation will be considered a PFIC
for any taxable year in which (i) 75% or more afgiross income consists of passive income or@# %r more of the average quarterly value
of its assets consists of assets that produceedredd for the production of, passive income. pumposes of the above calculations, a non-U.S.
corporation that directly or indirectly owns at$€25% by value of the shares of another corparasi¢reated as if it held its proportionate
share of the assets of the other corporation aselved directly its proportionate share of the meoof the other corporation. Passive income
generally includes dividends, interest, rents, tgsand capital gains.
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If we were a PFIC for any taxable year during whacll.S. Holder held ordinary shares or ADSs, gagognized by a U.S. Holder on a
sale or other disposition (including certain ples)gef the ordinary shares or ADSs would be allagateably over the U.S. Holder’s holding
period for the ordinary shares or ADSs. The amoaltgated to the taxable year of the sale or adiisgosition and to any year before we
became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income.ahtount allocated to each other taxable year woeislbject to tax at the highest rat
effect for individuals or corporations, as apprapej for that taxable year, and an interest chaxgéd be imposed on the amount allocated to
that taxable year. Further, to the extent thatdistyibution received by a U.S. Holder on its oatinshares or ADSs exceeds 125% of the
average of the annual distributions on the ordiséaigres or ADSs received during the preceding tyeaes or the U.S. Holderholding perioc
whichever is shorter, that distribution would béjsgt to taxation in the same manner as gain, deEstimmediately above.

Alternatively, if we were a PFIC, a U.S. Holder tdhuf certain conditions are met, make a mark-tarket election that would result in
tax treatment different from the general tax treaitrfor PFICs described above. If a U.S. Holderentermake such an election, the holder
generally would recognize as ordinary income argeeg of the fair market value of the ADSs at the @reach taxable year over its adjusted
tax basis, and would recognize an ordinary loses$pect of any excess of the adjusted tax basleeoADSs over their fair market value at the
end of the taxable year (but only to the exterthefnet amount of income previously included assalt of the mark-to-market election). If we
were a PFIC, it is unclear whether our ordinaryrebavould be treated as “marketable stock” eligibtethe mark-to-market election. If a U.S.
Holder makes the election, the holder’s tax basibié ADSs will be adjusted to reflect these incamiss amounts. Any gain recognized on
the sale or other disposition of ADSs in a year mive are a PFIC would be treated as ordinary incantkeany loss would be treated as an
ordinary loss (but only to the extent of the nebant of income previously included as a resulthef mark-to-market election).

A timely election to treat us as a qualified elegtfund under Section 1295 of the Code would asalt in alternative treatment from the
general treatment for PFICs described above (wdligmnative treatment could, in certain circumsémenitigate the adverse tax consequences
of holding shares in a PFIC). U.S. Holders shoddWare, however, that we do not intend to satefprdkeeping and other requirements 1
would permit U.S. Holders to make qualified elegtfund elections if we were a PFIC.

In addition, if we were a PFIC, the 15% dividentkrdiscussed above with respect to dividends magettain norcorporate U.S. Holde
would not apply. Furthermore, if we were a PFICday taxable year during which a U.S. Holder heltirary shares or ADSs, such U.S.
Holder may be required to file a report containdogh information as the U.S. Treasury may requr8. Holders should consult their tax
advisers regarding whether we are or were a PRiGtanpotential application of the PFIC rules.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Certain U.S. Holders who are individuals may beunesgl to report information relating to their owslkeip of an interest in certain foreign
financial assets, including stock of a non-U.Sspar generally on Form 8938, subject to exceptforcduding an exception for stock held
through a U.S. financial institutions). Certain UHlders that are entities may be subject to sinrilles in the future. U.S. Holders should
consult their tax advisers regarding their repgrtibligations with respect to the ordinary shanmeASs.

In addition, dividend payments with respect to ARB®rdinary shares and proceeds from the salgairamge of ADSs or ordinary
shares may be subject to information reportindiéoltiternal Revenue Service and possible U.S. Ipaakiinholding at a current rate of 28%.
Backup withholding will not apply, however, to aSJHolder who furnishes a correct taxpayer idezdifon number and makes any other
required certification or who is otherwise exempni backup withholding. U.S. Holders who are regdito establish their exempt status
generally must provide such certification on InedriRevenue Service Form W-9. U.S. Holders shouttselb their tax advisers regarding the
application of the U.S. information reporting aratkup withholding rules.
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Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amoaimtithheld as backup withholding may be creditedirgt your U.S. federal income
tax liability, and you may obtain a refund of amgcess amounts withheld under the backup withholdigs by timely filing the appropriate
claim for refund with the Internal Revenue Senacel furnishing any required information.

10.F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

10.G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

10.H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the periodic reporting and oitfarmational requirements of the Exchange Act. emithe Exchange Act, we are
required to file reports and other information witle SEC. Specifically, we are required to file aalty a Form 20-F no later than four months
after the close of each fiscal year, which is Delmen81. Copies of reports and other informationemvho filed, may be inspected without
charge and may be obtained at prescribed ratée g@iiblic reference facilities maintained by the8#ies and Exchange Commission at 100 F
Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 2054 fiiblic may obtain information regarding the Wagton, D.C. Public Reference Room
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC mlaimtains a website at www.sec.gov that contaipents, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding resig¢rthat make electronic filings with the SEC gsis EDGAR system. As a foreign private
issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the &xgh Act prescribing the furnishing and conterqudrterly reports and proxy statements,
and officers, directors and principal shareholdgesexempt from the reporting and short-swing prefiovery provisions contained in
Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

We will furnish Citibank, N.A., the depositary ofioADSs, with our annual reports, which will inckuid review of operations and annual
audited consolidated financial statements prepiarednformity with U.S. GAAP, and all notices ofaskholders’ meetings and other reports
and communications that are made generally avaitabbur shareholders. The depositary will maké swatices, reports and communications
available to holders of ADSs and, upon our requeiitmail to all record holders of ADSs the infoation contained in any notice of a
shareholders’ meeting received by the depositany fus.

10.1. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily redate the interest rates for our outstanding debttha interest income generated by excess
cash invested in liquid investments with originatarities of three months or less. As of Decemide2B11, we have no outstanding loans.
have not used any derivative financial instrumeénmtsianage our interest risk exposure. Interestigguinstruments carry a degree of interest
rate risk.

We have not been exposed to material risks dubdages in interest rates. However, our future é@steincome may be lower than
expected due to changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our revenues and most of oyremses are denominated in RMB. Our exposure &gorexchange risk primarily
relates to cash and cash equivalent denominatédSndollars as a result of our past issuanceseséped shares through a private placement
and proceeds from our initial public offering. We wot believe that we currently have any signiftadinect foreign exchange risk and have not
hedged exposures denominated in foreign curreciaay other derivative financial instruments. Altigh in general, our exposure to foreign
exchange risks should be limited, the value of yiouestment in our ADSs will be affected by theelign exchange rate between U.S. dollars
and RMB because the value of our business is eftidgtdenominated in RMB, while the ADSs will badied in U.S. dollars.
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The value of the RMB against the U.S. dollar artteoturrencies may fluctuate and is affected bygragrother things, changes in
China’s political and economic conditions. The cersion of RMB into foreign currencies, includingSJdollars, has been based on rates set
by the People’s Bank of China. On July 21, 2008,RRC government changed its decade-old policegfing the value of the RMB to the
U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the RMB is petted to fluctuate within a narrow and managed begainst a basket of certain foreign
currencies. This change in policy caused the Reinbinappreciate by more than 20% against the dbfar between July 2005 and July 2008.
Between July 2008 and June 2010, this appreciatdted and the exchange rate between the Rennriditha U.S. dollar remained within a
narrow band. Since June 2010, the PRC governmerdlltaved the Renminbi to appreciate slowly agaimstU.S. dollar again. There remains
significant international pressure on the PRC gonent to adopt an even more flexible currency golichich could result in a further and
more significant appreciation of the RMB againgt thS. dollar. It is difficult to predict how martkidrces or PRC or U.S. government policy
may impact the exchange rate between the Renmiabitee U.S. dollar in the future. To the extent tha need to convert U.S. dollars we
received from our initial public offering into RM#®r our operations, appreciation of the RMB agathetU.S. dollar would have an adverse
effect on the RMB amount we receive from the cosizer. Conversely, if we decide to convert our RMBdminated cash amounts into U.S.
dollars amounts for the purpose of making paymemtdividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs orditrer business purposes, appreciation
of the U.S. dollar against the RMB would have aateg effect on the U.S. dollar amount availablesoBy way of example, assuming we |
converted a U.S. dollar denominated cash balantksfl.0 million as of December 30, 2011 into Rernat the exchange rate of US$1.00
for RMB6.2939, such cash balance would have beproapnately RMB6.3 million. Assuming a further 1.08ppreciation of the Renminbi
against the U.S. dollar, such cash balance would Hacreased to RMB6.2 million as of December 82,12 We have not used any forward
contracts or currency borrowings to hedge our expo®d foreign currency exchange risk.

Inflation

Since our inception, inflation in China has not enetlly impacted our results of operations. Accogdio the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, consumer price index in China decrease@. % in 2009, increased by 3.3% and 5.4% in 2012011, respectively. Although we
have not been materially affected by inflationhe past, we may be affected if China experienagisehnirates of inflation in the future.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITES
12.A. Debt Securities
Not applicable.

12.B. Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.

12.C. Other Securities
Not applicable.

12.D. American Depositary Shares
Fees and Charges Our ADS holders May Have to Pay
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An ADS holder will be required to pay the followisgrvice fees to the depositary, Citibank, N.A.:

Service Fees

. Issuance of ADS Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS issuel
*  Cancellation of ADS: Up to U.S. '¢ per ADS cancele
» Distribution of cash dividends or other cash dittions Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS helc
. Distribution of ADSs pursuant to stock dividend®ef stock

distributions or exercise of righ Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS helc
. Distribution of securities other than ADSs or rigtd purchas

additional ADS¢ Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS helc
. Depositary Services Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held on the applicable reatatg(s)

established by the Depositary (U.:¢ per ADS for the year of 201

An ADS holder will also be responsible to pay cerfaes and expenses incurred by the depositargandin taxes and governmental
charges such as:

» Fees for the transfer and registration of ordirdrgres charged by the registrar and transfer égetite ordinary shares in the
Cayman lIslands (i.e., upon deposit and withdraWakdinary shares’

» Expenses incurred for converting foreign curremty J.S. dollars

» Expenses for cable, telex and fax transmissiond@ndelivery of securities

» Taxes and duties upon the transfer of securities (then ordinary shares are deposited or withafa@m deposit)
» Fees and expenses incurred in connection witheleedy or servicing of ordinary shares on depc

Depositary fees payable upon the issuance and ltztime of ADSs are typically paid to the deposjthanks by the brokers (on behalf of
their clients) receiving the newly issued ADSs frthva depositary banks and by the brokers (on belidlifeir clients) delivering the ADSs to
the depositary banks for cancellation. The broketarn charge these fees to their clients. Depogiiees payable in connection with
distributions of cash or securities to ADS holdensl the depositary services fee are charged byepesitary banks to the holders of record of
ADSs as of the applicable ADS record date.

The depositary fees payable for cash distributaresgenerally deducted from the cash being digegthun the case of distributions other
than cash (i.e., stock dividend, rights), the déposbanks charge the applicable fee to the Alx®ne date holders concurrent with the
distribution. In the case of ADSs registered inrtaene of the investor (whether certificated or utifteated in direct registration), the
depositary banks send invoices to the applicaldercdedate ADS holders. In the case of ADSs heltkkerage and custodian accounts (via
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC")), the depasithanks generally collects its fees through ttetesys provided by DTC (whose
nominee is the registered holder of the ADSs heldTC) from the brokers and custodians holding ADStheir DTC accounts. The brokers
and custodians who hold their clients’ ADSs in Da€tounts in turn charge their clients’ accountsatmeunt of the fees paid to the depositary
banks.

In the event of refusal to pay the depositary fé@s depositary may, under the terms of the dejpgsgement, refuse the requested se
until payment is received or may set off the amafrihe depositary fees from any distribution tonbede to the ADS holder.

The fees and charges an ADS holder may be reqgtarpdy may vary over time and may be changed ndsby the depositary. An AL
holder will receive prior notice of such changes.

Fees and Other Payments Made by the Depositary tosU

The depositary may reimburse us for certain expemsirred by us in respect of the ADR programt#istaed pursuant to the deposit
agreement, by making available a portion of theodépry fees charged in respect of the ADR progoamtherwise, upon such terms and
conditions as we and the depositary may agree fimeto time. For the year ended December 31, 2@&lhave received a total of RMB2.0
million (US$0.3 million) from the depositary asméursement for our expenses incurred in connegtitminvestor relationship programs
related to the ADS program.
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PART Il

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None of these events occurred in any of the yeated December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEED:
There have been no material modifications to thktsi of securities holders or the use of proceeds.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, haarformed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoesiwithin the meaning of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@) of the Exchange Act as of the end
of the period covered by this annual report. Baseduch evaluation, our management has conclu@édath of the end of the period covered
by this annual report, our disclosure controls pratedures were effective.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, for campany. Internal control over financial reportis@ process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaifcial reporting and the preparation of constdéiddinancial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and iresdutiose policies and procedures that (a) peaimet maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of a company’ssisé® provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepiagation of consolidated financial statementsooedance with generally accepted
accounting principles and that a company’s receiptsexpenditures are being made only in accordaitbeauthorizations of a company’s
management and directors and (c) provide reasomaablgrance regarding prevention or timely deteafamauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of a company’s assets that could haveterial effect on the consolidated financialestagnts.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system tdrimal control over financial reporting can provimtdy reasonable assurance with respect
to consolidated financial statement preparation@edentation and may not prevent or detect messiants. Also, projections of any evalua
of effectiveness to future periods are subjech#orisk that controls may become inadequate bec#udeanges in conditions, or that the deg
of compliance with the policies and procedures uhetgriorate.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyafd related rules as promulgated by the SECinauvagement assessed the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahcégorting as of December 31, 2011 using critegblished itnternal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission. Based on this evanatur management has
concluded that our internal control over financggorting was effective as of December 31, 2011.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accourihg Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@al reporting as of December 31, 2011 has beditezliby Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
CPA Ltd., an independent registered public accogrfirm. The attestation report issued by Deloliteiche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. can be found
on page F-3 of this annual report on Form 20-F.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no significant changes in internal adrdgver financial reporting for the year ended Dmber 31, 2011.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. gosghow is an audit committee financial experthas term is defined in ltem 16A(b)
of Form 20-F, and is independent for the purpo$é&dute 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Rules and Rule 1BAf the Exchange Act.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors adopted a code of businesduct and ethics on January 27, 2010 that apygiesr directors, officers, employees
and agents, including certain provisions that gfmdly apply to our executive officers and any etipersons who perform similar functions for
us. We have filed our code of business conductedinids as an exhibit to our registration statenoerfform F-1 (File No. 333-165247)
originally filed with the Securities and Exchangen@nission on March 5, 2010, as amended. Our codesifess conduct and ethics is
publicly available on our website at http://ir.hitgxcom/.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd., or Deloitte, mdependent registered public accounting firm,dmegerving as our auditor in
August 2009.

Our audit committee is responsible for the oversaftDeloitte’s work. The policy of our audit comiteie is to pre-approve all audit and
non-audit services provided by Deloitte, includaglit services, audit-related services, tax sesvicel other services, other than thoseléor
minimisservices which are approved by the audit commjite® to the completion of the audit.

We paid the following fees for professional sersite Deloitte for the years ended December 31, 20t02011.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011
us$ US$
Audit Fees(1, 38C 72C
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total 38C 72C

Note: (1) Audit Fees. This category includes thgragate fees billed for the professional servieesliered by our principal auditors !
assurance and related services. Our 2010 auditrfagsgy include the audit of our annual financigtements or services that are normally
provided by the accountant in connection with $tatuand regulatory filings. Our 2011 audit feesmhainclude the audit of our annual
financial statements, the services provided in eatian with our compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxey, or services that are normally
provided by the accountant in connection with staguand regulatory filings.
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ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AHLIATED PURCHASERS
None.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANTS CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.

ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules, or the NASDAQ Rulesyvide that foreign private issuers may follow loountry practice in lieu
the corporate governance requirements of the NASI3#dgk Market LLC, subject to certain exceptiond sgquirements and except to the
extent that such exemptions would be contrary ®. federal securities laws and regulations. Theifsogint differences between our corporate
governance practices and those followed by U.S pamies under the NASDAQ Rules are summarized &sifsi

*  We follow home country practice that permits outdpendent directors not to hold regularly schedniedtings at which only
independent directors are present in lieu of comglwith Rule 5605(b)(2)

» We follow home country practice that permits ouatubof directors not to implement a nominations outtee, in lieu of complying with
Rule 5605(e) of the NASDAQ Rules that requiresithelementation of a nominations committ

Other than the above, we have followed and intermbhtinue to follow the applicable corporate goagrce standards under the
NASDAQ Marketplace Rule:

In accordance with Rule 5250(d)(1) under NASDAQ kédplace Rules, we will post this annual reporfonm 20-F on our company

website at http://ir.htinns.com. In addition, wdlygrovide hard copies of our annual report freelodirge to shareholders and ADS holders
request.

PART IlI

ITEM 17.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have elected to provide financial statementsyant to Iltem 18.

ITEM 18.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our consolidated financial statements are incluatdtie end of this annual report.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Exhibit
Number Description of Document
1.1 Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles ob@iason of the Registrant, as currently in effébicorporated by
reference to Exhibits 3.2 from the Amendment Nt dur Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file 388-165247) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Marc20®).)
2.1 Registrar’s Specimen American Depositary Receipt (includefxhibit 2.3).
2.2 Registrar’s Specimen Certificate for Ordinary Shares. (Inocafed by reference to Exhibit 4.2 from our Registn Statemer
on Form -1 (file no. 33-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdéssion on March 5, 2010
2.3 Form of Deposit Agreement among the RegistrantPiygositary and all Holders and Beneficial Owndrthe Americar

Depositary Shares issued thereunder. (Incorpotatedference to Exhibits 4.3 from the Amendment Néo our Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdsaion on March 12, 201C
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Exhibit
Number

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6*
4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10*

4.11

4.12

8.1*
111

12.1*

12.2*

13.1*
23.2*
101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**

101.PRE**

Description of Document

Amended and Restated 2007 Global Share Plan, amiemderestated as of December 12, 2007. (Incomaiat referenc
to Exhibit 10.1 from our Registration Statementramm F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Sdties and Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amended and Restated 2008 Global Share Plan, amemdkerestated as of October 31, 2008. (Incorpdtayeeference to
Exhibit 10.2 from our Registration Statement onrird-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Secwe#tiand Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amended and Restated 2009 Share Incentive Plamdadeand restated as of October 1, 2009. (Incotgbiay reference t
Exhibit 10.3 from our Registration Statement onrird-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Secwe#tiand Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2009 Sheeatine Plan, amended as of August 26, 2010. (purated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 from our report on For-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissianjuly 15, 2010.

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s Directors. (Incorporated by reference to Exhiii4 from oul
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 338324¥) filed with the Securities and Exchange Corsinison March 5,
2010.)

Form of Employment Agreement between the RegistadtExecutive Officers of the Registre

Facility Agreement between China Merchants BankladTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Ctl,, datec
June 19, 2009. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibié from our Registration Statement on Form (fitd no. 333-165247)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioMarch 5, 2010.

Fixed Assets Loan Agreement between the IndustridlCommercial Bank of China and Shanghai HanTiotgt
Management Group, Ltd. (formerly known as Lishant&® (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltdtgdl
September 22, 2008. (Incorporated by referencexiblE 10.7 from our Registration Statement on Féi+h (file no. 333-
165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdsaion on March 5, 2010

Fixed Assets Loan Contract between the Industridl@ommercial Bank of China and HanTing Xingkonbd&ghai) Hotel
Management Co., Ltd., dated January 4, 2010. (parated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from our Regi®n Statement on
Form F-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdsaion on March 5, 2010

Fixed Assets Loan Contract between the Industridl@ommercial Bank of China and HanTing Xingkonbd&ghai) Hotel
Management Co., Ltd., dated March 2, 2C

Subscription Agreement between the Registrant drig.€om International, Ltd., dated March 12, 20@fcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 from the Amendment Néo bur Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file 383-165247) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on NMag; 2010.

Investor and Registration Rights Agreement betwherRegistrant and Ctrip.com International, Ltétedl March 12, 201!
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 frora imendment No. 1 to our Registration Statemerfianm F-1 (file no.
33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 12, 201C

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Registtancorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 froor Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdsaion on March 5, 2010

Certification of Qi Ji, Chief Executive Officer @hina Lodging Group, Limited, pursuant to Secti®2 &f the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Min (Jenny) Zhang, Chief Financ@fficer of China Lodging Group, Limited, pursudatSection 302 of th
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd., Ireefent Registered Public Accounting Fil

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent



*%

Filed with this Annual Report on Form-F.
XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Languagdpmmation is furnished and not filed or a part okgistration statement or prospectus

for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securfietsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes e€t®n 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidypiinder these section
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thditas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Hehal

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

By: /s/ QiJi
Name: Qi Ji
Title: Chief Executive Office

Date: April 1 2, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of China Lodging Group, Limited and glibges (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2010 and 2011, and the related coiasetl statements of operations, changes in edgiéfic{t) and comprehensive income, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the plegimded December 31, 2011 and the related finastgilment schedules. These financial
statements and financial statement schedules amesiponsibility of the Group’s management. Oupeesibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and financial statesemtdules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamliqUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &madbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, tinacial position of China Lodging
Group, Limited and subsidiaries as of December@i02and 2011 and the results of their operatiodstlagir cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2011, ifoocmity with accounting principles generally acaegin the United States of Americ
Also, in our opinion, such financial statement stilles, when considered in relation to the basiscbdated financial statements taken as a
whole, present fairly in all material respects, itifermation set forth therein.

Our audits also comprehended the translation ofriR@n amounts into United States dollar amounts @andur opinion, such translation
has been made in conformity with the basis statédiate 2. Such United States dollar amounts argepted solely for the convenience of
readers in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting as of @etber 31, 2011, based on the criteria establightddrnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifriee Treadway Commission and our report datedl Ag, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Group’s internal contogkr financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd

Shanghai, China
April 12, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the internal control over finanéglorting of China Lodging Group, Limited and sdigries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2011 based on criteria establishédémal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Gomnagement is responsible for maintaining effednternal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigsred internal control over financial reportingglided in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opingm the Company'’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightq&@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetiefenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe©tst audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etéstiyg and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstanceddlieve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supemnvidi the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pars performing similar functions, and effected Iy tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakassurance regarding the reliability of financegdorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgfsaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thagasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of theetssof the company; (2) provide reasonable asserduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statetsin accordance with generally accepted acaogiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordgdordance with authorizations of management amdtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiosg, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlanéial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatemdue to error or fraud may not be preventatktected on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenesthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Group maintained, in all maérespects, effective internal control over finaheeporting as of December 31, 2011,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements and financidestant schedules as of and for the year ended Dmsredd, 2011 of the Group and our report
dated April 12, 2012 expressed an unqualified apirdn those financial statements and financiaéstaht schedules and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the translatioResfmimbi amounts into United States dollar amotortshe convenience of readers in the
United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd
Shanghai, China
April 12, 2012
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Renminbi in thousands, except share and per shadata, unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of RMB778 BRMB1,445 in 2010 and 2011, respectiv
Amount due from related parti
Prepaid ren
Inventories
Other current asse
Deferred tax asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Goodwill
Other asset
Deferred tax asse

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Amounts due to related parti
Salary and welfare payak
Deferred revenu
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Income tax payabl
Total current liabilities

Deferred ren

Deferred revenu

Other lon¢-term liabilities

Deferred tax liabilitie:

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Equity:
Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value per shar@0800,000 shares authorized; 241,151,75¢

242,604,223 shares issued and outstanding as ehider 31, 2010 and 2011, respectiv:

Additional paic-in capital
Retained earnings (Accumulated defir
Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total China Lodging Group, Limited sharehold equity
Noncontrolling interes

Total equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

As of December 31,

2010 2011 2011
uss

(Note 2)
1,060,06° 781,60. 124,18
1,27¢ 1,50( 23¢

100,00( — —
21,53¢ 37,41¢ 5,94¢

3,261 — —
152,26° 228,08° 36,23¢
18,29( 31,23: 4,962
40,17, 53,86: 8,55¢
17,94( 40,11¢ 6,374
1,414,817 1,173,81 186,50:
1,422,43. 2,095,79. 332,98¢
57,34¢ 69,77¢ 11,081
41,37: 42,53¢ 6,75¢
79,95 102,05¢ 16,21°¢
28,15t 40,96¢ 6,50¢
3,044,081  3,524,95( 560,05¢
283,20 417,60: 66,35
85¢ 1,03( 164
57,63¢ 80,26¢ 12,75
68,59¢ 138,14¢ 21,95(
148,92¢ 142,14¢ 22,58t
15,12 14,14¢ 2,24¢
574,34: 793,34. 126,05:
237,427 329,77¢ 52,39
48,44t 71,69¢  11,39:
46,61¢ 61,57« 9,78:
11,937 12,67 2,01
918,77( 1,269,060 201,63!
17¢ 17¢ 28
2,168,36. 2,199,95. 349,53¢
(29,70 85,125 13,52¢
(22,709 (39,166  (6,227)
2,116,13. 2,246,09. 356,86t
9,17¢ 9,79( 1,55¢
2,125,311 2,255,88. 358,42:
3,044,081 3,524,95 560,05¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbeasolidated financial statements.
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Revenues
Leaseranc-operated hotel
Franchise-anc-managed hotel
Total revenue
Less: Business tax and related ta
Net revenue
Operating costs and expens
Hotel operating cos!
Selling and marketing expens
General and administrative expen
Pre-opening expense
Total operating costs and expen
Income from operation
Interest incomt
Interest expens
Other income
Foreign exchange gain (los
Income before income tax
Tax expens:
Net income

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingiest
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholc

Net earnings per shat
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average number of shares used in compnt

Basic
Diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2009

2010

2011

2011

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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(Note 2)
1,288,89! 1,707,77. 2,172,93 345,24
44,96¢ 130,57¢ 212,64« 33,78¢
1,333,86: 1,838,35I 2,385,57 379,03(
73,67 99,857 135,98: 21,60
1,260,19: 1,738,49. 2,249,59 357,42¢
1,004,47. 1,180,20: 1,703,33 270,63¢
57,81¢ 70,78¢ 94,75¢ 15,05¢
83,66¢ 119,98¢ 160,06: 25,431
37,82: 111,21( 184,29¢ 29,28:
1,183,77 1,482,18 2,142,45 340,40
76,41« 256,30t 107,14¢ 17,02
1,871 15,94¢ 18,11: 2,871
8,781 2,682 882 14C
— 2,564 2,64¢ 421
(60) 6,92: 15,93( 2,531
69,43¢ 279,05¢ 142,95 22,71
17,99( 57,26: 24,81¢ 3,94:
51,44¢ 221,79 118,13¢ 18,77(
8,90: 6,04: 3,30¢ 52t
42,54t 215,75: 114,83: 18,24¢
0.2¢ 1.0¢ 0.47 0.0¢
0.2: 0.92 0.47 0.0¢
57,562,44  198,517,28 241,928,28 241,928,28
183,631,888 234,480,89 246,181,20 246,181,20
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(DEFICIT) AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Additional Retained Accumulated
Series A earnings Other Total Equity Comprehensive
Ordinary Shares Preferred Shares Paid-in (Accumulated Comprehensive Noncontrolling
Share Amount Share Amount Capital Deficit) loss Interest (Deficit) Income

Balance at January 1, 20C  54,071,13 42  44,000,00 34 265,06 (288,00 (12,49 6,111 (29,24))
Issuance of ordinary shar 6,141,87 4 — — 75,70: — — — 75,70¢
Issuance of ordinary share

upon exercise of optic 735,00( 1 — — 3,76% — — — 3,76¢
Shar-based compensatic — — — — 7,95k — — — 7,95¢
Acquisitions of

noncontrolling interes — — — — (495) — — (1,450 (1,945)
Net income — — — — — 42,54¢ — 8,907 51,44¢ 42,54t
Dividend paid to

noncontrolling interes — — — — — — — (2,200 (2,200
Foreign currency translatic

adjustment: — — — — — — (36) — (3€) (36)
Balance at December 31,

2009 60,948,01 47  44,000,00 34 351,99« (245,45¢) (12,530 11,36¢ 105,45! 42,50¢
Issuance of ordinary shares

to Ctrip.com 7,202,48. 5 — — 150,56 — — — 150,57:
Issuance of ordinary share

upon initial public

offering 41,400,00 28 — — 804,82( — — — 804,84
Conversion of Series A

convertible preferred

shares to ordinary

shares upon completion

of initial public offering  44,000,00 34 (44,000,00) (34) — — — — —
Conversion of Series B

convertible redeemabl

preferred shares into

ordinary shares upon

completion of initial

public offering 78,058,91 57 — — 796,74t — — — 796,80:
Issuance of warran — — — — 94z — — — 94z
Acquisitions of

noncontrolling interes — — — — (10,58¢) — — (6,517) (17,099
Issuance of ordinary shares

upon exercise of

warrants 1,700,001 1 — — 17,87: — — — 17,87
Issuance of ordinary share

upon exercise of optia 7,842,34 6 — — 42,33¢ — — — 42,34
Shar-based compensatic — — — — 13,11 — — — 13,11
Capital contribution from

noncontrolling interes — — — — — — — 10 1C
Sales of partial ownership

interest in one

subsidiary — — — — 562 — — 56¢ 1,13(
Net income — — — — — 215,75: — 6,04: 221,79 215,75:
Dividend paid to

noncontrolling interes — — — — — — — (2,299 (2,29¢)
Foreign currency translatic

adjustment: — — — — — — (10,179) — (10,179) (10,179)
Balance at December 31,

2010 241,151,75 17¢ — — 2,168,36. (29,70%) (22,707 9,17¢ 2,125,311 205,57¢
Issuance of ordinary share

upon exercise of optic 1,452,46! 1 — — 7,782 — — — 7,78¢
Shar-based compensatic — — — — 15,48: — — — 15,48:
Excess tax benefit from

share-based

compensatiol — — — — 8,32¢ — — — 8,32¢
Capital contribution from

noncontrolling interes — — — — — — — 45¢ 45¢
Net income — — — — — 114,83: — 3,30¢ 118,13¢ 114,83:
Dividend paid to

noncontrolling interes — — — — — — — (3,15)) (3,15))
Foreign currency translatic

adjustment: — — — — — — (16,469 — (16,469 (16,469
Balance at December 31,

2011 242,604,22 17¢ — — 2,199,95. 85,127 (39,16¢) 9,79( 2,255,88. 98,36¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011 2011
US$
(Note 2)
Operating activities
Net income 51,44¢ 221,79: 118,13¢ 18,77(
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Shar-based compensatic 7,95¢ 13,11 15,48 2,46(
Depreciation and amortizatic 145,57.  171,53¢ 236,85’ 37,63
Deferred taxe 7,951 9,22¢ (35,719 (5,679
Bad debt expenst¢ 1,252 103 667 10¢€
Deferred ren 36,56¢ 70,76 92,921 14,76¢
Impairment los: 1,94¢ — 71C 113
Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensatic — — (8,329 (1,329
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl (2,84 (6,487) (16,40) (2,606
Prepaid ren 6,52¢ (82,649  (75,82() (12,04)
Inventories 13,767 (9,407 (12,799 (2,032)
Amount due from related parti 374 1,36¢ 3,26 51¢
Other current asse (16,87 (13,409 (15,689 (2,492
Other asset (8,695 (17,84) (22,109 (3,519
Accounts payabl 4,25k 3,47¢ 3,43¢ 54¢€
Amount due to related parti (581) (72 17t 28
Salary and welfare payabl (4,15¢) 28,04: 22,62¢ 3,59¢
Deferred revenu 42,61 42,28: 92,80z 14,74¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili (1,999 16,29( 34,24¢ 5,441
Income tax payabl (1,259 11,25 7,35( 1,16¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 12,518 9,73 16,89! 2,68¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 296,34: 469,12t  458,74( 72,881
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (263,776 (397,25) (768,756 (122,14)
Purchases of intangibli (1,005 (7,630) (14,679 (2,337
Amount received as a result of government zol 3,28( — 6,90( 1,09¢
Acquisitions, net of cash receiv — (9,65%) (57,829 (9,187
Collection of amount due from related part 377 — — —
Purchase of shc-term investment — (430,000 (30,000 (4,767)
Proceeds from sales of st-term investment — 330,00  130,00( 20,65¢
Decrease (increase) in restricted c 5,097 (775 (225) (36)
Net cash used in investing activiti (256,02°) (515,310 (734,57) (116,71)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shi 54,94t 959,10« — —
Ordinary share issuance costs, net of existingestwdder reimbursemen — 3,92¢ — —
Net proceeds from exercise of warra — 17,87 — —
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares egercise of optiol 3,76¢ 41,12¢ 7,28¢ 1,15;
Proceeds from sh¢-term debi 150,00( — — —
Repayment of shc-term debt (230,000 — — —
Proceeds from lor-term debt 142,00( 70,00( — —
Repayment of lor-term debt (34,500 (207,000 — —
Funds advanced from noncontrolling interest holi 14,21t 2,77¢ 3,48¢ 554
Repayment of funds advanced from noncontrollingriesit holder (7,93 (23,71H (2,56¢) (40¢)
Acquisitions of noncontrolling intere (1,945 (17,099 — —
Proceeds from sales of partial ownership interesthie subsidiar — 1,13(C — —
Contribution from noncontrolling interest hold¢ — 10 45¢ 73
Refund of deposits of share subscript (42,509 — — —
Dividend paid to noncontrolling interest hold: (2,200 (2,29¢) (3,157 (507)

F-7



Table of Contents

Excess tax benefit from sh-based compensatic
Deposits received for exercise of optic

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casaénts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofehe

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati

Interest paic

Year Ended December 31

Income taxes pai

Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activitit

Purchases of property and equipment included ialpla

Issuance of ordinary shares from subscription dé|

Consideration payable for business acquisi

Purchase of intangible assets included in pays

Payment of ordinary share issuance costs throutgatibn of prepayment and amot
included in payable

Reimbursement of government zoning included inivatees

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of opfimm subscription depos

Issuance warrant for acquisition of noncontrollinggrest

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uportieresf option include

in receivable

2009 2010 2011 2011
uss

(Note 2)
— — 8,32¢ 1,32:%

1,21¢ — — —
47,06: 845,83 13,83« 2,19¢
(36) (10,179 (16,469 (2,616
87,34.  789,48(  (278,46() (44,247
183,24¢ 270,58 1,060,06 168,42¢
270,58 1,060,06 _ 781,60 124,18
10,47: 4,07t 882 14C
11,31¢ 36,78: 53,18( 8,44¢
125,41( 269,81! 395,68 62,867

20,76 — — —
— 54,04 16,62¢ 2,641
— 12,27¢ 11,45¢ 1,82(

— 7,614 — —

— 4,40 — —

— 1,215 — —

— 7,067 — —
— — 49¢ 8C

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Lodging Group, Limited (the “Company”) wasamporated in the Cayman Islands under the laviBeoCayman Islands on
January 4, 2007. The principal business activigffathe Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group)tardevelop leased-and-operated and
franchised-and-managed limited-service hotels uttgefHanting Express Hotel”, “Hanting Seasons Hatad “Hanting Hi Inn” brands in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

Leased-and-operated hotels

The Group leases hotel properties from propertyess/and is responsible for all aspects of hotetaifms and management, including
hiring, training and supervising the managers angleyees required to operate the hotels. In additive Group is responsible for hotel
development and customization to conform to thedseds of the “Hanting Express Hotel”, “Hanting Saas Hotel” and “Hanting Hi Inn”
brands at the beginning of the lease, as wellgaineand maintenance, operating expenses and eraeag of properties over the term of the
lease.

Under the lease arrangements, the Group typicatlgives rental holidays of two to six months angsged rent on a quarterly or
biannual basis for the first three or five yearshaf lease term, after which the rental paymentg Imeasubject to an increase every three to five
years. The Group recognizes rental expense omigls-line basis over the lease term.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the Group hacaRd3B44 leased-and-operated hotels in operagspectively.

Franchised-and-managed hotels

The Group enters into certain franchise arrangesnsith property owners for which the Group is resgible for managing the hotels,
including hiring and appointing of the general ngaraof each franchised-and-managed hotel. Undgpieal franchise agreement, the
franchisee is required to pay an initial franchéselmanagement fee and ongoing franchise and manageewite fees, the majority of whi
are equal to a certain percentage of the reveriubg diotel. The franchisee is responsible fordbsts of hotel development and customization
and the costs of its operations. The term of thedhise agreement is typically eight years andngwable upon mutual agreement between the
Group and the franchisee.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, the Group hacah@3295 franchised-and-managed hotels in operatgspectively.

2.  SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Giroaye been prepared in accordance with the accauptinciples generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP”).

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ithenicial statements of the Company and its majanityped subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eliednat consolidation.

The Group evaluates the need to consolidate certaiable interest entities in which equity investdo not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have scint equity at risk for the entity to finance d@stivities without additional subordinated
financial support.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

The entities that operate the franchised-and-mahhgeels are considered variable interest entitiethe franchisees do not have the
ability to make decisions that have a significampact on the success of the franchise arrangefdemntever, as the franchisees provide all
necessary capital to finance the operation of thechised-and-managed hotels and absorb a magdrétyy expected losses, the Group is not
considered the primary beneficiary of those erttitie

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith US GAAP requires management to make esgsiahd assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitieglaksire of contingent assets, long lived assetdiahilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenuesxqahses during the reporting period. Actual reszduld differ from those estimates. The
Group bases its estimates on historical experiandevarious other factors believed to be reasonaider the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdheying value of assets and liabilities thatroereadily apparent from other sources.
Significant accounting estimates reflected in theup'’s consolidated financial statements includeubeful lives and impairment of property
and equipment and intangible assets, valuationvathae of deferred tax assets, impairment of goddstibre-based compensation and costs
related to its customer loyalty program.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on mahdeanand deposits, which are unrestricted asttulvewal and use, and which have
original maturities of three months or less wherchased.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents bank demand depodasecalized for certain newly established subsid&pending capital verification
procedure of relevant PRC government authoritydambsits used as security against borrowings. @piat verification approval process
typically takes between three to six months.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments represent held-to-matudtusties and are measured at amortized cost indhgolidated balance sheets. The
Group classifies investments with maturities of entiran three months and less than 12 months astehorinvestments.

Accounts receivable, net of allowance

Trade receivables mainly consist of franchise &ivables, amounts due from corporate custonrakgltagents, hotel guests and credit
card receivables, which are recognized and caati¢de original invoice amount less an allowaneedfmubtful accounts. The Group establis
an allowance for doubtful accounts primarily basadhe age of the receivables and factors surrogntiie credit risk of specific customers.

Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of small appliances,died and daily consumables. Small appliances addibg are stated at cost, less
accumulated amortization, and are amortized oedr #stimated useful lives, generally one yeamfthe time they are put into use. Daily
consumables are expensed when used.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net are stated at costtgssnulated depreciation and amortization. Thevations, betterments and interest
cost incurred during construction are capitaliZ2epreciation and amortization of property and emépt is provided using the straight line
method over their expected useful lives. The exgmbaseful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or their estimated usiefes
Buildings 40 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipme 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Construction in progress represents leasehold ivgpnents under construction or being installed arsidted at cost. Cost comprises
original cost of property and equipment, instatiaticonstruction and other direct costs. Conswudti progress is transferred to leasehold
improvements and depreciation commences when e isready for its intended use.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are erpgess incurred. Gain or loss on disposal of prgpsrt equipment, if any, is
recognized in the consolidated statement of opmratas the difference between the net sales preegetithe carrying amount of the
underlying asset.

Intangible assets, net and unfavorable lease

Intangible assets consist primarily of favorabkeskes acquired in business combinations and, ®sarextent, purchased software.
Intangible assets acquired through business cotidiirsaare recognized as assets separate from gibddivey satisfy either the “contractual-
legal” or “separability’criterion. Intangible assets, including favoraldade agreements existing as of the date of adquisitre recognized a
measured at fair value upon acquisition. Favorkdaee agreements from business combination transactre amortized over the remaining
operating lease term. Unfavorable lease agreenfremisbusiness combination transactions are recegres other long-term liabilities and are
amortized over the remaining operating lease term.

Purchased software is stated at cost less accledwdatortization.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of guiaition over the fair value of the identifiablesats less liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or mérequently if events or changes in circumstancdgate that it might be impaired. T
Group completes a two-step goodwill impairment.t€le first step compares the fair values of eaglonting unit to its carrying amount,
including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporgrunit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is cotsidered to be impaired and the second
step will not be required. If the carrying amouhaaeporting unit exceeds its fair value, the secstep compares the implied fair value of
goodwill to the carrying value of a reporting usijoodwill. The implied fair value of goodwill itermined in a manner similar to accounting
for a business combination with the allocationhef assessed fair value determined in the firsttstéipe assets and liabilities of the reporting
unit. The excess of the fair value of the reportingt over the amounts assigned to the assetdgatitities is the implied fair value of goodwill.
This allocation process is only performed for pwgmof evaluating goodwill impairment and doesrastlt in an entry to adjust the value of
any assets or liabilities. An impairment loss isognized for any excess in the carrying value afdydll over the implied fair value of
goodwill. Management performs its annual goodwmilpairment test on November 30.

The Group recognized goodwill impairment of RMB1808il and RMB710 for years ended December 31, 220090 and 2011,
respectively.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Group evaluates its long-lived assets andefihied intangibles for impairment whenever evemtshanges in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not bevexable. When these events occur, the Group mesgupairment by comparing the
carrying amount of the assets to future undiscalingt cash flows expected to result from the usbeassets and their eventual disposition. If
the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flovesssthan the carrying amount of the assets, thegsrecognizes an impairment loss based
on the fair value of the assets. In 2009, the Gregpgnized a long-lived asset impairment lossMBB50 in connection with demolition of a
leased-and-operated hotel (Note 4). There werenpairment charges recognized during the years eDdedmber 31, 2010 or 2011.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Accruals for customer loyalty program

The Group invites its customers to participate austomer loyalty program. Typically, a one-timemieership fee is charged for new
members. The membership has an unlimited lifeahtdmatically expires after three years in the eeénon-use for memberships granted
prior to January 1, 2010. Memberships granted syuesd to January 1, 2010 expire after two yearsofuse. Members enjoy discounts on
room rates, priority in hotel reservation, and awualate membership points for their paid stays, Witian be redeemed for membership
upgrades, room night awards and other gifts withvim years after the points are earned. The estaiategemental costs to provide member:
upgrades, room night awards and other gifts areuadcand recorded as accruals for customer lopattgram as members accumulate points
and are recognized as sales and marketing expetise &accompanying consolidated statements of tipasa As members redeem awards or
their entitlements expire, the provision is reducedespondingly. Prior to February 2009, the Grregorded estimated liabilities for all points
earned by its customers as the Group did not haffieisnt historical information to determine poifarfeitures or breakage. The Group, with
accumulated knowledge on reward points redemptichexpiration, began to apply historical redemptiates in estimating the costs of points
earned from March 2009 onwards. As of Decembef8@9, 2010 and 2011, the accruals for estimatéditias under the customer loyalty
program amounted to RMB1,876, RMB4,120 and RMB7,8@8pectively.

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue generally consists of non-refuledativances received from customers for rentaboifins, initial franchise-and-
management fees received prior to the Group fmglits commitments to the franchisee, and casbived for membership fees.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is derived from hotel operations, includiregrental of rooms, food and beverage sales aumesir sales from leased-and-
operated hotels. Revenue is recognized when rooenscaupied and food and beverages and souveeisolt.

Revenues from franchised-and-managed hotels aneeddrom franchise agreements where the franchiaee primarily required to pay
() an initial one-time franchise-and-managemeaet #nd (ii) continuing franchise-and-managemerd,fedich mainly consist of (a) on-going
management and service fees mainly based on ancpeseentage of the room revenues of the frandhisgels, and (b) system maintenance,
support fees and central reservation system ugsgd he one-time franchise-and-management feedgnézed when the franchised hotel
opens for business, the fee becomes non-refundatddethe Group has fulfilled all its commitmentsl abligations, including the assistance to
the franchisees in property design, leasehold irgar@ent construction project management, systentallistson, personnel recruiting and
training. The ongoing management and service feeeseaognized when the underlying service reveauedognized by the franchisees’
operations. The system maintenance, support feeeamtdal reservation system usage fee is recognvbet services are provided.

In addition, the Group accounts for hotel managesfrelated to the hotels under the franchise anogs revenues. Pursuant to the
franchise-and-management agreements, the Grougeshtire franchisees fixed hotel manager fees terabe franchised-and-managed hotel
managers’ salaries, social welfare benefits anthiceother out-of-pocket expenses that the Groaprgion behalf of the franchised-and-
managed hotels. The hotel manager fee is recogageevenue monthly. During the years ended Dece81he2009, 2010 and 2011, the hotel
manager fees that were recognized as revenue vi¢B9R44, RMB30,097 and RMB43,021, respectively.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Membership fees from the Group’s customer loyaltygpam are earned and recognized on a straighbéses over the expected
membership terms of the different membership lev&lgh term is estimated based on the Group’s arthgement’s experience and is
adjusted on a periodic basis to reflect chang@seémbership retention. Effective October 1, 2018,@noup prospectively revised the estim
membership term from three to five years to twéive years to more closely reflect the expected itmenship retention. The effect of this
change in accounting estimate was immaterial feryérar ended December 31, 2010. Revenues recodnimedhe customer loyalty program
were RMB11,726, RMB22,633 and RMB35,623 for thergeaded December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, regekycti

Business tax and related taxes

The Group is subject to business tax, educatigt@s@nd urban maintenance and construction tath@services provided in the PRC.
Such taxes are primarily levied based on revenaplicable rates and are recorded as a redudti@venues.

Advertising and promotional expenses

Advertising related expenses, including promotigpemses and production costs of marketing mateda¢scharged to the consolidated
statements of operations as incurred, and amotatei1B20,206, RMB18,217 and RMB28,445 for the yeanded December 31, 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively.

Government grants

Unrestricted government subsidies from local gowerntal agencies allowing the Group full discretiomtilize the funds were
RMB2,446, RMB4,034 and RMB7,491 for the years enbedember 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectivelichwere recorded as a
reduction of general and administrative expenseisdrconsolidated statements of operations.

Leases

Leases are classified as capital or operating $edskease that transfers to the lessee substgralathe benefits and risks incidental to
ownership is classified as a capital lease. Atptioa, a capital lease is recorded at present v@lmeinimum lease payments or fair value of
asset, whichever is less. Assets recorded as thgaitees are amortized on a basis consistent hathaf accounting for capital assets or the |
term, whichever is less. Operating lease costexpensed as incurred. All leases are currentlysified as operating leases.

Capitalization of interest

Interest cost incurred on funds used to constaagéhold improvements during the active constmgi@riod is capitalized. The interest
capitalized is determined by applying the borrowimtgrest rate to the average amount of accumutzpdal expenditures for the assets under
construction during the period. The interest expdnsurred for the years ended December 31, 2009) and 2011 was RMB10,419,
RMB4,074 and RMB882, of which RMB1,632, RMB1,392anil was capitalized as additions to assets uodestruction, respectively.

Income taxes
Current income taxes are provided for in accordavitie the relevant statutory tax laws and regulaio

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempatifgrences between the tax basis of assets abititles and their reported amounts
the financial statements. Net operating lossesamged forward and credited by applying enactatlsory tax rates applicable to future years.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatioe when, in the opinion of the Group, it is mlikkely-than-not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Tdraponents of the deferred tax assets and liakilére individually classified as current and
non-current based on the characteristics of thenyidg assets and liabilities, or the expectedrgrof their use when they do not relate to a
specific asset or liability.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Foreign currency translation and comprehensive inoe

The reporting currency of the Group is the Renm{flRMB”). The functional currency of the Companytie United States dollar (“US
dollar”). Monetary assets and liabilities denom@thin currencies other than the US dollar are tat®d into US dollar at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactionarrocies other than the US dollar during the yearconverted into the US dollar at the
applicable rates of exchange prevailing on thetdaysactions occurred. Transaction gains and l@seecognized in the statements of
operations. Assets and liabilities are translatéol RMB at the exchange rates at the balance slagetequity accounts are translated at
historical exchange rates and revenues, expera@s, @d losses are translated using the avertgforahe year. Translation adjustments are
reported as cumulative translation adjustmentsaaadhown as a separate component of other conrmmigkdoss in the consolidated
statements of changes in equity (deficit) and cahensive income.

The financial records of the Group’s subsidiariesraaintained in local currencies, RMB, which ie fhnctional currency.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tmeup to concentration of credit risk consist priityanf cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, short-term investment and accoentdvable. All of the Group’s cash and cash egjeivts are held with financial institutions
that Group management believes to be high credititgu

The Group’s held-tanaturity securities are issued by a financial tngttn with high credit ratings. The Group condumtsdit evaluation
on its group and agency customers and generally doerequire collateral or other security fromtsaastomers. The Group periodically
evaluates the creditworthiness of the existingarsts in determining an allowance for doubtful acds primarily based upon the age of the
receivables and factors surrounding the creditofskpecific customers.

Fair value

The Group defines fair value as the price that wdnd received from selling an asset or paid tosfeara liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement\déten determining the fair value measurementadsets and liabilities required or
permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Groapsaers the principal or most advantageous mamnkehich it would transact and it considers
assumptions that market participants would use vgniging the asset or liability.

The established fair value hierarchy requires dityeto maximize the use of observable inputs atiwimmze the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value. A financial ingtient’s categorization within the fair value hietay is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measureme&hte three levels of inputs may be used to measiredlue include:

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are quoted prices in active markets for idahassets or liabilities.

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are inputs other than quoted prices inclwdéudn Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability such as quoted pricessfanilar assets or liabilities in active markegapted prices for identical assets or liabili
in markets with insufficient volume or infrequenaisactions (less active markets); or model-derigdations in which significant
inputs are observable or can be derived princidatiyn, or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are unobservable inputs to the valuation atetlogy that are significant to the
measurement of the fair value of the assets oilitiab.
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The Group did not have any financial instrumenés there required to be measured at fair value @tarring basis as of December 31,
2011. The carrying values of financial instrumemtkich consist of cash, restricted cash, short-ierastments, accounts receivable and
accounts payable, are recorded at cost which appabes their fair value due to the short-term refrthese instruments. The Group does not
use derivative instruments to manage risks.

Warrants

The Group records warrants convertible into mezeeiuity securities and ordinary shares as lte@sland adjusts the carrying amount
of such liabilities to fair value at each reportuiate.

Share-based compensation

The Group recognizes share-based compensatioe statement of operations based on the fair véleguity awards on the date of the
grant, with compensation expense recognized owep¢hiod in which the grantee is required to prewdrvice to the Group in exchange for
equity award. The shatgased compensation expenses have been categmieétier hotel operating costs, general and adtratige expense
or selling and marketing expenses, depending ojoth&unctions of the grantees. For the years emdtbmber 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, the
Group recognized share-based compensation expéRdR7,955, RMB13,113 and RMB15,483, respectivehjch was classified as
follows:

At December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Hotel operating cosl 523 1,55¢ 2,11¢
Selling and marketing expens 465 77¢ 783
General and administrative expen 6,967 10,78( 12,58t
Total 7,95k 13,11 15,48

Earnings per share

The Group determined that its Series A convertibbéferred shares and Series B convertible redeenpabferred shares were
participating securities as each participated énuthdistributed earnings on the same basis agdiaoy shares. Accordingly, the Group used
the two€lass method of computing earnings per share. Whikemethod, net income applicable to holdersrdfmary shares was allocated ¢
pro-rata basis to the ordinary and preferred shardge extent that each class could share in ieckmmthe period. Losses were not allocated to
the participating securities. Diluted earnings §feire was computed using the more dilutive ofweedlass method or the denverted metho
The preferred shares were converted into ordinaayes upon the completion of the Group’s initigblprioffering (“IPO”) in March 2010. The
two-class method of computing earnings per shaasezkto apply on the conversion date.

Segment reporting

The Group operates and manages its business raglea segment. The Group primarily generates itemaes from customers in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical segments are presefgstantially all of the Group’s long-lived assate located in the PRC.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBdthe “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpdafsU”) 2011-04,
Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasuresmeinDisclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IF (“ASU 2011-04"). ASU
2011-04 amended the FASB Accounting Standards @atidn 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu(&sSC 820”) to converge the
fair value measurement guidance in U.S. generaltgpted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and Intefangl Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"). Some of the amendments clarify the aggilon of existing fair value measurement requinetsiewhile other amendments change
particular principles in ASC 820. In addition, A2011-04 requires additional fair value disclosufeSU 2011-04 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2011 and should bkeapprospectively. The Company does not expedtAlsd) 201104 will have a significal
impact on its consolidated results of operationin@ancial position.
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In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-G5mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationash@ehensive IncomgASU
2011-05"). ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option togem® the components of other comprehensive incenpa of the statement of changes in
stockholdersequity and requires an entity to present itemsedvimcome, other comprehensive income and totapecehensive income either
a single continuous statement of comprehensiveniecor in two separate but consecutive statemenf@etember 2011, the FASB issued #
2011-12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of tffedfive Date for Amendments to the PresentatidrRezfassifications of Items
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income goéating Standards Update No. 2011-0®SU 2011-12"). ASU 2011-12 defers the
effective date of the changes in ASI 2011-05 thkdte to the presentation of reclassification adjesits for each component of other
comprehensive income in both net income and othepcehensive income. The amendments in the ASld’not change the items that mus
reported in other comprehensive income or wherean of other comprehensive income must be recladdid net income. ASU 2011-05 and
ASU 2011-12 are both effective for fiscal yearg] arterim periods within those years, beginningaBecember 15, 2011 and must be applied
retrospectively. The Company will be required toptdASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 no later than tnarggr beginning January 1, 2012. As
the ASUs require additional presentation only, eh&ill be no impact to the Company’s consolidatesuits of operations or financial position.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011He&yngibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testi@godwill for Impairment
(“ASU 2011-08"). ASU 2011-08 gives an entity thation to first assess qualitative factors to deteemwhether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less thancésrying amount as a basis for determining whettiemecessary to perform the two-step
goodwill impairment test described in Topic 350eRous guidance required an entity to test goodwilimpairment by first comparing the f
value of a reporting unit with its carrying amouABU 2011-08 is effective for annual and interimodwill impairment tests performed for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011. Chmpany will be required to adopt ASU 2008-as of January 1, 2012 and does not e
that ASU 2011-08 will have a significant impactitmconsolidated results of operations or finanpisition.

Translation into United States Dollars

The financial statements of the Group are statd@NiB. Translations of amounts from RMB into UnitSthtes dollars are solely for the
convenience of the reader and were calculateceattie of US$1.00 = RMB6.2939, on December 30, 284 Bet forth in H.10 statistical
release of the Federal Reserve Board. The traoslainot intended to imply that the RMB amountslddave been, or could be, converted,
realized or settled into United States dollar$at tate on December 31, 2011, or at any other rate

3. ACQUISITIONS

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2011, treu@acquired four individual hotels in the forml@fised- and- operated hotel for total
cash consideration of RMB20,400. The business aitguis were accounted for under the purchase aticou

The following is a summary of the fair values of ssets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2011 Amortization period
Current assel 2,19¢
Intangible assel 63
Property and equipme 10,98( 5-10 year
Favorable leas 5,84 remaining lease ter
Goodwill 1,87:
Franchise agreemer 90C
Deferred tax liabilities (1,462)
Total 20,40(
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(i) During the year ended December 31, 2010, theufd acquired nine individual hotels in the leased-operated hotel business for tc
cash consideration of RMB63,733. The business aitguis were accounted for under the purchase aticou

The following is a summary of the fair values of tissets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2010 Amortization period
Cash 33
Property and equipme 25,55( 5-10 year
Favorable leas 20,80( remaining lease ter
Deferred tax asse 22¢
Goodwill 22,92!
Unfavorable leas (1,600 remaining lease ter
Franchise agreemer 60C remaining franchise agreement ti
Deferred tax liabilities (4,800
Total 63,738

(iii) In 2009 and 2010, the Group acquired nonaaliitrg interests in five and four existing subsitgs, respectively. The aggregate
consideration for these acquisitions was comprigete following:

2009 2010
Cash consideratia 1,94¢ 17,09¢
Fair value of warrant — 7,06¢
Total consideratiol 1,94¢ 24,167

The warrants provide the holder with the abilityptarchase 1,500,000 ordinary shares of the Comabay exercise price of US$1.54 |
share. The fair value of the warrants was deterdhinyethe Group using generally accepted valuatiethodologies, including the discounted
cash flow approach which incorporates certain agsioms including the financial results, growth tdlenterminal value and discount rate of the
Group, to derive the total equity value of the Grou

The acquisitions of the noncontrolling interestsevaccounted for as equity transactions. The diffee between the purchase
consideration and the related carrying value ofnthiecontrolling interests of RMB495 and RMB17,65&revrecorded as a reduction of
additional paid-in capital during the years ended@&mber 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively.
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consist of the follagwin

As of December 31,

2010 2011
Cost:
Buildings 11,86( 11,86(
Leasehold improvemen 1,479,97 2,213,22.
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 249,06 348,71:
Motor vehicles 6 82¢
1,740,90i 2,574,62.
Less: Accumulated depreciati (441,05.) (663,00:)
1,299,841 1,911,62
Construction in progres 122,58¢ 184,17:
Property and equipment, r 1,422,43. 2,095,79

Depreciation expense was RMB143,676, RMB167,490R&229,742 for the years ended December 31, 22080 and 2011,
respectively.

In 2009, the Group demolished one leased-and-agktattel due to local government zoning requiresiefs a result, the Group wrote
off property and equipment of RMB3,753, favoraldade agreement of RMB377 and goodwill of RMB1,088aiated with this hotel. The
Group recognized impairment loss of long-lived &ssé RMB850, which is net of RMB3,280 cash recdivend goodwill impairment loss of
RMB1,098.

In 2010, the Group demolished one leased-and-agktattel due to local government zoning requiresiefs a result, the Group wrote
off property and equipment of RMB3,994 associatét this hotel and recognized a gain of RMB406, akthis net of reimbursements
receivable of RMB4,400, which have been included asmponent of other current assets in the catetelil balance sheet as of December 31,
2010 and received in 2011.

In 2011, the Group demolished one leased-and-agkhaitel due to local government zoning requiresiels a result, the Group wrote
off property and equipment of RMB2,411 associatét this hotel and recognized a gain of RMB89, vithie net of RMB2,500 cash received.

As of December 31, 2011, the Group has been foymaliified by local government authorities thatetadditional leased-and-operated
hotels of the Group will likely be demolished doddcal government zoning requirements. The agdeeggrying amount of property and
equipment at the hotels was RMB10,517 as of DeceBthe2011. None of the hotels have recorded inbkda@ssets or goodwill. The Group
has not recognized any impairment as expectedftagh from the hotels’ operations prior to demalitiand expected amounts to be received
as a result of the demolition will likely exceea tbarrying value of such assets. The Group estavat®unts to be received based on the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, terms of thedemreements, and the prevailing market practice.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET AND UNFAVORABLE LEASE
Intangible assets, net consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2010 2011
Favorable lease agreements 61,30¢ 67,15¢
Purchased softwal 4,927 18,15¢
Total 66,23! 85,31«
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (8,88%) (15,535
Total 57,34¢ 69,77¢
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Unfavorable lease

Unfavorable lease agreements
Less: Accumulated amortizatic
Unfavorable lease agreements,

As of December 31

2010 2011
3,92¢ 3,92¢
(1,095 (1,539
2,82¢ 2,39:

The values of favorable lease agreements werendieted based on the estimated present value ofntloeiat the Group has avoided
paying as a result of entering into the lease agee¢s. Unfavorable lease agreements were deterrbaset on the estimated present value of
the acquired lease that exceeded market pricearamecognized as other long-term liabilities. Vakie of favorable and unfavorable lease

agreements is amortized using the straight-linéhotebver the remaining lease term.

Amortization expense of intangible assets for tharg ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 andaieri®MB2,203, RMB3,754 ar

RMB6,652, respectively.

The annual estimated amortization expense forlogaintangible assets and unfavorable lease éfollowing years is as follows:

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereaftel

6. GOODWILL

Amortization for

Intangible Asset:

7,54¢
7,50:
7,24¢
7,121
6,831
33,52¢

69,77¢

Amortization for
Unfavorable Least

(437)
(33€)

(297)

(28¢)

(209)

(822)

(2,39)

Net Amortization

7,112
7,16t
6,94¢
6,83:
6,627
32,70;

67,38

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfe years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 20Elasdollows:

Balance at January 1, 20

Impairment losses recogniz

Balance at December 31, 2C

Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic
Impairment losses recogniz

Balance at December 31, 2C

Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic
Impairment losses recogniz

Balance at December 31, 2C
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7. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31

2010 2011
Payable for business acquisitions 49,68¢ 13,57:
Business taxes and other subcharge pay: 18,96: 28,44¢
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 4,12( 7,62¢
Payable to noncontrolling interest hold 10,51¢ 11,43:
Other payable 19,85( 13,24¢
Accrued renta 15,37¢ 26,54«
Accrued utilities 13,91« 19,22«
Other accrued expens 16,501 22,04¢
Total 148,92¢ 142,14¢

From time to time, the Group receives cash fundidiganced from noncontrolling interest holders &n{ venture hotels. Such advances
are non-interest bearing and are payable withinyeae.

8. PREFERRED SHARES, WARRANT | and WARRANT Il

In February 2007, the Company issued 44,000,00@sSArconvertible preferred shares, par value USHIL per share, at issuance price
of US$0.50 per share.

On June 20, 2007, the Company issued 35,873,53&s3eiconvertible redeemable preferred sharesygdae US$0.0001, of which
32,144,009 shares were issued for cash procedrisiBB12,338 (US$41,000) and 3,729,526 shares wsuedsupon the conversion of
convertible notes and accrued interest of RMB30/4¥2$4,000) and RMB331 (US$43), respectively. Totsh proceeds of RMB310,383
(US$40,743) were net of issuance costs of RMB1(QE85257).

In conjunction with the Series B convertible redabie preferred shares, the Group granted Warramd Warrant Il to purchase
13,066,670 and 3,136,001 Series B convertible radbée preferred shares at a per share purchaseRMB10.44 (US$1.53) and RMB8.70
(US$1.28), respectively. The total fair value of Méat | and Warrant Il was RMB15,544.

In 2007 and June 2008, the Company issued 12,93 &6des B convertible redeemable shares uponisgeyt8,212,044 Warrants I,
3,136,001 Warrant Il and 4,704,001Warrant I, whigere granted in conjunction with a promissoryerissued in 2007, for total considera
of RMB160,596 (US$22,569). On June 20, 2008, 4@l Warrant | expired unexercised.

In 2008, the Company issued 11,760,002, 11,760a0021,306,667 Series B Shares for RMB10.44 (US$héBshare for total procee
of RMB129,323 (US$18,000), RMB127,588 (US$18,00) RMB13,894 (US$2,000), respectively, to existimdinary and Series A
shareholders.

In 2008, the Company exchanged 1,306,667 SeridsaBeS for a RMB13,894 (US$2,000) related party pkydue to Powerhill
Holdings Limited (“Powerhill”, a BVI company whollpwned by Qi Ji and Tongtong Zhao), previously axbeal to the Group for working
capital purposes. No compensation expense wastdetgiven the effective purchase price of the Sai&hares exceeded the fair value of the
Series B Shares on the exchange date.

Upon the completion of the Group’s IPO in March @0%eries A convertible preferred shares and SBriganvertible redeemable
preferred shares were converted into ordinary shamea one-to-one basis.
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The key terms of Series A Shares and Series B Sifeo#ectively the “Preferred Shares”) were afofob:

Dividends
The holders of the Preferred Shares were entitigatticipate in dividends paid to holders of oatinshares on an as-converted basis.

Voting Rights
Each ordinary share was entitled to two votes pares A Series A Share was entitled to one onedfalie number of ordinary shares

into which it was convertible (one vote per ordinahare). Each Series B Share was entitled toao®n as-if converted basis (two votes per
ordinary share).

Conversion

The Preferred Shares were convertible into ordishgres at 1:1 ratio initially, at the option of tholder at any time. The Preferred
Shares were also automatically convertible uporctimesummation of IPO or obtaining the necessarftewiconsent from the holders of
Preferred Shares. An IPO referred to a firm committhunderwritten IPO by the Company of its ordynstiares with (i) a market
capitalization equal to no less than US$495,000 éatiately prior to the IPO, and (ii) total offeripgoceeds to the Company, before deduction
of selling expenses, of not less than US$50,000.

The conversion prices of the Preferred Shares suhect to anti-dilution adjustments and in thendthe Company issued ordinary
shares at a price per share lower than the apjpicalmversion price in effect immediately priorstach issuance. No adjustments to the
conversion prices occurred.

The Company determined that there was no BCF até#iibe to the Preferred Shares as the effectiveassion price of the Preferred
Shares was greater than the fair value of the argishares on the respective commitment dates.

Redemption
The Series A Shares were not redeemable.

The Series B Shares were redeemable at a pricétedhe subscription price plus all declared bapaid dividends at the election of the
holders of a majority of such shares on or aftey a2012.

Liguidation Preferences

The holders of Preferred Shares had preferencehmléers of ordinary shares with respect to payroénividends and distribution of
assets in the event of any voluntary or involuntaqyidation, dissolution, winding up or deemedilidation of the Company. A deemed
liquidation event included a change in control #melsale, transfer or disposition of all or subs&dly all of the assets of the Group. The
holders of Preferred Shares were entitled to recaivamount equal to the subscription price, phedaded but unpaid dividends. Series B
Shares must receive their liquidation payment goany such payments being made on the SeriesafeSh

Investor Put Option

The holders of Series B Shares had the right béfarelate of a Qualified IPO to require Qi Ji, fdanand CEO of the Group, to purch
all or any portion of the Series B Shares at aspare price equal to 105% of the subscription prpen the occurrence of certain triggering
events.
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9. HOTEL OPERATING COSTS

Hotel operating costs include all direct costs med in the operation of the leased-and-operatéeldiand franchised-andanaged hote
and consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Rent 418,54« 476,10( 655,24"
Utilities 90,03t 108,20¢ 150,86
Personnel cos 169,24 210,90t 329,07¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 141,60( 163,12! 227,93t
Consumable, food and bevere 119,05¢ 145,31° 228,24
Others 65,98¢ 76,54¢ 111,96!
Total 1,004,47. 1,180,20: 1,703,33

10. PRE-OPENING EXPENSES

The Group expenses all costs incurred in connegtitinstart-up activities, including pre-operatiogsts associated with new hotel
facilities and costs incurred with the formatiortloé subsidiaries, such as organization costsopeaing expenses primarily include rental
expenses and employee costs incurred during tted pi@-opening period.

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Rents 29,90" 88,17 153,22¢
Personnel cos 3,584 5,21« 13,27:
Others 4,33( 17,81¢ 17,79¢
Total 37,82: 111,21¢( 184,29¢

11. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In February 2007, the Group adopted the 2007 GIShate Plan which allows the Group to offer inoemtiwards to employees, officers,
directors and consultants or advisors (the “Paaicts”). Under the 2007 Global Share Plan, the @roay issue incentive awards to the
Participants to purchase not more than 10,000,0didary shares. In June 2007, the Group adopted@B8 Global Share Plan which allows
the Group to offer incentive awards to Participabtisder the 2008 Global Share Plan, the Group &yei incentive awards to purchase up to
3,000,000 ordinary shares. In October 2008, thei@mcreased the maximum number of incentive awavddable under the 2008 Global
Share Plan to 7,000,000. In September 2009, thapgzadopted 2009 Share Incentive Plan which alltvesGroup to offer incentive awards to
Participants. Under the 2009 Share Incentive RlenGroup may issue incentive awards to purchage 800,000 ordinary shares. In July
2010, the Group increased the maximum number efitive awards available under 2009 Share InceRtige to 15,000,000. The 2007 and
2008 Global Share Plans and 2009 Share Incentare (Bbllectively, the “Incentive Award Plans”) cairt the same terms and conditions. All
incentive awards granted under the Incentive Avilaths have a maximum life of ten years and vest 60%he second anniversary of the
stated vesting commencement date with the remabBd8g vesting ratably over the following two yeaks.of December 31, 2011, the Group
had granted 21,904,248 options and 628,061 nonVesstricted stocks.

Share options

The Group records share-based compensation bagbe grant date fair value of the option. Whenreating the fair value of its
ordinary shares, prior to the Group’s IPO in Ma2€i10, the Group considered a number of factoragugenerally accepted valuation
methodologies, including the discounted cash flpyraach, which incorporated certain assumptionisiétieg the financial results and growth
trends of the Group, to derive the total equityueadf the Group. The valuation model allocatedetpaity value between the ordinary shares
and the preference shares and determined thedfaie wf the ordinary shares based on the opti@ingrimodel under the enterprise value
allocation method. Under this method, the ordirsrgres had value only if the funds available fstriution to shareholders exceeded the
value of the liquidation preference at the timadifjuidity event.
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The weighted-average grant date fair value foromgtigranted during the years ended December 39, 2000 and 2011 was RMB6.20
(US$0.91), RMB12.99 (US$1.96) and RMB14.37 (US$R.B3spectively, computed using the binomial opfioicing model. The binomial
model requires the input of subjective assumptinolsiding the expected stock price volatility ahé £xpected price multiple at which
employees are likely to exercise stock options. Thmpany uses historical data to estimate forfeitate. Expected volatilities are based on
the average volatility of the Company and the camlpi@ companies. The risk-free rate for periodfiwithe contractual life of the option is

based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effethatime of grant.

The fair value of stock options was estimated usfiregfollowing significant assumptions:

2009 2010 2011
Suboptimal exercise factor 25 2.5104.24 3.83 to0 8.9¢
Risk-free interest rat 3.95 to 4.58¥% 3.58 to 4.50% 1.88 to 2.66%
Volatility 52.33t0 55.129 45.36t0 51.42% 50.61 to 50.69¢
Dividend yield — — —

Life of option 10 years 10 years 6 years

The following table summarized the Group’s shargoopactivity under the option plans:

Weighted Average Aggregate
Weighted Average
Number of Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
Us$ Years US$'000
Share options outstanding at January 1, Z 10,656,82 1.52
Granted 972,76¢ 4.41]
Forfeited (403,28 3.3¢€
Exercisec (1,452,46) 0.8:
Share options outstanding at December 31, : 9,773,84. 1.84 7.04 17,42%
Share options vested or expected to ve
December 31, 201 8,921,88! 1.8: 7.01 15,97¢
Share options exercisable at December 31, : 5,803,91! 1.4¢ 6.8¢ 12,03¢

As of December 31, 2011, there was RMB28,208 ial tmirecognized compensation expense related tested share-based
compensation arrangements, which is expected tedmgnized over a weighted-average period of 26203/

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@@hd, 735,000, 7,842,341 and 1,452,468 options wezecised having an aggreg

intrinsic value of RMB7,431, RMB11,271 and RMB37)70espectively.

Nonvested restricted stocks

The fair value of each nonvested restricted stediased on the fair market value of the underlgirtinary shares on the date of grant.
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The following table summarized the Group’s resgricstock activity in 2011.

Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at JanLis2911

Granted
Forfeited

Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at DeceBihe2011

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009, 2010 and 201
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Number of

restricted
stocks

628,06:

(56,23¢)
571,82!

Weighted averagt

grant date fair
value
USs$

4.1¢
4.3C
4.17

As of December 31, 2011, there was RMB12,314 ircmgnized compensation cost, net of estimatediforés, related to unvested
restricted stocks, which is expected to be recaghaver a weighted-average period of 3.53 years.

The total fair value of nonvested restricted stogsted in 2011 was nil.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation agle and diluted earnings per share for the yealisated:

Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— basic

Amounts allocated to preferred shares for partioigarights to dividend
Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— diluted

Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— basic

Incremental weighted-average ordinary shares fresnrmed exercise of share options and
nonvested restricted stocks using the treasurk stathod

Preferred share

Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— diluted

Basic earnings per she
Diluted earnings per sha

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
13,63 207,81 114,83:
28,91 7,931 —
42,54¢ 215,75: 114,83:

57,562,44 198,517,28 241,928,28

4,010,52i 6,201,30: 4,252,911
122,058,91 29,762,31 —

183,631,88 234,480,89 246,181,20

0.24 1.0% 0.47

0.28 0.92 0.47

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 arld #68 Group had securities which could potentidilyte basic earnings per shart
the future, but which were excluded from the corapiah of diluted earnings per share as their effegiuld have been anti-dilutive. Such
outstanding securities consist of the following:

Outstanding employee options and nonvested resdritbcks
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Year Ended December 31

2009
11,260,93

2010 2011

1,486,53:
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13. INCOME TAXES

Cayman Islands
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the@ny is not subject to tax on income or capiééhg

Hong Kong

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited is subject tahlg Kong profit tax at a rate of 16.5% in 2009, @@hd 2011. No Hong Kong prc
tax has been provided as the Group has not hadsatde profit that was earned in or derived fronmgiong during the years presented.

Singapore

China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. is sobje Singapore corporate income tax at a rate/é6 in 2011. No Singapore profit t
has been provided as the Group has not had askepsafit that was earned in or derived from Sing@pduring the years presented.

PRC

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of Chingemterprise Income Tax (“New EIT Law”), which wadesftive from January 1, 2008,
domestically-owned enterprises and foreign-investadrprises are subject to a uniform tax rates@b2

Hanting Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd, as a recagphioftware development entity located at Suzhdudtrial Park in Suzhou of PRC,
is entitled to a two-year exemption and three-y#6 reduction starting from the first profit makipgar after absorbing all prior years’ tax
losses. Hanting Suzhou has entered into the fixsptofitable year for the year ended DecembefB1].

At December 31, 2009, the amount of gross unreeegriax benefits was zero. At December 31, 201®@aid, RMB799 and
RMB1,494 was accrued as a reduction of net incoitte avwcorresponding increase in the liability forcertain tax positions, respectively. The
group does not anticipate any significant increases liability for unrecognized tax benefits withthe next 12 months. The Group will class
interest and penalties related to income tax nmatieany, in income tax expense.

According to the PRC Tax Administration and CollestLaw, the statute of limitations is three yeiéthe underpayment of income tay
is due to computational errors made by the taxpayee statute of limitations will be extended teefiyears under special circumstances, which
are not clearly defined, but an underpayment afrime tax liability exceeding RMB100 is specificalisted as a special circumstance. In the
case of a transfer pricing related adjustmentsthtute of limitations is ten years. There is raiue of limitations in the case of tax evasion.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are therefore sulbjegkamination by the PRC tax authorities from 2806ugh 2011 on non-transfer pricing
matters, and from 2005 through 2011 on transfeiqgimatters.

Tax expense (benefit) is comprised of the following

As of December 31

2009 2010 2011
Current Tax 10,03: 48,03¢ 60,53(
Deferred Tay 7,95 9,22¢ (35,719
Total 17,99( 57,26: 24,81¢
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A reconciliation between the effective income taterand the PRC statutory income tax rate is &sisl

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
PRC statutory tax rate 25% 25% 25%
Tax effect of other expenses that are not dedectibtletermining taxable pro 3% — 3%
Effect of different tax rate of group entities ogiéng in other jurisdiction 1% 2% )%
Effect of change in valuation allowan (3)% ()% 9%
Effect of tax holiday — — An%
Other — _ (D)% —
Effective tax rate _26% _21% _17%

The aggregate amount and per share effect of xhediadays are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Aggregate amour — — 24,15¢
Per share effe—basic — — 0.1C
Per share effe—diluted — — 0.1C

The principal components of the Group’s deferrembine tax assets and liabilities as of DecembeR@10 and 2011 are as follows:

As of December 31,

2010 2011
Deferred tax assets
Net loss carryforwar: 22,38 59,34(
Pre-opening expense 891 76€
Deferred revenu 18,01« 25,99°
Deferred ren 4,54¢ 4,02¢
Unfavorable leas 765 68t
Bad debt provisiol 194 361
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 1,03( 1,907
Accrued payrol 2,06¢ 2,09z
Shar+-based compensati 4,44 7,46¢
Valuation allowanct (8,247) (21,557)
Total deferred tax asse 46,09t 81,08’
Deferred tax liabilities:
Favorable leas 9,461 10,52¢
Capitalized interes 2,47¢ 2,151
Total deferred tax liabilitie 11,93] 12,67
Deferred tax assets are analyzed a
Current 17,94( 40,11¢
Non-Current 28,15¢ 40,96¢
46,09t 81,081
Deferred tax liabilities are analyzed as
Current — —
Non-current 11,93] 12,67
11,935 12,67,
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As of December 31, 2011, the Group had tax losyfmawards of RMB237,362 which will expire betwe2812 and 2016 if not used.

The Group considers positive and negative evidémdetermine whether some portion or all of theedefd tax assets will more likely
than not be realized. This assessment considem)@other matters, the nature, frequency and sgwriecent losses, forecasts of future
profitability, the duration of statutory carryforwhperiods, the Group’s experience with tax atteisiexpiring unused and tax planning
alternatives. Valuation allowances have been astadal for deferred tax assets based on a morg likeh not threshold. The Group’s ability to
realize deferred tax assets depends on its atwligggnerate sufficient taxable income within thendarward periods provided for in the tax I
The Group has considered the following possiblecasiof taxable income when assessing the realizafideferred tax assets:

» Future reversals of existing taxable temporaryedédhces
» Further taxable income exclusive of reversing terapodifferences and carryforwarc
» Future taxable income arising from implementingpgéanning strategie:

The Group has also considered specific known toénmtofits expected to be reflected for a compapgrating in the hotel industry. The
Group believes it is more-likely-than-not that tBeup will realize the benefits of these deductitiféerences, net of the existing valuation
allowances as of December 31, 2010 and 2011. Tloaiainof the deferred tax assets considered reddizhbwever, could be reduced in the
near term if estimates of future taxable incomerduthe carryforward periods are reduced.

In accordance with the New EIT Law, dividends, whégise from profits of foreign invested enterpsigd-1ES”) earned after January 1,
2008, are subject to a 10% withholding income ténder applicable accounting principles, a defeteadiability should be recorded for
taxable temporary differences attributable to theess of financial reporting basis over tax basia domestic subsidiary. The Group intends to
permanently reinvest the undistributed earninghefGroup’s PRC subsidiaries, therefore, no prowmisor PRC dividend withholding tax was
provided.

14. MAINLAND CHINA CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Full time employees of the Group in the PRC paptité in a government-mandated defined contribuyglan pursuant to which certain
pension benefits, medical care, unemployment imagaemployee housing fund and other welfare benafe provided to employees. PRC
labor regulations require the Group to accruetiesé benefits based on a certain percentage efrtpyees’ salaries. The total contribution
for such employee benefits were RMB26,711, RMB29,84d RMB57,295 for the years ended December 319,2010 and 2011,
respectively. The Group has no ongoing obligatmitst employees subsequent to its contributiortked®RC plan.

15. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorpatéethe PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group inRR& must make appropriations from
after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve funileese reserve funds include one or more of thewing: (i) a general reserve, (i) an
enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bomus welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative tanthe general reserve fund requires annual
appropriation of 10% of after tax profit (as detared under accounting principles generally acceptéde PRC at each year-end) until the
accumulative amount of such reserve fund reach#sdQheir registered capital; the other fund ajppiations are at the subsidiaries’
discretion. These reserve funds can only be usespfecific purposes of enterprise expansion arféilstaus and welfare and are not
distributable as cash dividends and amounted to BPHBL., RMB11,186 and RMB26,915 as of December 3B2R010 and 2011,
respectively. In addition, due to restrictions ba distribution of share capital from the CompanyRC subsidiaries, the PRC subsidiaries :
capital of RMB1,790,078 at December 31, 2011 issatered restricted. As a result of these PRC lawisragulations, as of December 31,
2011, approximately RMB 1,818,493 is not availdbledistribution to the Company by its PRC subdigsiin the form of dividends, loans or
advances.
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16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one pasytie ability, directly or indirectly, to contrifiile other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making finaneatl operational decisions. Parties are also coregide be related if they are subject to
common control or common significant influence. &etl parties may be individuals or corporate eiti

The following entities are considered to be relgiaries to the Group because they are affiliateseoGroup under the common control
of the Group’s major shareholder. The related parinly act as service providers and lessors t&Gthep and there is no other relationship
wherein the Group has the ability to exercise $iggut influence over the operating and financialiges of these parties. The Group is not
obligated to provide any type of financial supporthese related parties.

Related Party Nature of the Party Relationship with the Group
Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Suzhou Commercial leasing business Controlled by Qi Ji
Propert”)
Ctrip.com International, Ltd“ Ctrip.con™) Online travel services provid Qi Ji is a directo
Winner Crown Holdings Limited. (“Winner Investment Company Controlled by Qi Ji
Crowr™”)
Qi Ji Foundetr Founder

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the ownershipeirests in Powerhill to third parties and sincentRewerhill and its wholly owned
subsidiary Suzhou Property has been no longeeck|zrty to the Group.

(@) Related party balance

Amounts due from related parties are comprisedlofa to Suzhou Property which was converted imégpayment for rent during 2009.
The amounts due from related parties were unse@aurédnterest free.

At December 31,
2010 2011
Suzhou Property 3,261

Amounts due to related parties were comprised pfrossions payable to Ctrip for reservation servid@ége amounts due to related
parties were interest free and payable upon demand.

At December 31,
2010 2011

Ctrip.com 85E 1,03(
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(b) Related party transaction
During the years ended December 31, 2009, 2012@hd, related party transactions consisted ofdaHeviing:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Rental expens— Suzhou Propert 3,614 3,64( 2,27¢
Commission expense«— Ctrip.com 9,94¢ 9,45¢ 7,96:

In August 2009, the Company issued 1,982,509 orglislaares at RMB12.32 (US$1.80) to Winner Crowntédal proceeds of
RMB24,432 (US$3,577).

In March 2010, the Company issued 7,202,482 orgishares at the price equal to the IPO price pdinary share for the total proceeds
of RMB150,572 (US$22,058) to Ctrip.com.

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
(@) Operating lease commitmen
The Group has entered into lease agreements fiaiircéiotels which it operates. Such leases arsifiled as operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellgigeating lease agreements at December 31, 20Elasdollows:

Year ending December 31,

2012 840,17¢
2013 894,19
2014 914,54¢
2015 913,67(
2016 890,85(
Thereaftel 5,676,61.
Total 10,130,05

(b) Purchase Commitment

As of December 31, 2011, the Group’s commitmentded to leasehold improvements and installatioacqufipment for hotel operations
was RMB110,472, which is expected to be incurretthiwione year.

(c) Contingencies

The Group is subject to periodic legal or admisite proceedings in the ordinary course of ouiress. The Group does not believe
that any currently pending legal or administragiveceeding to which the Group is a party will haveaterial adverse effect on the business or
financial condition.

18. Subsequent event

In March 2012, the Group entered into a bank cifeditity under which the Group can borrow up to BM00 million by May 21, 2015.
The interest rate for each draw down is establigirethe draw-down date and is adjusted annuallygdban the loan interest rate stipulated by
the People’s Bank of China for the correspondingppe The credit facility is restricted to certdintels’ renovation.

F-29



Table of Contents

ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION — FINANCIAL STATEM ENTS SCHEDULE |
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BALANCE SHEETS
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As of December 31,

2010 2011 2011
Uss$
(Note 2)
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel 39,89¢ 45,06¢ 7,161
Prepayments and other current as 12,62¢ 1,014 161
Total current asse 52,52¢ 46,08 7,322
Other asset 78¢€ 62¢ 10C
Investment in subsidiarie 2,070,34. 2,204,25! 350,22(
Total asset 2,123,65. 2,250,96! 357,64.
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:
Deferred revenu 1,571 1,50 23¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 81¢ — —
Total current liabilities 2,39¢ 1,50( 23¢
Deferred revenu 5,12: 3,37¢ 53¢
Total liabilities 7,51¢ 4,87¢ 774
Equity:
Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value per shar@0800,000 shares authorized; 241,151,75¢
242,604,223 shares issued and outstanding as ey 31, 2010 and 2011, respectivi 17¢ 17¢ 28
Additional paic-in capital 2,168,36: 2,199,95. 349,53t
Retained earnings (Accumulated defir (29,70 85,121 13,52¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (22,709 (39,166 (6,229
Total equity 2,116,13. 2,246,09- 356,86¢
Total liabilities and equit' 2,123,65. 2,250,96! 357,64.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR PARENT COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Operating costs and expens
Selling and marketing expens
General and administrative expen
Total operating costs and expen
Loss from operation

Interest incomt

Foreign exchange gain (los

Other income

Income in investment in subsidiari

Net income attributable to ordinary share holc

F-31

Year Ended December 31,

2009

2010

2011

2011

Uss$

(Note 2)

— 157 157 25
9,66/ 13,48¢ 16,447 2,61%
9,66/ 13,64 16,60¢ 2,63¢
(9,664 (13,647) (16,609 (2,63¢)
14 81: 452 72

- (547)  1,08¢ 172
— 3,02¢ 2,64¢ 421
52,19 226,09¢ 127,24¢ 20,21¢
4254F 21575, 114,83, 18,24:
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net casll is@perating activities

Shar-based compensatic
Income in investment in subsidiari
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Deferred revenu
Prepayments and other current as
Salary and welfare payat
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Investing activities:
Collection from amount due from subsidiar
Investment in subsidiarie
Net cash used in investing activiti
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance ordinary shi
Ordinary share issuance costs, net of exisitingestwdder reimbursemen
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares egercise of optiol
Net proceeds from exercise of warra
Refund of deposit for share subscript
Deposit received for exercise of opti
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashaénts
Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the

Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activiti
Issuance of ordinary shares from subscription dé|

Payment of ordinary share issuance costs throdiligration of prepayment and amount incluc

in payables
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of opfimm subscription depos
Issuance warrant for acquisition of noncontrollintgrest

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uporiseesf option included in receivak

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011 2011
Uss$

(Note 2)

42,54 215,75: 114,83: 18,24¢
7,95¢ 13,11 15,48: 2,46(
(52,19 (226,099 (127,249 (20,21%)
= 6,70( (1,825 (290)
(487)  (18,587)  12,26¢  1,95(
(1,079 — — —
(265) 15 (81€) (130
(3,527) (9,10) 12,69:  2,01i
— 13,65¢ — —
(51,347)  (979,34Y) — —
(51,34) (965,69 — —
54,94t 959,10¢ — —
— 3,93( — —
3,76¢ 41,12 7,28t 1,157
— 17,87: — —
(1,509) — - -
1,00¢€ — — —
58,21 1,022,03 7,28 1,15i
(20) (16,189 (14,806 (2,352
3,33( 31,05: 5,171 822
5,51 8,84 39,89¢ 6,33¢
8,84 39,89¢ 45,06¢ 7,161
20,76: — — —
— 7,61¢ _ _
— 1,215 — —
— 7,067 — —
— — 49¢ 8C

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements
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Note to Schedule |

Schedule | has been provided pursuant to the remeints of Rule 12-04(a) and 5-04-(c) of RegulaBeX, which require condensed
financial information as to the financial positimmange in financial position and results of ogeret of a parent company as of the same dates
and for the same periods for which audited conatdid financial statements have been presented thbewstricted net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consolidatedssats as of the end of the most recently compfistesl year.

The condensed financial information has been pespasing the same accounting policies as set ahtiaccompanying consolidated
financial statements except that the equity metrasibeen used to account for investments in itsidiaies.

Certain information and footnote disclosures notynakluded in financial statements prepared inoadance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ameramae been condensed or omitted. The footnote digidg contain supplemental information
relating to the operations of the Company anduah,ghese statements should be read in conjunaiitbrthe notes to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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This financial information has been prepared infeonity with accounting principles generally acasghin the United States.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Charge to Costs an Balance at end ¢
Balance at Charge Taken
Beginning of Yeal Expenses Against Allowance Year

(Renminbi in thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts of accou

receivables and other receivabl

December 31, 200 92z 1,252 — 2,17¢
December 31, 201 2,17k 103 — 2,27¢
December 31, 201 2,27¢ 667 — 2,94¢
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass

December 31, 200 13,51 8,472 (10,129 11,86:
December 31, 201 11,86 3,85¢ (7,477) 8,24
December 31, 201 8,247 17,35( (4,045 21,55:

* % k% % % %
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Exhibit 4.6
Contract No.:
Labor Contract

Party A (Employer): Hanting Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

Party B (Employee):
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Notice of Labor Contract Terms and Conditions
Dear Madam/Sir:

We hereby deliver a copy of this Labor Contractda to have a thorough understanding about thestamd conditions of this Labor Contract
before you signing the Contract. Meanwhile, weihf@med you any and all information upon recruitijeéncluding work duties, working
condition, working location, occupational harmdesaproduction situation, working remuneration artder information as required by
employees; You shall confirm that the labor relasioip between you and your original employer hamitgated without any non-competition
agreement or labor dispute before signing this t&mmtract. You are willing to confirm that you leamo dissidence about the above
mentioned contents and will confirm this Noticelwytour manual signature.

Employee:

Date: (month) (date) (year)
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Body Text of Labor Contract

Party A and Party B have had amicable negotiationthe equal and voluntary basis and signed thi®t €ontract to confirm the labor
relationship between Party A and Party B and spéh# rights and obligations of both parties inadance withthe Labor Law of the Peopk’
Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of theple’s Republic of Chinathe related valid regulations and the relatedsaind systems of
the Company.

Article 1 Labor Contract Term

1. The term of this Labor Contract is from[  ](month)[ ](day)[ J(year) to [ J(month)[  J(day)[ ](year) and tl
probation term hereto is from [ ](morith)](day)[ ](year) to [ J(month ](day)[ ](year)

2. This Labor Contract will be expired upon the saigieation date of contract term. In the event thé& Contract needs to be renewed,
Contract can be renewed prior to the said expmadii@te of contract term; In the event that eittatypherein is not willing to renew this
Contract, the unwilling Party shall inform the atliRarty prior to the said expiration date of coottarm in written form at least 10 days
in advance

3. Inthe event that both parties do not renew nonitggite this Contract upon the said expiration ddontract term and Party B contint
to perform the tasks appointed by Party A, bothli®aare deemed as having reached an agreememtew this Contract complying with
the original terms and conditions here

Article 2 Work Contents

1. Party A hereby appoints Party B to perform tastithe [ ] position and Party A has tight to adjust Party B’s position with the
consideration of the following referenc

(1) Party F's monthly performance evaluation recc

(2) Any change of Party’s position (or work category

(3) Party A's profitability;

(4) The suppl-demand situation in labor market and the averags e social and economical developme

2. Party B’s duties and work contents shall be apgpd by Party A with the consideration of Partys Bosition or work category, Party B’s
capability and Party A’s requirement.

3. Party B’s position, work contents and requiretaeall be implemented according to the relatégsrand regulations of Party A, including
but not limited to the recruitment requirementshaf given position,, position (recruitment) destiap, work standards, quality standards,
position evaluation regulations, the related tragrénd examination requirement and so on. PartgrBlly agrees that Party A will evaluate
Party B's performance in accordance with the saidiirements and will pay remuneration, adjust agardounishment, remuneration or
position according to the said evaluation systems.

4. Party A may adjust Party B’s position accordindParty A’s requirements and Party B’s capabilityeal practice, including but not limited
to temporary work. Party A shall inform Party B absuch position adjustment in written form (hamé&ynployee Position Adjustment Noti
or by email, if any. The said Employee Positionusiinent Notice or emails shall be performed asppendix hereto with the same legal f
and effect of this Contract with Party B's manughsature in written form or agreed email sent bytyB.

Article 3 Working Location

1. Party F's working location will be appointed at [ ]. As Party #'s operation scope is further developing, Party A aggpoint Party |
to other cities with the agreement of Party B inatte.

2. Party A may change Party's working location which has been specified heieia legal manner with the consideration of Par's
operation requirements, Part’s capability, performance and physical conditionsluding:

(1) Party As headquarter:

(2) Party ~'s wholly-funded company or joint-funded company by holding partial equi
(3) Party A's branches or offices in different locatio

(4) Party A's affiliated companies (such as franchis

(5) The locations where Party's employees supply services on business
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Article 4 Working Hour

1.

Both parties hereby agree that [ ] isdd for Party 's:
A: Regular working hour system; B: Irregular worgihour system; C: Combined working hour system.
Party E's working hour shall be stipulated or changed hyyP& The daily working hour exclude lunch hourdarst hour

In the event that irregular working hour systencombined working hour system is adopted foryPBi$ position, the actual working
hour shall be performed in accordance with thetedlzaws.

Article 5 Overtime Work

1.

Party A may appoint Party B overtime work acaogdo the actual requirement; Party B shall suppoch appointment and Party A shall
pay Party B such overtime work or grant Party B tiese in accordance of the related laws. In thenévhat Party B is willing to work
overtime, Party B shall finish overtime work applion procedures in accordance with Par's rules and regulation

In the event that Party B is required to prolemgking hours in the real practice, Party B’s divee work may not be confirmed until
such work has been approved by Party A in writtemfin advance

In the event that irregular working hour systntombined working hour system is adopted foryPBi$ position, the related
remuneration for overtime work shall be performedécordance with the related la\

Article 6 Holidays

1.
2.

Party B has the right to enjoy legal holidays, naa@e leave, funeral leave and other legal lec

Party B has the right to enjoy holidays withasalwhen Party B worked with Party A more than gear continuously; Such holidays
shall be granted to Party B in accordance withrétteted laws and regulations of China and Pa’s related rules and regulatiol

In the event that irregular working hour systent@mbined working hour system is adopted for Pa’s position, Party ’'s holidays
shall be granted in accordance with the related |

Article 7 Labor Remuneration

1.

Party B has the right to obtain remuneration fe/tér work under the precondition that Party Billalthe regular work attendance a
finished the work appointed by Party A within trelaeduled working time with the required quality andantity.

Probation term for the said positionis[ ] and the monthly salary for probation servicRMB [ ] yuan (in written letter
[ ] YUAN IN TOTAL); The monthlgalary in formal employment term with qualified pation evaluation result is RMB
[ ] yuan (in written letters: [ ] YUAN IN TOTAL) (such salary ah be paid in accordance with the position

evaluation system and the related procedures atguiby Party A)

Party A will pay Party B monthly salary in arreangmely, Party A will pay Party B salary for thepious month on thethday of the
current month in cash or in account transfer marech salary payment will be ahead of schedufgostpone in legal holiday

The income of Party B listed in Section 2 otArticle is pre-tax income. Party B shall pay widual income tax in accordance with the
relate law and shall be deducted and paid by Pady behalf of Party B (including the part of sglarhich shall be paid by Party A to
Party B according to the judgment or determinatibRarty E's labor arbitration award or the judgment of theg?’s Court).

Party A may adjust Party’s remuneration in accordance with the applicablageand conditions of the related laws and Pa’s
performance in real practice. In the event thatyParadjusts Party B’s position, Party A shall astj@arty B’s remuneration and welfare
according to the adjusted position and Party B @by Party /s decision in this regar

Party A shall pay salary to Party B for legal halid, marriage leave, funeral leave and the timegafl social activities

Party B’s bonus shall be granted in accordaritte Rarty A’s rules and regulations. Party A hastight to formulate, amend, upgrade or
cancel its bonus and allowance syst

Article 8 Social Insurance and Welfare

1.

Party A shall implement social insurance sysaeuh buy insurance for Party B in accordance wighrtdated laws and regulations in
China;

4 0of 7



It is imperative for both parties to insure sbansurance and pay the legal social insuranceipira. The contribution part which shall be
borne by Party B shall be deducted from Party Blary and paid by Party A on behalf of Party B.i8biosurance treatment and
standards shall be performed in accordance withelag¢ed laws and regulations. Party B must coutelsocial insurance in accordance
with the related laws

Party A shall upgrade its welfare treatmenteimployees and gradually increase Party B's wellarthe event that Party B is injured or
disabled or fell occupational sick or dead at wagkihour, Party A shall perform the related welfaeatment for Party B in accordance
with the related state laws, regulations and rt

The welfare treatment granted by Party A to ParfgrBParty E's sick or injury at working hour shall be implemeshin accordance wil
the related laws, regulations and ru

The welfare treatment for female employees @irtimaternity leave, birth leave and baby-nurseayk shall be implemented in
accordance with the related laws, regulations afes!

Party A will pay or adjust other subsidiariesl avelfare payment for Party B according to theteslaegulations of the Company with the
consideration of Party’s position and working location. The detailed stadd will be formulated by Party ,

Article 9 Training

1.

Party A will grant special expense for PartyoBhawve training courses. In the event that prodesdiskill training is needed, both parties
shall sign a training agreement to schedule aicestavice term

Article 10 Work Protections and Work Conditions

1.

4.

Party A shall supply necessary work conditiomd #ols for Party B and shall formulate and upgrisl production practice standards, so
as to guarantee that Party B has the related ragiatdulfill the related obligations at work. Iretevent that Party B'work involves safet
requirements, Party A shall issue Party B with safplicable and effect labor protection facilitaesd shall educate Party B with work
safety knowledge and sanitation knowledge in adeasc as to prevent Party B from accidents or catboipal harms and ensure safety
practice in a we-educated manne

Party B shall accept the managerial training arsitipm skill training supplied by Party A, so asupgrade his/her business capability
skills; Party B shall strictly comply with safetygetice rules and procedur:

Party B hereby guarantees that Party B has textdéipe safety education supplied by Party A artfwifill his/her obligations on work
protection and safety in an earnest man

In accordance with the related state regulatiorShoha, female employees and underage employeéselgiven special protection

Article 11 Working Discipline

1.

N o o s~ w

Party A shall formulate and upgrade its rules arstesns on working discipline and other relatedsw@ed systems. Party B shall stric
comply with the related state laws, rules and ratiihs of China, Party A’'Employee ManualConfidential AgreementNon-competitiol
AgreemenandDevelopment Ownership Agreemant other related rules and regulations; furthartyPB shall comply with the rules
and regulations on work safety, sanitation andtpras and work standards; Party B shall use anggr®arty A’s property in his/her
most possible prudence, comply with professiontaitet refuse any and all bribe activities and keeqfidential of Party A’s business
secrets

Party A shall formulate its rules and regulatiam®ugh legal procedures and shall release in ptilicform Party B about such rules ¢
regulations

Party B will accept Party 's management and requirement and may not leaveehisdsition without Party's permission in advanc
Party B shall fulfill any and all tasks and econor@Ergets appointed by Party

Party B may not commence on any -time job which is similar to Party’s business scope or has profit conflict with P&’'s busines:
Party B shall have business trips as required Ioty Pa

In the event that Party B breaches Party A’skimgr discipline, Party A has the right to managd puanish such breach behavior of Party
B in accordance with the related laws, rules agdlegions of China and Party A’s rules and regataiand Party A has the right to
directly send Party B to judicial authority in aises case

Article 12 Alteration, Cancellation and Termination of Contract

1.

Both parties hereby agree that alteration, cant@tiaand termination of this Contract shall be perfed in accordance withe Labor
Contract Lawand the related effective rules and regulati
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2. When this Contract is cancelled or terminatedtyPB must finished hand-over procedures in acocd with the agreed schedule with
Party A. In the event that any economic compensatazurred in such hand-over procedures, Partyall pay Party B such
compensation after Party B finished the said -over procedures which have been inspected and tactbp Party A

Article 13 Liabilities of Breach Contract

1. Party B shall bear compensation responsibilityFfarty A when Party A suffers losses which arisenftermination contract for the rea:
of Party E's breach of Article 39 cthe Labor Contract Law

2. Inthe event that both parties have reached otjreeaent on the issues of I-competition, training and service term, such agess
shall be performed in accordance witle Labor Contract Lavand the implementation regulations and the relaggdements signed by
both parties

Article 14 Business Secrets

1. Inthe event that Party A suffers economic lesaésing from cancellation of this Contract foe tieason that Party B breaches this
Contract or breaches confidential agreement orgwmnpetition agreement, Party B shall bear any drabmpensation liabilities in
accordance with the related lav

Article 15 Settlement of Labor Dispute

1. Inthe event that any dispute arising from perfarogaof this Contract, both parties shall settlehatispute through amicable negotiatic
Should such negotiations fail, both parties mayhatipthe Labor Union of the Company for coordinatiand settlement; Should such
coordination and settlement fail, both parties rmpgly to Labor Dispute Arbitration Commission fobigration settlement; Either party
herein may directly apply to Labor Dispute Arbitosit Commission for settlemer

Article 16 Miscellaneous

1. The company rules and regulations and agreemeendpfes formulated and released by Party A in atzooze with the related laws st
have the equal and same legal force and effetti@€bntract. The appendixes hereto are listedlasifs:

(1) Position (Employment) Statement, Working Princides Standards, Quality Standards and Evaluati@and&tds
(2) Other agreement on working duties signed by bothigzaherein

(3) Party As documents on its rules, systems and procec

(4) Employee Manual, Confidential Agreement, ServicenT&greement

(5) Position evaluation system, emails and variouscestissued from time to tim

(6) Professional Ethics and Business Behavior Stanc

2. Party A may dispatch Party B to Party A's asatmd company to fulfill Party A’s work requirememith Party B’s consent in advance.
When Party B signs the Employee Work Adjustmentedtent and confirms such work adjustment by erRailty B is deemed as having
signed labor contract with the associated compahg.said Employee Work Adjustment Statement andaie: email sent by Party B
shall be deemed as the proof of signing labor eshtwith the said associated company; the workgeyaf Party B shall be commenced
from the earliest employment commencement date Rattty A or Party /s associated compar

3. As Party A is a company running economy hotelrchParty B hereby agrees that Party A’s liati$it{including but not limited, paying
salary, paying social insurance, housing fund andrg may be fulfilled by its associated companybehalf of Party A as required by
Party A’'s operation needs; In the event that PAlsyassociated company fulfilled Party A’s liabidis on behalf of Party A to Party B,
such liabilities shall be deemed as having fulfilley Party A.

4.  As for any and all issues which have not besoudised herein, both parties may have amicabldiaggons and sign a supplementary
agreement. The said supplementary agreement shedlthe same and equal legal force and effeci@€tntract. In the event that any
and all inconsistency between this Contract andséie supplementary contract, the said supplementartract shall be preva

5.  This Contract is signed in duplicate copies &ilbbe take effect with seals and signatures dhlmarties. Party A and Party B hold each
copy respectively

6. This Contract is signed in Shanghai Xuhui Distrike Peopl’'s Republic of Chine
(No text following this page; the next one is signa page.)
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Signhature Page

Party A: Party B:
(seal) (signature’
Legal Person He Hui ID Card:
Address: No0.2266, Honggiao Road, Changning Distr
Shanghai Address
Tel: 021-61952011 Tel:
Date: (month) (date) (year) Date: (month) (date) (year)

7 of 7



Exhibit 4.10
Appendix IV:

No.: 16122000046

Fixed Assets Loan Contract
(2012Version)

Special reminder: This contract is concluded throug negotiation by the borrower and the lender on théasis of equality and
voluntariness in accordance with related laws; alterms and conditions of the contract are the true xpression of the two parties’
intention. In order to safeguard the legal interest and rights of the borrower, the lender hereby rerinds the borrower to pay full
attention to all terms and conditions in relation b the two parties’ rights and obligations, particulrly those in bold.
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Lender: Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 8hai Caohejing Development Zone Branch
Person in charge: Li Yuchar@€pntact person: Cheng Jiamin

Domicile (address): No. 900 Yishan Road, Xuhui f)$t ShanghaZip code: 200233

Telephone: 54235423ax: 6495649%-mail: /

Borrower: Hanting Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Cdd, L
Legal representative: He HGiontact person: Qian Lei

Domicile (address): No. 2266 Honggiao Road, Shaingipacode: 200000
Telephone: 6195201Aax: E-mail: /

The lender and the borrower, having reached areaggnt on the issue of granting a loan to the baerdw the lender through
negotiation on an equal basis, hereby concludedctitract.

Part | Conditions of loan

Article | Purpose of the loan

The purpose of the loan under this contract is: #@on Yuan is used in priority to pay for thenmnaining costs of decoration projects for
hotels in operation, the remainder is used to dathe loans of related parties of the cash @6, million Yuan is used to pay for the costs of
decoration projects for 23 hotelgithout written approval of the lender, the bavey shall not use the loan out of the scope optimpose, and
the lender shall have the right to supervise tleeafighe loan.

Article Il Amount and period of the loan

2.1The currency of the loan under this contract isrRiabi, the amount is 500,000,00@an (amount in words: five hundred million
Yuan) (in case of inconsistency between the amountdrde/and the amount in figures, the amount in wehagl prevail).

2.2The period of the loan under this contract is dpegtby method (2) as follows:

(1) The period of the loan under this contractis  / , Starting from taetual date of withdrawal (from the date of first
withdrawal in the case of withdrawal by installm@nthe actual date of withdrawal shall take theeigt as the norm.

(2) The period of the loan under this contract years, from March 27, 201 March 26, 2017 the actual date of withdrawal shall take the
receipt as the norm.




Article Il Interest rate and calculation of intere st
3.1 Method of determining the interest rate of RMBloans

The interest rate of RMB loans is determined byhoét (2)  as follows:
(1) Fixed interest rate, the annual interest rate Is %, which remains unchanged within the vakdiod of the contract.

(2) Floating interest rate, the loan interest ratesi®nined by the benchmark interest rate plusldaifig range, among which the
benchmark interest rate is the benchmark inteegstaf the People’s Bank of China for the term egponding to the loan period specified by
Article 2.2 on the date of withdrawgdate of withdrawal/date of contract effectivengti® floating range igero (upward/downward/zero)

| %. After the borrower withdraws the monthe loan interest rate, taking (3/6/12) months as a period, will be adjusted once in each
period, and the interest will be calculated by epefiod. The date of determining the interest oditthe second period is the corresponding day
upon the expiration of one period after the datwittidrawal, if there is no date correspondinghte tlate of withdrawal in the month of
adjustment, then the last day of that month sheathie corresponding day, the rest may be infemethalogy. If the borrower withdraws the
money in several installments, the loan interest vall be adjusted by methdg@las follows:

A. Regardless the times of withdrawal within one paribshall be executed according to the loan egerate of the period as is
determined on the date of determining the intenast for that period, which shall be simultaneowsdjusted in the next period.

B. The loan interest rate of each withdrawal shakbégarately determined and adjusted.
(3) Others: /

3.2 Method of determining the interest rate of loar in foreign currency

The interest rate of loans in foreign currencyegedmined by method __/ _ as follows:

(1) Fixed interest rate, the annual interest rate is %, and the interest rate remains unchangd#dnihe valid period of the
contract.

(2) Floating interest rate, the loan interest rateciednined by taking / months’ / BOR/HIBOR) as the benchmark
interest rate plus the interest difference of WBasis points (i.e., 0.01%). With the termtad tontract, the interest difference of added basis
points remains unchanged. After the borrower witladr the money, the benchmark interest rate widdjasted by method /  as follows,
with the interest calculated section by section:

A. The benchmark interest rate floats in accordante tive corresponding period. The date of adjustiegbenchmark interest rate
of the second period is the corresponding day efpmeriod after the date of withdrawal, if ther@@sdate corresponding to the date of
withdrawal in the month of adjustment, then thé tkes/ of that month shall be the corresponding d#ygther periods may be inferred in
analogy.

B. Adjust the benchmark interest rate on the first ofagach interest period.
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(3) Others: /

3.3The interest of the loan under this contract wélldalculated from the actual date of withdrawad] settled by quarter
(month/quarter/half a year). When the loan expities,interest shall be cleared together with thecgpal. A term of 360 days shall be deemed
as the calculation base of daily interest rate,taedormula is: daily interest rate = annual iestrrate/360.

3.4 The penalty interest rate on overdue loan undsrdbintract is determined by an increase o%6n the basis of the original loan
interest rate; the diverted penalty interest raigeitermined by an increase of%0on the basis of the original loan interest rate.

Article IV Withdrawal

The borrower shall withdraw the loan according tactical needs of money, among which the firstatstent of loan must be withdrawn
before May 22, 2012and the last installment of loan must be withdrdefore May 21, 20150therwise the lender shall have the right to
cancel all or part of the loan.

Article V Repayment

5.1 The borrower shall repay the loan in line with tbkowing repayment schedule (add separate pagt®inase of too many items for
the table below):

Scheduled amou

of repayment
(Ten thousand
Scheduled time of repayme Yuan)
June 20, 201 1,500
September 20, 201 4,500
December 20, 201 2,500
March 20, 201: 1,500
June 20, 201 4,000
September 20, 201 4,000
December 20, 201 2,250
March 20, 201« 2,250
June 20, 201 4,000
September 20, 201 4,000
December 20, 201 2,250
March 20, 201* 2,250
June 20, 201 4,000
September 20, 201 4,000
December 20, 201 2,250
March 20, 201¢ 2,250
June 20, 201 625
September 20, 201 625
December 20, 201 625
March 20, 201" 625



5.2 If the loan under this contract is under the flowing circumstances, the borrower shall immediatly repay the loan after the
corresponding capital is in place; the borrower dos not need to pay compensation money in the caseeafrly repayment caused thereb

/
/

5.3 Except for the circumstances specified in Artle 5.2, for early repayment, the borrower shall mak payment of compensation
money to the lender by / % of the amount cfarly repayment.

Article VI Special agreement on revolving loan(Optional article, this article isApplicable ¢ Not applicable)

The borrower cantake / (half a year/orerip@o years/three years/four years/five yearsjresperiod (hereafter referred to as the
unit loan period), to revolve the use of the loader this contract. After performing necessary falities, the principal of the loan not repaid
within the previous loan period can be continuousgd within the next loan period, but the dateafurity of any withdrawal shall not the
exceed the expiry date of the period of loan refito in the above-mentioned Article 1.

Article VIl Guaranty
7.1The loan under this contract is guarantésrddit/guaranteed) loan.

7.21f the loan under this contract is guaranteed Isae,the guaranty contract that is separately difprdssues of guaranty. If the related
guaranty consists of maximum amount guaranty, theesponding maximum amount guaranty contract felésvs:

Name of the maximum amount guaranty contract: mariramount guaranty contrg@o.: 16122000046101, 16122000046102,
16122000046103, 16122000046104, 16122000045105

Guarantor: Hanting (Tianjin) Investment Consultat{@o., Ltd., Shanghai Hanting Hotel Management GrGuo., Ltd., Yiju (Shanghai)
Hotel Management Co., Ltd., Hanting Technology (8w Co., Ltd., and Hanting (Shanghai) Enterprissn&bement Co., Ltd.
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Article XIII Financial agreement (Optional article, this article isApplicable” Not applicable)
Within the valid period of this contract, the boxer shall observe the following agreements on fifgrindicators:

The borrowelrs credit rating, assdibility ratio, profitability, cash flow from opeting activities all exceed the industry average

Article IX Dispute settlement
The way of dispute settlement under this contct i (2)

(1) Submit the dispute to / Arbitrati@ommission, which will conduct arbitration at / (place of arbitration)
according to the effective arbitration rules of emmission at the time of submitting the arbitratapplication. The arbitral award shall be
final, and binding on both parties.

(2) Settle disputes through lawsuit in the court lodatethe lender’s area.

Article X Miscellaneous

10.1This contract is made in tweopies, with the lender, borrower, and / chelaolding onecopy, which shall have the same legal
effect.

10.2The following appendixes and other appendixes lpianfirmed by both parties constitute an integratty of this contract, and
have the same legal effect with this contract:

Appendix 1: Notice of withdrawal (format)

Appendix 2: Agreement on commissioned payment

Appendix 3:

Article XI Other issues agreed by the two parties

11.1 If the project exceeds the expenditures, treolwver shall settle with self-raised funds.

11.2 Open a special capital account in the lertherconstruction capital of this project and altted borrower’s revenues shall be
collected in this special account 1001266319880680®hich shall be under the budget-style closédabervision that is carried out by a
professional institution approved by the lendethat the lender’s approval, the borrower shallmake outward payment of costs irrelevant
to operation, and the balance shall be used irepete to repay the loan to the lender.

11.3 Without the lender’s approval, the borrowelshot make incremental bank financing, providamunty and outward investment.

11.4 1) The borrower shall report information ofward guaranty to the lender on a regular basid promise that the information and
amount of outward guaranty provided to the lendeoimplete, authentic, accurate.

2) The borrower shall truthfully report the usesath installment to the lender, and promise tratdan borrowed from the lender will
not flow into the stock market, futures market ity dorm, or be used for equity capital investmentiolation of related national regulations.
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3) In the case of one of the following circumstanizethe loan period, the lender shall have thietrig declare early maturity of the loan,
stop granting the loan not granted yet, and askdtnmower to repay in advance part or all of thenged loans, or ask the borrower to provide
legal, effective guaranty approved by the lender:

(1) Without the lender’s written approval, the lmaver create mortgage (pledge) to others or prowide/ard guaranty with its
effective operating assets, leading to increasad kisks of the lender.

(2) The borrower’s credit rating, profitability lely asset-liability ratio, cash flow from operatiagtivities do not conform to our
bank’s requirements on credit loan, or substaotiahges of its production, operation and finansitalations have unfavorable influence on the
safety of the lender’s loans.

11.5 In the case of breach of a loan contract lyyesmerprise in the “Hanting group”, it will be r@gled as breach of the loan contract of
this project, while the lender shall have the rightieclare early maturity of the loan.

11.6 In the case of equity change or asset assignthe borrower shall notify the lender in advaaod obtain the written approval of |
lender.

11.7 When handling the property insurance for thees of this project, the lender shall be the fieneficiary, and the period of
insurance shall cover the period of the loan.

11.8 If the borrower or the borrower’s shareholoeaches its promise to the lender, it will be rdgd as breach of this contract, the
lender shall have the right to declare early mgtui the loan, and hold the borrower accountabiebfeach of contract.

11.9 The borrower clearly knows and agrees thgr afgning this loan contract, owing to factorstsas the loan granting process, or
restrictions, adjustment of national credit polittys possible that the actual period of loan issghorter than the loan period specified in this
contract. If, owing to the banking process, nati@madit policy, policy adjustment by the PeoplBank and the Banking Regulatory
Commission and other causes not attributable tedh@mercial bank, the loan finally cannot be grdriethe granting of loan is delayed, the
bank will not assume corresponding liabilities.



Party Il Terms and conditions of the fixed assetsdan contract

Article | Interest rate and calculation of interest

1.1For the loan in foreign currency, LIBOR refers e inter-Bank Offered Rate in the currency of tienl under this contract revealed
in REUTRES Financial Telecom Terminal “LIBO=" patyeo bank working days (Noon 11:00 London time) befthe date of withdrawal or
the date of adjusting the benchmark interest tatBOR refers to the Inter-Bank Offered Rate in HIAr revealed in REUTRES Financial
Telecom Terminal “HIBO=" page two bank working daj#oon 11:15 Hong Kong time) before the date ohditiwal or the date of adjusting
the benchmark interest rate.

1.21f the interest of the loan is settled by the mathién date of interest settlement is theh20 dayaohenonth; if settled by quarter, the
date of interest settlement is thet20 day of teerzonth of each quarter; if settled by half a y&ae date of interest settlement is June 20 and
December 20 of each year.

1.3 The first interest period is from the actual datevithdrawal by the borrower to the first date ofdrest settlement; the last interest
period is from the next day of the end of the prasiinterest period to the final date of repaymta;other interest periods are from the next
day of the end of the previous interest to the waté of interest settlement.

1.41f the loan under this contract adopts a floatimigiiest rate, the rules of interest rate adjustvwen the loan is overdue shall be
executed in the original way.

1.51f the People’s Bank of China adjusts the methodeiérmining the loan interest rate that is appliedo the loan under this contract,
then it will be handled in observance to relategutations of the People’s Bank of China, and timelég will not separately notify the borrower.

1.6 If it is determined at the time of signing thiscontract that the loan interest rate is executedyfloating downward a certain
proportion according to the related loan benchmarkinterest rate promulgated by the People’s Bank of @ina, the lender shall have the
right to reevaluate the preferential interest rategranted to the borrower each year, and decide onstown to cancel part or all of the
preferential interest rate granted to the borroweraccording to national policies, the borrower’s cred status and changes in loan
guaranty and other situations, and timely notify the borrower.

Article Il Granting and payment of the loan

2.1 The borrower must satisfy the preconditions of diitwal specified by this contract to withdraw than; otherwise the lender is not
obliged to grant any loan to the borrower, unlésslénder agrees to grant the loan first:

2.2 Preconditions of the first withdrawal:

(1) The loan project has been approved, ratified edfiy the state authorities; (except those notiredtio be approved, ratified or
filed before granting the loan in accordance witlated provisions);



(2) The project capital or other funds to be raisedpaid in full amount in line with the specified &nand proportion;

(3) Except for credit loan, the borrower has providedesponding guaranty and finished handling relgtgatanty formalities
according to the lender’s requirements;

(4) The borrower submits the withdrawal notice to #eder as specified by this contract;

(5) The lender has sufficient credit capital for dbcation; the credit capital for allocation refersto the credit scale that the
lender can grant within a certain period in accordance with related credit policies.

2.3 Before each withdrawal, besides satisfying the gmdiions of the first withdrawal, the borrower Blzso satisfy the following
preconditions:

(2) If the project capital is paid in installments, tepital of that period is paid in full amount thetproportion;
(2) No occurrence of cost overrun or the settlemeigbst overrun with self-raised funds;

(3) The project progress fulfilled as scheduled, amdaittual project progress matches the amount estment;
(4) No occurrence of the breach of contract underabigract or other contracts signed with the lender;

(5) The materials provided to prove the purpose ofdhe is consistent with the specified purpose.

2.4 The written documents provided by the borroweh®lender shall be the original; if unable to pdevthe original, after obtaining tl
lender’s consent, the borrower can provide dumicaipies stamped with the borrower’s official seal.

2.5To apply for withdrawal, the borrower shall subthi¢ withdrawal notice to the lender at least 5 bankking days in advance. Once
submitted, the withdrawal notice cannot be candeM#hout the written approval of the lender.

2.61If the lender agrees to the borrowgewithdrawal after examination and approval, tmelé transfers the loan to the account desigi
by the borrower, which is regarded that the lerder granted the loan to the borrower accordingededrms of this contract.

2.7 According to related regulatory rules and the lelsdmanagement requirements, the loan exceedirtgineamount or meeting certain
conditions shall adopt the mode of commissionedv@yt by the lender, where the lender, accordingedorrower’s withdrawal application
and payment entrustment, makes payment of thedapital to the object of payment consistent with purpose specified by this contract. For
this purpose, the borrower shall separately sigaggeement on commissioned payment with the leasl@n appendix to this contract, and
open or designate a special account in the lengegimises to handle the issues of commissioned @atym
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Article Il Repayment

3.1 The borrower shall timely repay the principal, net&t of the loan and other due payment in full am@s specified by the contract.
the date of repayment or one bank working day gdaach date of interest settlement, the borr@hal deposit the due interest, principal and
other due payment in sufficient amount into theaggpent account opened in the lender’s premisedettter shall have the right to actively
transfer and collect on the date of repayment edtite of interest settlement, or ask the borrdavepoperate to handle relevant transfer
formalities. If the money in the account is notfmignt to pay all due payment of the borrower, ligreder shall have the right to decide the ¢
of payment.

3.21f the borrower applies for early repayment ofalparty of the loan, the borrower shall submitrétten application to the lender 10
bank working days in advance, obtain the lendestssent, and make payment of compensation mondyettehder by the standards specified
by this contract.

3.3For early repayment approved by the lender, theobar shall simultaneously pay off the due printip#erest of the loan and other
payment until the date of early repayment as sjgectly the contract on the date of early repayment.

3.4 In the case that the actual loan period is shtaned owing to early repayment by the borrower or arly collection of the loan by
the lender according to terms of this contract, theorresponding term of interest rate will not be agusted, and the original loan interest
rate will be executed.

Article IV Revolving loan

4.11f the loan under this contract can be used inlkgng order, the starting date of the first uniatoperiod is the date of first withdraw
the starting date of the second unit loan peridtéscorresponding day upon the expiration of ceréop after the date of first withdrawal, if
there is no date corresponding to the date ofififdtdrawal in the starting month of a unit loarripd, then take the last day of that month as
the corresponding day, the rest may be inferrezhadogy. Once determined, the unit loan period caha adjusted without the lender’s
approval.

4.2 After the first unit loan period, the balance dditoof every unit loan period shall be smaller tf@nbalance of loan of the previous
unit loan period; upon the expiration of every doén period, the borrower shall repay the loaroediag to the specified repayment plan. The
loan cannot be used in revolving order within each loan period.

4.31f the RMB revolving loan adopts a floating intetreste, the benchmark interest rate shall be détedraccording to the benchmark
interest rate of the People’s Bank of China comesing to the term of the unit loan period.

Article V Guaranty

5.1 Except for credit loan, the borrower shall proviegal and effective guaranty approved by the lefigethe performance of its
obligations under this contract. The guaranteereohwvill be separately signed.

5.21f the collateral under this contract is damagegprdciated, under ownership dispute, sealed upiped, or the mortgagor disposes of
the mortgage without authorization, or adverse gharhappen to the financial situations of the gutareof the guaranty or other changes
adverse to the lender’s credit happen, the borraivell promptly notify the lender, and separateltyjme other guaranty approved by the
lender.
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5.3If the pledge guaranty for the loan under this ettis provided with accounts receivable, wittia valid period of this contract,
under one of the following circumstances, the lerslall have the right to declare immediate mafwftthe loan, and ask the borrower to
immediately repay part or all of the principal anterest of the loan, or add on legal, effectivéfisient guaranty approved by the lender:

(1) The rate of bad account of the pledger of the attsoreceivable to the paysraccount receivable has increased for consecy
2 months;

(2) The due yet not collected accounts receivable®pthdger of the accounts receivable to the payayumnt for more than 5% of
the payer’s accounts receivable;

(3) Trade disputes (including but not limited to qugltechnological, service disputes) or debt dispuiecur between the pledgetr
the accounts receivable and the payer or othet farties, leading to that the accounts receivatalg not be repaid duly upon maturity.

Article VI Insurance

6.1 According to the lender’s requirements, the bornoskell purchase insurance for the equipment, ptaenstruction, cargo transport
as well as risks in the period of project consinrcaind operation that are related to the loangotap the insurance company approved by the
lender; the type and period of the insurance sha#t the lender’s requirements, and the amoumtsofféance shall cover the loan risks.

6.2 Within the valid period of this contact, the borvshall not interrupt the insurance for any reastfrthe insurance is interrupted,
lender shall have the right to renew the insurargaurchase insurance on the borrower’s behalf) thi¢ costs assumed by the borrower. If the
borrower and related parties make substantial rwadiibn to or early terminate the policy, they s$imaltify the lender 30 days in advance and
obtain the lender’s consent, otherwise, the borrahall assume liabilities for losses sufferedHmy lender owing to interruption or termination
of the insurance, modification of the policy.

6.3 The policy shall indicate that, the lender is tleespn with priority to compensation (the primaryéfciary) upon the presentation of
insurance, and the insurer shall directly pay tiseliance benefit to the lender. There shall beermog and conditions restricting the lender’s
rights and interests in the policy.

6.4 The borrower shall notify the lender in writing hiit 3 days from the date when the borrower knowshould have known the
occurrence of the insurance accident, and pronctdiyn compensation from the insurance company @omance with related provisions of
insurance contract.he insurance indemnity or compensation shall be esl for early repayment of the loan under this contact, or used tc
restore the value of the project upon the lender'approval, or deposit in the account designated byhe lender, as the security deposit to
guarantee the performance of the borrower’s debt uder this contract.
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Article VII Warranty and representation

The borrower makes the following warranties and repesentations to the lender, and maintains their effctiveness throughout the
valid period of this contract:

7.1The loan project and its loan items conform tordguirements of laws and legal regulations;

7.2 The borrower has the qualifications for a subjecthe borrower, and has the qualification and dap#ar signing and performing th
contract.

7.3 Signing this contract has obtained all requiredharization or approval, signing and performing tasitract does not violate the
provisions of the Articles of Association of ther@pany and related laws and legal regulations, aed dot conflict with the obligations
assumed under other contracts.

7.4 Other due debts have been paid on time, and naioadi default of the principal and interest of bérdns.

7.5With sound organization structure and financial agegment system, there is no serious violation figline in the process of
production and operation in recent one year, anchajor bad record of incumbent senior managemensbpeel.

7.6 All the documents and materials provided to thelégrare authentic, accurate, complete and effeatiith no false record, major
omission or misleading statement.

7.7 The financial accounting report provided to thedienis formulated in accordance with the accoursitagdards of China, which
truthfully, fairly, completely reflects the borrowe operating situation and debt situation, andehien’t any substantial adverse change in the
borrower’s financial situation since the final dafehe latest financial accounting report.

7.8No concealment to the lender of lawsuit, arbitrao claims involving the borrower.

Article VIII The borrower’'s commitment

8.1 Withdraw and use the loan according to the peoid and purpose specified by this contract, the moeborrowed will not flow
into the stock market, futures market, or be useddr other purposes prohibited or restricted by relaed laws and legal regulations.

8.2Repay the principal, interest of the loan and other payment in accordance with the terms of thigrect.

8.3 Accept and proactively cooperate with the lenden the inspection and supervision of the use ohe loan capital including its
purpose in the form of account analysis, certificat inspection, site investigation, etc., and summae and report the use of the loan
capital on a regular basis according to the lendes requirements.
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8.4 Accept the lender’s credit check, and provide begasheet, income statement and other financialuetitgy materials and other
materials reflecting the borrower’s debt-payindiaihiassist and cooperate with the lender in itigasion, comprehension and supervision of
the borrower’s production and operating and finahsituations.

8.5 Do not distribute the interest and dividend bedre paying off the principal and interest of the l@n under this contract and othe!
due payment.

8.6 When carrying out merger, separation, capital eduction, equity change, major asset or debt transf, major outward
investment, substantial increment of debt financingand other activities that may have adverse effecn the rights and interests of the
lender, the borrower can proceed only after obtaimg the lender’s consent in writing or making arrangments of the lenders credit that
satisfy the lender.

8.7 In the case of the occurrence of one of the follgadircumstances, the borrower shall promptly gdtie lender:
(1) Changes in the company’s Articles of Associati@mope of business, registered capital, legal reptatiee;

(2) Discontinuation of business, dissolution, liquidati suspension of business for rectification, beegked of the business
license, being cancelled or application for (beapglied for) bankruptcy;

(3) Getting involved or may get involved in major ecorio disputes, lawsuit, arbitration, or the propéstgealed up, seized, or
monitored;

(4) Shareholder, director and incumbent senior managepesonnel are involved in major cases or ecoaatisputes.
8.8 Promptly, completely, accurately disclose the ezlgiarty relationships and related party transastio the lender.
8.9 Timely sign for receiving various notices maileddetivered by the lender in other modes.

8.10Do not dispose of self-owned assets in the wayeztkening the debt-paying ability; without the lersieonsent, do not use the
assets formed with the loan under this contraptéeide guaranty to a third party.

8.11If the loan under this contract is granted in thwrf of credit, the borrower shall completely, tfutly, accurately report the
information of outward guaranty to the lender aiegular basis, and sign the account monitoringeagent in line with the lender’s
requirements. The outward guaranty that may affecperformance of its obligations under this cacttshall be approved by the lender in
writing.

8.12Support the lender to participate in the three-letidigudget estimate, budget, and final accounpdation, construction bidding and
construction completion and acceptance and oteaessof the loan project.

8.13 Assume the costs occurred in signing and perfoing this contract, as well as the paid and due g@enses for the lender to
realize the credit under this contract, including ut not limited to litigation or arbitration fees, property preservation cost, lawyer fee,
enforcement charge, evaluation fee, auction fee, plic announcement fee, etc.

8.14The order of repayment of the debt under this emtnas priority over that of the borrower’s debits shareholders, and is at least
on an equal standing to similar debts of the boerswother creditors.
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Article IX The lender’'s commitment
9.1 Grant the loan to the borrower in accordance vétins of this contract.

9.2Keep confidential the non-public materials and infation provided by the borrower, unless stipulattdgerwise by laws and legal
regulations and specified otherwise by this comtrac

Article X Breach of contract
10.1The occurrence of one of the following circumstancenstitutes breach of contract by the borrower:
(1) The borrower fails to repay the principal and iagtrof the loan and other due accounts under tiisact as specified, or fails
perform any other obligations under this contractyiolates the warranties, representations or citmemts under this contract;

(2) The guaranty under this contract has undergonegesaadverse to the lender’s credit, and the boméaile to separately
provide other guaranty approved by the lender;

(3) The borrower fails to pay off any other debts (inithg being declared as early maturity) after nigtuor refuses to perform or
breaches the obligations under other agreementshwilas affected or may affect the performancesobbligations under this contract;

(4) The borrower’s profitability, delypaying ability, operating capacity, cash flow antker financial indicators have been below
standards, or have deteriorated, which have affemtenay affect the performance of its obligationsler this contract;

(5) Substantial adverse changes happen to the borsaleateholding structure, production and operatiatward investment,
which has affected or may affect the performandisasbligations under this contract;

(6) The borrower is involved in or may get involvedniajor economic disputes, lawsuit, arbitration,teraissets are sealed up,
seized or under compulsory execution, or the bogrdwinvestigated and prosecuted or penalty measare taken by the judicial authority or
administrative authority according to law, or therower is exposed by the media in violation o&tetl state regulations or policies, which has
affected or may affect the performance of its dligns under this contract;

(7) Abnormal change, missing or legal investigatiomestriction of personal freedom by judicial auttyof the borrower’'s major
individual investors, key management personnelcivhias affected or may affect the performancesaflifigations under this contract;

(8) The borrower acquires fraudulently the lendarapital or credit making use of false contrachwelated parties or making use
transactions with no practical transaction backgdywr has the intent of credit fraud through edaransactions;

(9) The borrower has undergone or may undergo disaation of business, dissolution, liquidation, susgen of business for
rectification, being revoked of the business lieeri®ing cancelled or application for (being appfier) bankruptcy;
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(10) The borrower has caused responsible accident duieltdion of related laws and legal regulationgervisory provisions or
industry standards on food safety, production gafatZironment protection, which has affected or rafigct the performance of its obligations
under this contract;

(11) The project capital is not paid as scheduled op@rioned, or not made up within the time specitigdhe lender;

(12) Failure to complete the project construction oresithe, or substantial adverse changes happen prdiext construction and
operating environment, conditions;

(13) If the loan under this contract is granted in thienf of credit, the borrower’s indicators such adargrade, profit level, assets-
liabilities ratio, operating net cash flow, etc. miat meet the lender’s conditions of credit loasrsyithout the written approval of the lender, the
borrower mortgages/pledges its effective operadisgpts to others or provide guaranty to outsigérich has affected or may affect the
performance of its obligations under this contract;

(14) The existence of other circumstances that may hdverse effects on the realization of the lendeeslit under this contract.
10.2 If the borrower breaches the contract, the leser shall have the right to adopt one or several dhe following measures:
(1) Ask the borrower to correct the breach of contact within a time limit;

(2) Stop granting the loan and other financing payrant to the borrower according to this contract andother contracts
between the lender and the borrower, cancel part oall the loan and other financing payment not yet wthdrawn by the borrower;

(3) Declare immediate maturity of the loan and othefinancing payment not repaid under this contractand other contracts
between the lender and the borrower, and immediatglcollect the payment not repaid;

(4) Demand the borrower to compensate for the lossesuffered by the lender owing to the borrower’s beach of contract;
(5) Other measures stipulated by laws and legal regptions, specified by this contract or deemed nessary by the lender.

10.3If the loan is due (including being declares as ediate maturity) and the borrower fails to repagpecified, the lender shall have
the right to calculate and collect penalty intef®sthe penalty interest rate on overdue loan §peldn this contract from the date of overdue.
For the interest not paid timely by the borrowecpapound interest will be calculated and colledtgdhe penalty interest rate on overdue
loan.

10.41f the borrower fails to use the loan for the puspaspecified in the contract, the lender shall haeeight to, from the date the loal
used for other purpose, calculate and collect peiaterest for the part used for other purposeatiag to the penalty interest rate specified by
this contract, for the interest not timely paididgrthe period when the loan was used for othep@sg, compound interest will be calculated
and collected according to the penalty interest fat loans used for other purpose.
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10.5If the circumstances listed in above-mentioneddlet 10.3, 10.4 simultaneously occurred to thedveer, the penalty interest rate
shall be determined by choosing the more serioes lut not imposed one in addition to another.

10.6 If the borrower fails to timely repay the principal, interest (including penalty interest and corpound interest) of the loan or
other due payment, the lender shall have the rightio urge repayment by public announcement on the meal.

10.7In the case that the relationship of controlling &eing controlled between the borrower’s relatadips and the borrower has
changed, or other circumstances except itemsZLpf(Article 10.1 occurred to the borrower’s reldiparties, which have affected or may
affect the performance of the borrower’s obligasiamder this contract, the lender shall have i to take all measures specified by this
contract.

Article XI Deduction

11.1 When the borrower fails to repay the due debtéincluding being declared as immediate maturity) nder this contract as
specified, the lender shall have the right to deducelated money from all the local and foreign curency accounts the borrower has
opened at the lender or other branch institutions bthe Industrial and Commercial Bank of China to pay off the debts, until all the
borrower’s debts under this contract have been paiaff.

11.2 If the money deducted is inconsistent with theurrency of this contract, it will be converted acording to the exchange rate
applicable to the lender on the date of deductiorThe interests and other fees occurred in the periofom the date of deduction to the
date of payment (the date when the lender converthe deducted money to the currency of the contraaccording to state policies on
foreign exchange administration and actually paysfbthe debts under this contract), and the differee occurred in this period owing to
fluctuations of exchange rate shall be assumed blge borrower.

11.3 If the money deducted by the lender does natffice to pay off all debts of the borrower, the leder shall have the right to
determine the order of repayment.

Article XII Transfer of rights and obligations

12.1The lender shall have the right to transfer pasdlbof its rights under this contract to a thirary, where the lender’s transfer does
not require consent from the borrower. Withoutuhédten approval of the lender, the borrower shall transfer any of its rights and obligati
under this contract.

12.2The lender or the Industrial and Commercial Banibina Limited (“ICBC") can, according to the needperation and
management, authorize or entrust other branchutistis of ICBC to perform the rights and obligasounder this contract, or put the loan
credit under this contract under the administratibother branch institutions of ICBC, the borrovinereby approves of this, and the lender’s
above-mentioned conduct does not require the b@rswonsent. Other branch institutions of ICBC emaking the lender’s rights and
obligations shall have the right to exercise ghts under this contract, and have the right eodilawsuit, resort to arbitration or apply for
compulsory execution in relation to disputes urtter contract in the name of the institution.
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Article XllI Effectiveness, modification and termination
13.1This contract shall enter into effect as of theed#tsigning, and shall terminate on the date wherborrower has performed all
obligations under this contract.

13.2Any change to this contract shall be made in wgitipon the agreement of the parties through caatgwit The modified terms and
conditions or agreement consist of a part of thistiact, and have the same legal effect with tbigract. Except for the modified part, the
remaining part of the contract remains effective the original terms and conditions remain effectiefore the modified part goes into effect.

13.3The modification and termination of this contraoed not affect the right of each concluding pastgémand compensation for
losses. The termination of this contract will natlermine the effect of the terms on dispute setgm

Article XIV Application of law and dispute settlement

The law of the People’s Republic of China shalllgpp the establishment, effectiveness, interpretatperformance and dispute
settlement of this contract. For all disagreemants disputes arisen from or related to this cohtRarty A and Party B shall try to settle
through consultation; if consultation fails, theotwarties shall settle them by the methods spekifi¢his contract.

Article XV Complete contract

Part | “Conditions of loan” and Party Il “Terms aodnditions of the fixed assets loan contract’hig tontract jointly compose a
complete loan contract, and the same term in tlepiavts shall have the same meaning. The borrowartent installment of loan is jointly
bound by the above-mentioned two parts.

Article XVI Notice

16.1All notices under this contract shall be issuedsiiting. Unless specified otherwise, the two partiesignate the domicile indicated
by the contract as the correspondence and corddotss. In the case of changes in one party’s sgorelence address or other contact
information, the party in change shall promptlyifyoits counterpart in writing.

16.2In the case of one partytrefusal to sign for receiving or other circumstsof failed delivery, the notify party can delive the forn
of notarization or public announcement.
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Article XVII Miscellaneous

17.1That the lender fails to exercise or partially exss or delays to exercise any right under thigract, does not constitute the
abandonment or modification of the right or othights, nor affect the lender’s further exercisehaf right or other rights.

17.2That any terms and conditions of the contractvslid or non-performable, does not affect the vglidr performability of other
terms and conditions, nor affect the effectiverdgbe contract as a whole.

17.3The lender shall, in accordance with the provisiohelated laws and legal regulations or the negyuents of financial regulatory
authorities, have the right to provide the inforimatrelated to this contract or other related infation of the borrower to the credit reference
system of the People’s Bank of China and otherichefdrmation database established in accordaritielaw, for inquiry and use by
institutions or individuals with appropriate qualdtions. For the purpose of establishing and penifng this contract, the lender shall also have
the right to inquire the borrower’s related infotina through the credit reference system of thepRee Bank of China and other credit
information database established in accordancelaith

"o "o

17.4The terms “related parties”, “related party relasibips”, “related party transactions”, “principatividual investors”, “key
management personnel” mentioned in this contrag llee same meaning with the same terms in thedéaiing Standards for Enterprises
No. 36—Disclosure of Related Parties” (C.K. [2006] No p8ymulgated by the Ministry of Finance and ensuingendments to the Standards.

17.5The vouchers and certificates related to the loadeuthis contract that are formulated and kepthleyiender according to its
business standards, consist of effective evidempedve the credit and debt relationship betweerlgéhder and the borrower, and are binding
on the borrower.

17.61n this contract, (1) any reference to this corttednall include the modification of or supplememthis contract; (2) the titles of the
terms and conditions are only for reference, winietther constitute any interpretation of this cantmor constitute any restrictions on the
content and its scope under those titles; (3)afdate of withdrawal, date of repayment is not @k working day, then it shall be extende
the next bank working day.
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The two parties confirm that: the lender and the borower have carried our sufficient consultation onall terms and conditions of
this contract. The lender has reminded the borroweto pay special attention to all terms and conditins in relation to the two parties’
rights and obligations to have full and accurate cmprehension, and has made interpretation and explation on related terms and
conditions upon the request of the borrower. The bwower has carefully read and fully understood allterms and conditions of this
contract (including Part | “Conditions of loan” and Party Il “Terms and conditions of the fixed assetdoan contract”), the lender and
the borrower have totally consistent interpretationon the terms and conditions of this contract, anthave no objection to the content of
the contract.

Lender (Seal): Industrial and Commercial Bank of China ltéd Shanghai Caohejing Development Zone Branch

Person in charge/authorized agent: Li Yuchang

Borrower (Seal):_ Hanting Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Managentem, Ltd.

Legal representative/authorized agent: He Hui
Date of signing the contract: March 2, 2012
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List of Subsidiaries

Directly-Owned Subsidiaries:

Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, Ltd. (PRC)
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Ctd, (PRC)
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd. (PRC)

HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., Lt€@RC)

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited (Hong Kong)

China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singajpo

Indirectly -Owned Subsidiaries:

1.
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100% Owned Subsidiaries (all PRC companies)

Shanghai HanTing Decoration and Engineering Cal,
Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

Shanghai Aiting Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Senting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Ningting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Guiting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yiting Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Songting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Xiting Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Jiating Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Hanhao Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yangting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Baoting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yaogu Shangwu Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Yanting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Qinting Hotel Management Co., |
Suzhou Lishan Senbao Hotel Management Co.,
Suzhou HanTing Hotel Management Co., |

Suzhou Lishan Yatai Hotel Management Co.,
Suzhou Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

Beijing Beixie Hongyun Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing Jiating Hotel Management Co., L

Beijing Dongting Hotel Management Co., L

Beijing Anting Hotel Management Co., Lt

Beijing Yueting Hotel Management Co., L
Hangzhou Senting Hotel Management Co.,
Hangzhou Yishitan Investment and Management Cd.,
Hangzhou Qiuting Hotel Management Co., L
Guangzhou Mengting Hotel Management Co.,
Guangzhou Meiting Hotel Management Co., |
Guangzhou Huiting Hotel Management Co., |
Tianjin Chengting Hotel Management Co., L
Tianjin Xingting Hotel Management Co., Lt

Tianjin HanTing Xingkong Hotel Management Co., L
Tianjin Yiting Hotel Management Co., Lt

Wuhu HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
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Shenyang Maruika Hotel Management Co., |
Shenyang Futing Hotel Management Co., |
Wuhan HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Wuhan Changting Hotel Management Co., |
Shenzhen HanTing Hotel Management Co.,
Shenzhen Shenting Hotel Management Co.,
Kunshan Lishan Hotel Management Co., |
Ningbo Jiangdong Meijia City Hotel Co., Lt

Yiwu HanTing Hotel Management Co., Lt
Nanning HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Nanjing Kexiang Hotel Co., Ltc

Shanghai Hegao Hotel Management Co.,
Xiamen Xiating Hotel Management Co., L

Zibo HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

Beijing HanTing Jiamei Hotel Management Co., L
Xi’an HanTing Fukai Hotel Management Co., L
Qingdao HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Lanting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai baiting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Jiangting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Zhenting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai HanTing Guancheng Hotel Management Cad.
Chengdu HanTing Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

Wuxi Yiju Hotel Management Co., Lt

Hangzhou HanTing Kuaijie Hotel Management Co., |
Beijing Yaoting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing Xiting Hotel Management Co., Lt
Shanghai HanTing Service Apartment Hotel Manager@ent Ltd.
Shanghai Meiting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing HanTing Ruijing Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Yuyi Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Liansheng Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Yate Zhongtan Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Haoting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Luting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing Zhongting Hotel Management Co., L
Taiyuan Xinting Hotel Management Co., L
Nanchang Yinting Hotel Management Co., L
Nantong Botong Hotel Management Co., L
Taiyuan Ruiting Yingze Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yate Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Rongting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Minting Hotel Management Co., L
HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Co., L

Hanting (Shanghai) Enterprise Management Co.,
Xiamen Tingju Hotel Co., Lt

Shanghai Pengting Hotel Management Co.,
Nanjing Futing Hotel Management Co., L
Suzhou Yongchangjiahe Hotel Management Co.,
Hangzhou Anting Hotel Management Co., L
Dalian Yuanyang Sikelai Hotel Co., Lt
Guangzhou Chengting Hotel Management Co.,



. Majority-Owned Subsidiaries (all PRC companies)

2.1 Beijing HanTing Shengshi Hotel Management Co.,

— 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.2 Beijing HanTing Dongfang Hotel Management Co., |

— 99% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.3 Hangzhou Hemei HanTing Hotel Management Co.,

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.4 Hangzhou Heju HanTing Hotel Management Co.,

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.5 Hangzhou Heting Hotel Management Co., |

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.6 Shanghai Kailin Hotel Management Co., L

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggeHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.7 Nantong HanTing Zhongcheng Hotel Co., L

— 95% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.8 Chengdu HanTing Yangchen Hotel Management Co.,

— 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.9 Shenyang HanTing Yonglun Hotel Management Co.,

— 60% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggeHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.10 Suzhou Kangjia Shangwu Hotel Management Co.,

— 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.11 Wuxi HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

— 55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.12 Taiyuan HanTing Jiangnan Hotel Management Co.,

— 55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.13 Shenzhen HanTing Shiji Hotel Management Co.,

— 90% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.14 Changsha Changting Hotel Management Co.,

— 51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.15 Guilin Lishan Huiming Hotel Management Co., L

— 79% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTinggeHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.16 Shanghai HuiGu GangWan Hotel Management Co.,

— 65% equity interests owned by HanTing Xingkongaisghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
.17 Shanghai Huiting Hotel Management Co., L

—55.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioigl Management Group, Ltd.
.18 Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |

— 95.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioigl Management Group, Ltd.
.19 Xi’an Shengting Hotel Management Co., |

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioiggl Management Group, Ltd.
.20 Chongqing Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioigl Management Group, Ltd.
.21 Xi'an Bangting Hotel Management Co., L

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioiggl Management Group, Ltd.
.22 Nanjing Leting Hotel Management Co., L

— 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTintgHdanagement Group, Ltd.
.23 Shanghai Suting Hotel Management Co., |

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioigl Management Group, Ltd.
.24 Xianyang Dingcheng Hanting Hotel Co., L

— 60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioiggl Management Group, Ltd.
.25 Urumgi Qiting Hotel management Co., L

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioiggl Management Group, Ltd.
.26 Urumgi Luting Hotel management Co., L

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanHioigl Management Group, Ltd.
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Exhibit 12.1

Executive Officers’ Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

[, Qi Ji, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-F of China Lodging Group, Limitec

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the company as of, andtfierperiods presented in this rep:

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatetsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsinefport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the com’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during the period cover
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, thengpany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) anblve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acalihmittee of the company’s board of directors (@rspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the com[’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 12, 2012

By: /s/QiJi
Name: Qi Ji
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 12.2

Executive Officers’ Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley-Act

[, Min (Jenny) Zhang, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-F of China Lodging Group, Limitec

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operat and cash flows of the company as of, andtfierperiods presented in this rep:

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hay

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatetsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed unc
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsinefport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgulures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the com’s internal control over financial reporting thatomed during the period cover
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, thengpany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) anblve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acalihmittee of the company’s board of directors (@rspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the com[’'s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; ani

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 12, 2012

By: /s/ Min (Jenny) Zhang
Name: Min (Jenny) Zhang
Title: Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 13.1
906 Certification

April 12, 201:

The certification set forth below is being subndtte the Securities and Exchange Commission in ection with the Annual
Report on Form 20-F for the year ended Decembe2@11 (the “Report”) of China Lodging Group, Lindté¢he “Company”) for the purpose

of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14¢bXhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exg®Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter
63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Qi Ji, the Chief Executive Officer of the Compaand Min (Jenny) Zhang, the Chief Financial Offioéthe Company, each
certifies that, to the best of his or her knowledge

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act;
2. the information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of 1
Company.

/sl Qi Ji
Name: Qi Ji
Title:  Chief Executive Office

/s/ Min (Jenny) Zhan
Name: Min (Jenny) Zhanc
Title:  Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inifteggion Statement No. 333-166179 on Form S-8uwfreports dated April 12, 2012,
relating to the financial statements and finansiatement schedules of China Lodging Group, Limited! the effectiveness of China Lodging
Group, Limited’s internal control over financialp@rting, appearing in this Annual Report on FormR26f China Lodging Group, Limited for
the year ended December 31, 2011.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd.
Shanghai, China
April 12, 2012



